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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the
potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on
GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in
reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Famous Tech International Holdings Limited (the “Company’) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made
all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief: (1) the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive; (2) there are no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement in this report misleading, and (3) all opinions expressed in this report have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and
are founded on bases and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Famous
Tech International Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, referred to as the “Group”), | would like to present the annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year”)
together with its strategies and prospects.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group recorded a profit of approximately HK$7,198,000 for the Year
(2023: loss of approximately HK$21,335,000).

The Group’s consolidated profit attributable to the owners of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$2,151,000 for the Year (2023: loss of
approximately HK$23,415,000).

FINAL DIVIDEND AND SPECIAL DIVIDEND

In appreciation of the continuous support and trust of the Company’s
shareholders (“Shareholders”), the Directors have recommended the cash
payment of a final dividend of HK$0.002 per share and a special dividend of
HK$0.028 per share, totalling HK$0.030 per share, for the Year (2023: Nil),
subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The Group is principally engaged in the Software Business, the Corporate
Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business, the B2C Online
Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business, and the Securities
Investment Business (all as defined below). The global macro-economic
environment with growing uncertainties has brought volatility to global
economy and business activities, which has adversely impacted on the
business operations of the Group.

During the Year, the Software Business remained as one of the main revenue
streams and pillar businesses of the Group. The Group has constantly
reviewed and upgraded various software products during the Year in order to
keep up with the fast-changing information technology (“I.T.”) and to provide
a seamless experience to the software product users. During the Year,
revenue generated from the Software Business amounted to approximately
HK$83,019,000, representing approximately 79.6% of the Group’s total
revenue for the Year.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFEHS

The Group optimises its business strategies through its operation of the
Corporate Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business, the
B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business, and the
Securities Investment Business. We continued to diversify our business
operations with a view to developing a strong and resilient operation model
to our shareholders. During the Year, the revenue from the Corporate
Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business accounted for
approximately 20.4% of the Group's total revenue.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash and cash equivalents and
pledged bank deposits of approximately HK$82,349,000 and net current
assets of approximately HK$83,110,000. Based on the solid financial
position, the Group will remain cautious in looking for and evaluating business
opportunities with growth potential. It will continue to strategically invest its
capital with the aim of generating long-term and stable revenue and achieving
further business diversification, thereby delivering the best returns to the
Shareholders.

PROSPECTS

Looking forward, despite the complicated, fast-changing and challenging
market environment, the Group is cautiously optimistic about the future market
conditions. In the coming year, the Group will continue to endeavour at its
best to capture stable business growth and return, and to ultimately bring
sustainable returns to the Shareholders. The Group will continue to effectively
utilise its resources to expand its core businesses and to keep exploring new
business opportunities with good potential. At the same time, the Group will
strive to maintain an appropriate balance between risk and return.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
my gratitude to all our business partners, the Shareholders and customers for
their continuing trust and support in the past year. | would also like to extend
my sincere gratitude to all staff of the Group and members of the Board for
their dedication and devotion during 2024.

Wong Jing Shong
Chairman and Executive Director

21 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW
Software Business

During the Year, the business of research, development and distribution of
personal computer (“PC”) performance software, anti-virus software, mobile
phone applications and toolbar advertisements (“Software Business”) of
the Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$83,019,000 (2023:
approximately HK$81,847,000), representing an increase of approximately
1.4% as compared to that of 2023. The segment profit of the Software
Business amounted to approximately HK$19,785,000 (2023: loss of
approximately HK$8,382,000). Such results were primarily attributable to the
absence of the impairment loss on goodwill in relation to the cash-generating
unit (“CGU”) of the Software Business (‘Impairment Loss on Goodwill”)
(2023: approximately HK$18,000,000) and impairment loss on intangible
assets (2023: approximately HK$6,638,000). As at 31 December 2024,
with reference to the assessment by an independent professional valuer, the
recoverable amount of the CGU of Boom Max International Limited and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Boom Max Group”) is valued at approximately
HK$169,944,000. As the recoverable amount of the CGU of the Boom Max
Group exceeded its carrying value by approximately HK$6,173,000, no
impairment was required for the Year.

During the Year, the Group has continued to strengthen its foothold in the
software industry through the Boom Max Group, the operating unit of the
Group carrying on the Software Business, which is one of the main revenue
streams of the Group. The Boom Max Group continues to offer a wide variety
of software products including computer optimisation, malware prevention,
gaming performance boosting, driver update, data and files protection
software, with an aim to help our computer software users to combat
cybersecurity threats and to reach the maximum computer optimisation.

We insist on the innovation capabilities and customer satisfaction of the Boom
Max Group. Over the years, we have been investing in the research and
development (“R&D”) team which comprises experts dedicating their focus to
network security, building software products and marketing channels. During
the Year, the R&D team has revamped our products in order to accommodate
to the latest trend of the I.T. industry and provide the best seamless experience
to our software users against computer malwares, network security loophole,
and computer optimisation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BRI Rk a1

During the fourth quarter of 2024, the Boom Max Group launched new
updates on our products, such as the flagship product Advanced SystemCare
18 and the anti-hacker software, namely IObit Malware Fighter 12. Over the
Year, the Boom Max Group upgraded new versions of other software products
as well, including I0Obit Uninstaller, a product featuring function to uninstall
unwanted software or apps and provide our software customers with clean,
light and safe personal computer experience; and I0bit Software Updater, a
product designed to combat possible security loopholes while maximising
computer optimisation and enhance safe and reliable software installation
experience to our software users. New updates on Smart Defrag and 10bit
Uninstaller further boost faster and cleaner computer experience for our
software users. In the coming year, we will continue our devotion in developing
new upgrades to our software products, with a view to keeping abreast with
the latest technology trend and enhance user experience.

During the Year, the Boom Max Group continued to build and reinforce
its sales and distribution channels, including the implementation of
digital marketing campaigns in software products promotion. Apart from
strengthening its customer base in traditional markets, the Group has
continued to explore business opportunities and expand distribution channels
in the emerging markets such as countries in the Asia-Pacific region. In
addition, our software products are available at www.iobit.com, or other
software downloading directory websites and affiliated websites. New versions
of our software products are available for downloading on the website in
different languages, such as English, Spanish, French, Chinese and Dutch. As
at 31 December 2024, according to the internal sales data of the Boom Max
Group, its products had more than 36 million (2023: more than 42 million) new
users in total, including new non-paying and active paying users (i.e. users
who had subscribed our products at least once during the Year).

The changes in customer behaviours of computer users, fierce competition in
the I.T. industry, inflation concerns, geopolitical pressure and Russia-Ukraine
war may pose uncertainties to the overall economic activities and this segment
in the coming year. It is hard to quantify the relevant impacts in this segment.
The Board will continue to closely monitor the performance of this segment.
Looking ahead, the Boom Max Group will continue to focus on exploring new
technological applications in realm and enhancing its software products. It will
also strengthen and expand its distribution and sales channels by cooperating
closely with local dealers and affiliates.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Corporate Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services
Business

During the Year, the Group provided corporate management solutions, I.T.
contract services, network infrastructure solutions, network professional
services and I.T. project implementation services (“‘Corporate Management
Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business”) to corporate clients mainly
in Hong Kong, through its indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, Wafer Systems
(Hong Kong) Limited (“Wafer HK”).

During the Year, revenue from this business segment was approximately
HK$21,319,000 (2023: approximately HK$10,391,000), representing an
increase of approximately 105.2% as compared with that of 2023. This
business segment recorded a profit of approximately HK$353,000 for the Year
(2023: approximately HK$483,000). Such a decrease in profit was primarily
attributable to the keen competition in the I.T. industry.

Due to the severe competition in the L.T. industry in Hong Kong and the
growing macro-economic uncertainties, the market condition of this business
segment is expected to remain challenging in the coming years. The
Group will endeavour to keep enhancing its competitiveness, boosting its
technological capability, maintaining its service quality standards, and actively
bidding for government and corporate contract projects, so as to overcome
the challenges in the industry and improve the financial performance of
this segment. In this connection, more resources might be allocated to this
business segment in the coming years.

B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business

During the Year, no revenue was derived from the business-to-customer
online sales platform and business-to-business product trading business
(“B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business”) (2023:
approximately HK$122,000). The segment loss of this business for the Year
was approximately HK$988,000 (2023: approximately HK$978,000).

Certain adjustments caused by reverse of revenue of approximately
HK$15,706,000 which was originally recorded in this business segment were
made to the unaudited interim results of the Group for the six months ended
30 June 2024 disclosed in the 2024 interim results announcement and the
2024 interim report of the Company, which nevertheless did not have any
material impact on the financial position of the Group for the six months ended
30 June 2024. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 20
September 2024 and the sub-section headed “Risk Management and Internal
Control” in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” in this report
for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BRI Rk a1

The Group is committed to enhancing the lifestyle of its customers through
developing online and offline sales channels to offer quality products to
customers around the world.

Headwinds of the volatile market environment have been posing challenges
to this business segment. Looking ahead, the Board will continue to carefully
review and pay close attention to the performance of this business segment
in exercising prudent cost control and credit risks control and maintaining an
appropriate balance of risks and opportunities.

Securities Investment Business

During the Year, the Group recorded a segment profit for the securities
investment business (“Securities Investment Business”) of approximately
HK$5,193,000 (2023: loss of approximately HK$944,000). The segment
profit was primarily attributable to the realised and unrealised gain on financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL Financial Assets”) of
approximately HK$5,045,000 for the Year (2023: realised and unrealised loss
of approximately HK$1,109,000).

Global geopolitical tensions, change of governments’ policies, and the growing
uncertainty of social and economic conditions had brought instabilities to
the Hong Kong financial market over the Year. Looking forward, the change
of governments’ policies, market liquidity and the inflation expectation
will continue to have impacts on the Hong Kong financial market and
its sentiment. The Group will continue to explore potential investment
opportunities and closely monitor the Hong Kong securities market as well as
the performance of the Securities Investment Business.

As at 31 December 2024, fair value of the FVTPL Financial Assets and
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVTOCI
Financial Assets”) of the Group were approximately HK$27,449,000 (31
December 2023: approximately HK$23,125,000) and approximately
HK$1,067,000 (31 December 2023: approximately HK$1,013,000)
respectively, consisting of eleven (2023: eight) investment items, nine of which
are shares listed on the Stock Exchange, the remaining are shares of two
unlisted companies. As at 31 December 2024, the fair value of each of the
FVTPL Financial Assets and the FVTOCI Financial Assets contributed less than
5% of the Group’s total assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

During the Year, revenue of the Group was approximately HK$104,338,000,
representing an increase of approximately 13.0% as compared to the revenue
of approximately HK$92,360,000 for 2023. The revenue of the Group for
the Year was contributed by the revenue of (i) the Software Business of
approximately HK$83,019,000 and (i) the Corporate Management Solutions
and I.T. Contract Services Business of approximately HK$21,319,000.

Gross Profit

Gross profit of the Group for the Year increased by approximately 4.8%
to approximately HK$71,245,000 for the Year from approximately
HK$67,992,000 for 2023.

Finance Costs

The finance costs of the Group were approximately HK$45,000 for the
Year, representing a decrease of approximately 55% from approximately
HK$100,000 for 2023.

Profit for the Year

The Group recorded a net profit of approximately HK$7,198,000 for the Year
(2023: net loss of approximately HK$21,335,000). The net profit for the Year
was mainly the combined effects of (i) segment profit of the Software Business
of approximately HK$19,785,000 (2023: loss of approximately HK$8,382,000);
(i) segment profit of the Securities Investment Business of approximately
HK$5,193,000 (2023: loss of approximately HK$944,000) which was primarily
attributable to the realised and unrealised gain on FVTPL Financial Assets of
approximately HK$5,045,000 (2023: realised and unrealised loss on FVTPL
Financial Assets of approximately HK$1,109,000); (i) segment profit of the
Corporate Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business of
approximately HK$353,000 (2023: approximately HK$483,000); (iv) segment
loss of the B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business
of approximately HK$988,000 (2023: approximately HK$978,000); (v) other
corporate expenses of approximately HK$14,799,000 (2023: approximately
HK$12,176,000), and offset by the various expenses incurred by the Group
during the Year.

The net profit attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
HK$2,151,000 for the Year as compared with the net loss attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately HK$23,415,000 for 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash and cash equivalents and
pledged bank deposit of approximately HK$82,349,000 (31 December 2023:
approximately HK$83,976,000), which were principally denominated in United
States dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi (2023: United States dollars,
Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi). During the Year, the Group generally
financed its operations with internal resources and there was no significant
change in its capital structure.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any loan from financial
institution (31 December 2023: HK$NIl).

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had total assets amounting to
approximately HK$278,105,000 (31 December 2023: approximately
HK$272,946,000) and total liabilities of approximately HK$56,879,000 (31
December 2023: approximately HK$53,672,000). The gearing ratio of the
Group, calculated as total liabilities over total assets, was approximately 20.5%
as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: approximately 19.7%).

Final Dividend and Special Dividend

In appreciation of the continuous support and trust of the Shareholders,
the Directors have recommended the cash payment of a final dividend of
HK$0.002 per share and a special dividend of HK$0.028 per share, totalling
HK$0.030 per share, for the Year (2023: Nil), subject to the approval of the
Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Charges on the Group’s Assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group pledged bank deposits of approximately
US$83,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$641,000) (31 December 2023:
approximately US$82,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$634,000)) for
securing banking facilities of HK$500,000 (31 December 2023: HK$500,000)
granted to the Group. The pledged bank deposits were denominated in United
States dollars with a term of six months at fixed interest rate of 1.05% per
annum.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had undrawn banking facilities of
approximately HK$307,000 (31 December 2023: approximately HK$385,000).

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the Group did not hold any
margin trading account.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RISK FACTORS
Foreign Exchange Exposure

During the Year, business activities of the Group were mainly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars and Renminbi. The United States
dollar is the main currency for transactions made by the Group. Since the
Hong Kong dollar remains pegged to the United States dollar within a defined
range, the Group is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange risk
against the United States dollar. The Group has not entered into any foreign
exchange contract as hedging measures. The Directors did not consider
the Group as being exposed to any significant foreign currency exchange
risk. Notwithstanding the above, the Group continues to manage its foreign
currency risk against other currencies by closely monitoring movement of
exchange rates and may use hedging derivatives, such as foreign currency
forward contracts, as and when appropriate.

Financial Risk

The total assets of the Group of approximately HK$278,105,000 as at
31 December 2024 mainly included intangible assets of approximately
HK$112,862,000, goodwill of approximately HK$42,525,000, the FVTPL
Financial Assets of approximately HK$27,449,000 and the FVTOCI Financial
Assets of approximately HK$1,067,000. The Group’s FVTOCI Financial Assets
and FVTPL Financial Assets are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Therefore, the Group is exposed to equity security price risk
due to fluctuation of the fair value of the FVTOCI Financial Assets and the
FVTPL Financial Assets. The Directors regularly review exposure of the Group’s
FVTOCI Financial Assets and FVTPL Financial Assets to equity security price
risk. Moreover, the Directors closely monitor the financial performance and
operation of cash generating units containing goodwill and intangible assets,
and conduct impairment review on goodwill and intangible assets annually
and more frequently should there be any unforeseeable events or changes in
circumstances pointing to potential impairment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EBE R 2

Operation Risk

The Group is exposed to the corresponding operation risks which each of its
business divisions faces. To manage those risks, the management of each
business division is responsible for monitoring the operation of their respective
divisions and assessing related operation risks. They are responsible for
implementing the Group’s risk management policies and procedures and shall
report any irregularities in connection with operation of projects to the Directors
and seek directions.

Credit Risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk mainly attributable to its trade and other
receivables. Please refer to note 6(c) to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this report for details of the credit risk of the Group for the
Year. The trade and other receivables of the Group were approximately
HK$11,484,000 as at 31 December 2024. During the Year, the receivables
collection may be affected by the overall market environment caused by
the growing macro-economic uncertainties and geopolitical instability. To
minimise credit risk, the Directors continue to closely monitor the overall level
of credit exposure, whereas the management is responsible for determining
credit approvals and monitoring the implementation of collection procedure
to ensure follow-up actions are taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of individual trade debt at the end
of each reporting period to ensure adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

The Board proposed to change the Company’s English name from “GET
Holdings Limited” to “Famous Tech International Holdings Limited” and to
register “LRIBEIPRIZRAERAE]" as the Company’s secondary name in
Chinese (“Change of Company Name”), and the relevant resolution was
passed by the Shareholders at the special general meeting of the Company on
25 June 2024. The Change of Company Name became effective on 27 June
2024. The Chinese name “&5 %/ [R/AE]” which was previously adopted
for identification purpose has ceased to be used as the Chinese name of
the Company. Details of the Change of Company Name are disclosed in the
announcements of the Company dated 30 May 2024 and 29 July 2024 and
the circular of the Company dated 31 May 2024.

The Change of Company Name signifies more clearly the Group’s focus
on providing goods and services and operating its businesses utilizing
its expertise and experience in technology, as well as the commitment to
enhancing the Group’s competitiveness, developing the Group for long-term
and sustainable success and maximising value for the Shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Board considers that the new name of the Company will enhance the
brand image and better reflect the Group’s strategy and goals to meet the
evolving needs of its customers in the highly competitive technology industry.
The Board believes that the Change of Company Name provides the Group
with a prominent corporate identity which is in the best interest of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

LITIGATIONS
Perfect Growth Litigation

On 3 July 2018, Perfect Growth Limited (“Perfect Growth”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, received an amended writ of summons
(“Amended Writ”) with an amended statement of claim (“Amended Statement
of Claim”) issued in the Court of First Instance of the High Court of Hong
Kong by Convoy Global Holdings Limited (‘Convoy Global”) (“1st Plaintiff”),
Convoy Collateral Limited (“2nd Plaintiff”) and CSL Securities Limited (“3rd
Plaintiff”) (1st Plaintiff, 2nd Plaintiff and 3rd Plaintiff collectively referred to as
the “Plaintiffs”) against, among other defendants, Perfect Growth as the 34th
defendant (“Perfect Growth Litigation”). Perfect Growth was joined as one of
the defendants by way of the Amended Writ.

Pursuant to the Amended Statement of Claim attached to the Amended
Writ, Perfect Growth was named as one of the Alleged Independent Placees
(being placees of the placing of shares of the 1st Plaintiff carried out in around
October 2015 (“October 2015 Placing”)) and was allotted with some shares of
the 1st Plaintiff pursuant to the October 2015 Placing.

In the Perfect Growth Litigation, the reliefs claimed by the Plaintiffs against
Perfect Growth are as follows:

0] the 1st Plaintiff seeks a declaration and an order as against, among
others, Perfect Growth, that the allotment of the 1st Plaintiff's shares to,
among others, Perfect Growth pursuant to the October 2015 Placing is
null and void, or has been rescinded and be set aside;

(ii) the 1st Plaintiff seeks an account of profits and an order for payment
of any sums found to be due, equitable compensation to be assessed
and/or damages to be assessed for dishonest assistance, unlawful
means conspiracy and/or lawful means conspiracy as against, among
others, Perfect Growth, in relation to, among other matters, the October
2015 Placing and the allotment of the 1st Plaintiff's shares pursuant to
the same; and

(i) the Plaintiffs seek as against, among others, Perfect Growth (a) general
or special damages; (b) interests; (c) costs; (d) further and/or other
reliefs.

On 22 November 2018, Perfect Growth filed its defence to the Amended
Statement of Claim.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BRI Rk a1

On 3 December 2019, the Plaintiffs filed its reply to Perfect Growth’s defence.
The Plaintiffs have not, however, filed its reply to each of the other defendants’
defence, and as such the pleadings of the Perfect Growth Litigation have not
been closed yet.

Pursuant to a consent order dated 6 November 2024, the Plaintiffs’ claims
against Perfect Growth in the Perfect Growth Litigation had been wholly
discontinued with no order as to costs of the action between the Plaintiffs and
Perfect Growth.

Details of the Perfect Growth Litigation are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 5 July 2018.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopts a conservative treasury policy. Treasury activities are
centralised and the Group normally invests in portfolios comprising diverse
products. It has guidelines in place to monitor and control investment risk
exposure and to manage capital. The Board closely reviews the Group’s
liquidity position to ensure the Group has a liquidity structure, with assets,
liabilities and other commitments, adequate for meeting its funding
requirements at all times.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MATERIAL TRANSACTION
The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal during the Year.
EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 23 employees (31 December
2023: 22 employees). During the Year, the total staff costs of the Group
(including Directors’ emoluments and provident funds) were approximately
HK$14,728,000 (2023: approximately HK$12,056,000). The Group’s
remuneration policy emphasises equality, motivation and performance of
the employees, with a principle to strengthen its competitiveness in the
market and comply with statutory requirements of Hong Kong. Remuneration
packages are generally reviewed annually. Apart from salary payments, other
staff benefits include provident fund contributions, medical insurance coverage
and discretionary performance-related bonuses. The Group also has a share
option scheme in place to reward and motivate employees. Details of the
share option scheme of the Company are set out in the section headed “Share
Option Schemes” in this report.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities (31 December 2023: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the capital commitments contracted but not
provided for the development costs of intangible assets were nil (31 December
2023: approximately HK$41,583,000). Please refer to note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements contained in this report for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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OUTLOOK

Looking ahead to 2025, when the Software Business remains as the Group’s
main source of income, the Group will continue to bolster up its capability in
technology, as well as optimise the business strategies, in order to ensure a
healthy momentum and sustainable growth of our businesses. Supported by
the professional research and development team of the Group, the Group will
continue to review and upgrade its software products with features to combat
computer virus, cyber attacks and spyware for its customers all over the
world. In addition, the Group will continue to expand the sales channels and
marketing footprint of its software products to the emerging markets.

In the past years, economic outlook was clouded by the geopolitical tensions
around the globe and the tightening of global financial conditions adding
uncertainty to both consumer confidence and market sentiment. These global
issues, together with the increasingly fierce competition in the industry, may
create a relatively unstable operating environment to our businesses in the
coming future.

Mapping out sustainable and resilient strategy of the Group, the Group will
continue to maximise its strengths, enhance its professionalism, and adhere
to its prudent approach in achieving sustainable financial performance. In
the coming year, the Group will continue to endeavour to ensure a healthy
momentum of its businesses and to withstand market risks and fluctuations
ahead. The Group will also carefully monitor the overall market and maintain an
appropriate balance of risks and opportunities in order to achieve sustainable
growth and returns to the Shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board would like to present this Corporate Governance Report for the
Year.

The Company is committed to maintaining corporate governance in high
standard with quality procedures. The Company has put in place governance
practices with emphasis on the integrity to the Shareholders and quality of
disclosure, transparency and accountability to the Shareholders for the sake
of maximising returns to the Shareholders. The Directors acknowledge in the
Corporate Governance Report about their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements.

Throughout the Year, the Board has reviewed the Group’s corporate
governance practices and is satisfied that the Company has complied with the
Code Provisions of the then prevailing Corporate Governance Code set out in
Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules (the “CG Code”) for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprised five members, two executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Jing Shong (Chairman of the Board) and Mr. Lau
Siu Cheong (chief executive officer of the Company (“Chief Executive Officer”))
and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Yung, Mr.
Cheng Hong Kei and Ms. Wong Chi Yan. Independent non-executive Directors
are invited to serve on the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”) of the Board.

The composition of the Board reflects the balance of skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the Group’s business and for the exercise
of independent decisions. The Company has three independent non-executive
Directors representing more than half of the Board. They are professionals in
different areas, who provide independent opinions based on their expertise.

Mr. Wong Jing Shong (“Mr. Wong”), the Chairman of the Board and an
executive Director, is a director of CONCORD-LINKED LIMITED (328 %&
FR/AE]) (“CONCORD”) and a number of its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“CONCORD Group”). As at 31 December 2024, he was interested in 100%
interests in CONCORD. In addition, as at 31 December 2024, Mr. Wong was
also one of the ultimate beneficial owners of a group of companies (“EPRO
Software Group”).

Mr. Lau Siu Cheong (“Mr. Lau”), an executive Director, is a director and sole
shareholder of AJI Assets Management Limited.

Further details in relation to the interests of Mr. Wong and Mr. Lau in the
said companies are disclosed in the section headed “Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management” and in the sub-section headed
“Competing Interest” in the section headed “Report of the Directors” in this
report.
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As at the date of this report, there is no relationship among members of
the Board (including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship). The biographies of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this report.

BOARD PRACTICES AND CONDUCT OF MEETINGS

Formal notice of at least 14 days will be given in respect of a regular
meeting. For ad hoc Board meeting, reasonable notice will be given. The
Directors participated, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication, in the Board meetings.

The Directors meet regularly at least 4 times a year and participate in person
or through other means of communication. All notices of Board meetings were
given to all Directors, who were given an opportunity to include matters in the
agenda for discussion. All Directors are kept informed on a timely basis of
major changes that may affect the Group’s businesses, including relevant rules
and regulations. The Directors can also seek independent professional advice
in performing their duties at the Company’s expense, if necessary. Minutes of
each Board meeting are kept by the company secretary of the Company (the
“Company Secretary”) and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
request by any Director.

Directors’ insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of the legal
action against the Directors.

Responsibilities, accountabilities and contributions of the Board
and management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors should make
decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters relating to policy,
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant operational matters
of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the
Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of the
Company are delegated to the management.
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Attendance of Directors at Meetings

During the Year, 11 Board meetings had been held for reviewing financial and
business performance, considering and approving the overall strategies and
policies of the Company and other business matters. The attendance record
of each Director at the Board and Board Committee meetings and the general
meeting of the Company held during the Year is set out in the table below:

EXERRS
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Attendance/Number of Meetings

HEER EERY
Remuneration Audit  Nomination General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
EEg HMZEEE® BREEE RLZEE RRAE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Wong Jing Shong RBFEEE 8/11 N/ATIE N/ATIE N/ATIEF 2/2
Mr. Lau Siu Cheong IKERE 11/11 N/ARE A N/AT 18 N/AT B 2/2
Independent Non-executive Directors BIERITES
Mr. Chan Yung BB LE 11/11 3/3 8/8 3/3 2/2
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei B SE 11/11 3/3 8/8 3/3 2/2
Ms. Wong Chi Yan BERZT 11/11 3/3 8/8 3/3 2/2

In addition, the Chairman of the Board has annually held the meeting with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other Directors
during the Year.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

During the Year, the positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer were
separately held. The Chairman provides leadership to the Board and is
responsible for the effective functioning and leadership of the Board whereas
the Chief Executive Officer focuses on the Group’s business development and
daily management and operations generally.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

In order to ensure that independent views and input of the independent
non-executive Directors are made available to the Board, the Nomination
Committee and the Board are committed to assessing the Directors’
independence annually with regards to all relevant factors related to the
independent non-executive Directors. More details are set out in sub-section
headed “Independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors” in the
section headed “Report of the Directors” in this report.

During the Year, the Board complied at all times with the requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules that at least three independent non-executive Directors sit
in the Board (more than one-third of the Board members) and at least one
of them has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of
the existing independent non-executive Directors in respect of his/her
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set out
in the GEM Listing Rules. As at the date of this report, the Company in
its best knowledge considers all independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

The Company has established formal, considered and transparent procedures
for the appointment of new Directors.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are laid down in the Company’s Bye-laws. According to the
Company’s Bye-laws, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy on or as an addition to the Board shall be subject to re-election by the
Shareholders after appointment. Other relevant provision in the Bye-law states
that one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall
retire from office by rotation at every annual general meeting. A retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include
(so far as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors to retire by rotation)
any Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election. Any
further Directors so to retire shall be those of the other Directors subject to
retirement by rotation who have been longest in office since their last re-
election or appointment. All Directors should retire by rotation at least once
every three years.
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Under the CG Code, every Director, including those appointed for a specific
term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years. The independent non-executive Directors were appointed for a specific
term: Ms. Wong Chi Yan was appointed for a term of 3 years commencing
on 19 April 2022 whereas, Mr. Chan Yung and Mr. Cheng Hong Kei were
appointed for a term of 3 years both commencing on 24 November 2023. All
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

The Company’s circular, to be sent to the Shareholders, contains detailed
information of the Directors who will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company as required by the GEM
Listing Rules.

Continuous professional development of Directors

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company. Newly appointed
Directors will receive a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on
appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Company and full awareness of their responsibilities and
obligations under the GEM Listing Rules, relevant statutory requirements and
the Company’s business and governance policies.

Besides, the Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development trainings to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. Reading materials on relevant topics will be issued to the Directors
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at the Company’s expenses.

According to the records maintained by the Company, the current and former
Directors received the following training with an emphasis on the roles,
functions and duties of a Director of a listed company in compliance with the
CG Code on continuous professional development during the Year.
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EEERHS

Attending or participating in

seminars/workshops,

and/or reading materials relevant

to roles, functions, and duties

Directors of a director of a listed company
HEXNSHEEMLELTATESAR

BAERBENHAAE TSR

Executive Directors BiTES
Mr. Wong Jing Shong BIEERE 4
Mr. Lau Siu Cheong 2PKERE v

Independent Non-executive Directors BIJEBMITES

Mr. Chan Yung BB T4 v
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei ERER IS v
Ms. Wong Chi Yan BERZ L v
Company Secretary REME

The Company Secretary is Mr. Lau Siu Cheong. The Company Secretary ABMEAZKELE - RINERFEESTHE
assists the Board by ensuring good information flow within the Board so that B X ARG MERESETHEKEF RMZIBES
Board policy and procedures are followed. He has taken no less than 15 hours & o IR A FEE BEEZ A/ 71 5B/ BB R 212511
of relevant professional trainings to update his skills and knowledge during the S 3 EL 55 AE R A3

Year.
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL EEMMBBRRAKENETE
STATEMENTS

The following statements, which set out the responsibility of Directors in U TN BRI EEMPHFRERBRKENSE > EER
relation to the financial statements, should be read in conjunction with, but  $E63E67EFrEE I IZ MRS — 8 BEEAFTE
distinguished from, the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 63 to 67 which  Bl)) » B A& B Z H AR IR SR ERRS(E
acknowledges the reporting responsibility of the Group’s auditor.
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Annual report and accounts

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the annual
report and financial statements of the Company for the Year to ensure that
these financial statements give a true and fair presentation in accordance with
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“Companies
Ordinance”) and the applicable accounting standards. The Directors are
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

Accounting policies

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial statements, the Group
applies appropriate accounting policies that are consistently adopted
and makes judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent in
accordance with the applicable accounting standards.

Accounting records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group keeps accounting
records which disclose the financial positions of the Group upon which
financial statements of the Group could be prepared in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policies.

Safeguarding assets

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps to
safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other
irregularities within the Group.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Year, the total fee paid/payable to the Company’s auditor, RSM
Hong Kong, and its affiliate firm in respect of audit and non-audit services are
set out below:
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Audit services ZE RS 1,100
Non-audit services (Note) IEZBARTS (M%) 160
Total 485t 1,260

Note: The non-audit services included but were not limited to agreed-upon procedures
performed on the Group’s interim results.

MEE : FBRRBEEETRNAEEENPREEN TS
EIRFF °

Famous Tech International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

24



25

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXERERS

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Goals and Objectives

The Board is responsible for formulating the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness at least annually
and on an ongoing basis. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Main features of the risk management and internal control
systems

The Group’s risk governance structure and the main responsibilities of each
level of the structure are summarised below:

Board

o evaluates and determines the nature and extent of the risks it is willing
to take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and ensures the
implementation of an effective risk management and internal control

systems; and

. oversees the management in the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

Management

° designs, implements and monitors the risk management and internal
control systems;

o identifies and assesses the risks which threaten the achievement of the
strategic objectives;

° reviews the risk areas and risk level;
o advises on matters raised by employees and the Company;
o coordinates and promotes risk management by ensuring that risk

and activities processes are operated efficiently and effectively and in
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules; and

o reports periodically to the Board.
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Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage Significant Risks
The Group’s risk assessment processes are summarised as follows:
Risk Identification

o Identifies the risks through discussion with the management and
directors of subsidiaries of the Company.

Risk Assessment

o Determines the existing controls and analyses risks in terms of
consequence and likelihood in the context of those controls. The
analysis considers the range of potential consequences and how likely
those consequences are to occur. Consequences and likelihood are
combined to produce an estimated level of risk.

Risk Response

o Categorises the risks into low risk, medium risk and high risk;

o Determines the strategy to handle the risk; and

o Develops the risk register and internal control audit plan and determines

the frequency of review and control testing on key controls.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

o on-going communication of monitoring results to the Board which
enables it to assess control of the Group and the effectiveness of risk

management during the Year, including:

o risk questionnaires completed by the management, risk register
and internal control audit plan; and

o fact finding report with recommendations on the review and
testing of internal controls on certain operating cycles and areas.
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Internal Audit Function

The Group’s internal audit function is performed by the management of the
Company, including analysing and appraising the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems. For the
enhancement of the quality of the internal audit, the Company has engaged an
external consultant to execute a significant scope of internal audit function to:

o perform the risk assessment based on management evaluation on
identified area and report the findings and recommendations to the
management;

o conduct various agreed-upon-procedures reviews on material controls

and perform testing of internal controls on certain operating cycles and
areas in accordance with the Company’s internal control audit plan; and

. report to the Audit Committee for findings identified during the review
and propose recommendation for follow-up action.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 20 September
2024, certain adjustments were made to the unaudited interim results of the
Group for the six months ended 30 June 2024 disclosed in the 2024 interim
results announcement and the 2024 interim report of the Company, which
nevertheless did not have any material impact on the financial position of the
Group for the six months ended 30 June 2024.

Such adjustments were caused by reverse of revenue of approximately
HK$15,706,000 which was originally recorded in the B2C Online Sales
Platform and B2B Product Trading Business segment (“‘Relevant Business”).
The revenue related to a sale of goods by GET Development Limited
(“GDL"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, to an independent
third-party customer that actually failed to proceed with the purchase order
and the transaction was thus not completed during the six months ended
30 June 2024, and revenue thereof should not have been recognised. All
relevant transactions including the purchase order placed by GDL with the
manufacturer were cancelled with all purchase costs refunded.
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After application of the relevant adjustments, the Group recorded a decrease
in revenue of approximately HK$15,706,000, a decrease in cost of sales of
approximately HK$14,930,000, a decrease in profit for the six months ended
30 June 2024 of approximately HK$776,000 and a decrease in net assets
of approximately HK$776,000, as compared to the original unaudited interim
results of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2024 disclosed in the
2024 interim results announcement and the 2024 interim report of the Company.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 20 September
2024 for details of updated figures of all affected items and the full version of
the revised 2024 interim results announcement and the revised 2024 interim
report of the Company.

In view of such incident, the Group has engaged an independent internal
control consultant (“IC Consultant”) to provide consulting services and
recommendations on the internal control system of GDL, with a view to
improving GDLs internal control system on the Relevant Business.

Based on the findings of the IC Consultant, the major cause of the incident
was due to the understaffing of the Relevant Business after the restart
following the COVID-19 pandemic.

Based on the recommendations of the IC Consultant, the Group has been
recommended to, among other measures:

1. recruit sufficient staff with experience in the Relevant Business to carry
out its daily operations;

2. provide training to new members of the staff to familiarise them with
GDLs control procedures; and

3. consider recruiting designated staff to monitor on an ongoing basis the
daily operations of the Relevant Business.

The Company had employed an internal audit manager and engaged an
independent consultant for the provision of an internal control training in
December 2024 in response to the recommendations of the IC Consultant.
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In addition, during the Year, the Board, as assisted by the Audit Committee,
reviewed the Company’s risk management and internal control systems for
the Year, which cover all material controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls, adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions, as well as those relating to the
Company’s environmental, social and governance performance and reporting,
and assessed the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group by reviewing the work and findings of the internal audit
function. Such review is conducted annually. Both the Audit Committee and
the Board considered that the systems were effective and adequate for the
Year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Under the dividend policy adopted by the Company with effect from 1 January
2019, dividends may be declared and paid to the Shareholders by way of cash
or by other means that the Board considers appropriate. It is the policy of the
Board, in recommending dividends, to allow the Shareholders to participate
in the Company’s profits, and at the same time, to ensure the Company to
retain adequate reserves for future growth. The Company’s decision to declare
or to pay any dividends in the future, and the amount of such dividends will
depend upon, among other things, the current and future operations, financial
condition, liquidity position and capital requirements of the Group, as well as
dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries and associates, which in
turn will depend on the ability of those subsidiaries and associates to pay a
dividend. In addition, any final dividends for a financial year will be subject to
the approval of the Shareholders. The declaration and payment of dividends by
the Company are also subject to any restrictions under the laws of Bermuda,
the laws of Hong Kong, the Company’s Bye-laws and any applicable laws,
rules and regulations. The Board will continue to review the dividend policy
from time to time and the Board may exercise its sole and absolute discretion
to update, amend and/or modify the dividend policy at any time as it deems fit
and necessary.

INFORMATION DISCLOSURE POLICY

The Company has adopted its information disclosure policy and related
procedures with regard to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information”
issued by the Securities and Futures Commission. The policy stipulates the
responsibilities of the Group, key disclosure requirements under Part XIVA of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(“SFO”) and Rules 17.10, 17.11 and 17.11A of the GEM Listing Rules, control
measures and reporting procedures of handling confidential information and
monitoring information disclosure. The Group adopts an upward reporting
approach within the Group for identifying and escalating any potential inside
information to the Board. The policy is reviewed annually and all reasonable
measures have to be taken from time to time to ensure proper safeguards
to prevent any breach of disclosure requirements and to maintain strict
confidentiality of information.
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BOARD COMMITTEES/FUNCTIONS

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Remuneration
Committee, the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees
of the Company are established with defined written terms of reference. The
terms of reference of the Board committees are posted on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website. Copies of minutes of all meetings
and resolutions of the committees, which are kept by the Company Secretary,
are circulated to all Board members and the committees are required to report
back to the Board on their decision and recommendations where appropriate.

Remuneration Committee

The members of the Remuneration Committee during the Year, all being
independent non-executive Directors, were as follows:

Ms. Wong Chi Yan (Chairman)

Mr. Chan Yung

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei

The main duties of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for the
remuneration of all Directors and senior management, and determining
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management; and establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any of their
associates will participate in deciding that Director’'s own remuneration.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee performed the following major
tasks:

o reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
policy and structure of the Company;

o determined the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and
senior management;

o made recommendations to the Board of the remuneration packages of
non-executive Directors; and

o assessed performance, duties and responsibilities of executive Directors
and senior management.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and five individuals with highest
emoluments (including the member of the current senior management of
the Company) are set out in notes 16 and 15 to the consolidated financial
statements contained in this report respectively.
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In addition, pursuant to the Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of the member of the current senior management of the Group
by band for the Year is set out below:

Remuneration band (HK$) s E (B)

tEsh - R FE G T RIST AR XX SEE.1.60% » AEEIR
EEREEASREFERFNBER DNFEHFOT

Number of Individual

AB

0 to 1,000,000 0%1,000,000

Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee during the Year, all being independent
non-executive Directors, were as follows:

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei (Chairman)

Ms. Wong Chi Yan

Mr. Chan Yung

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei and Ms. Wong Chi Yan possess the appropriate
professional qualifications and/or accounting and financial management
expertise as required under the GEM Listing Rules.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@) to monitor the control procedures and the disclosures on the reporting
of the Company’s financial statements, and to review and discuss
with external auditor any significant financial reporting standards and
guidelines applied to the financial statements;

(o) to consider any significant or unusual items that are, or may need to be,
reflected in financial reports and accounts, and give due consideration
to matters raised by the Company’s compliance officer or external
auditor;

(c) to review the relationship with the external auditor by reference to
the work performed by them, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of auditor;

(d)  to review the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems; and

(e) to review the Company’s arrangements to enable employees to raise, in

confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Company.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee has reviewed the audit plan, financial
results and reports, financial reporting, compliance procedures and
effectiveness of the internal audit function of the Company, report on the
Company’s internal control and risk management review and processes, re-
appointment of external auditor and arrangements for employees to raise
concerns about possible improprieties. During the Year, the Audit Committee
also met the external auditor twice without the presence of the executive
Directors. Besides, there is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee regarding the re-appointment of external auditor. During the Year,
the Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the
interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2024 have been reviewed by
the Audit Committee.

Nomination Committee

The members of the Nomination Committee during the Year, all being
independent non-executive Directors, were as follows:

Mr. Chan Yung (Chairman)

Ms. Wong Chi Yan

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure,
size and composition (including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of services) of the Board at least annually and recommending any
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;
identifying suitably qualified individuals to become the Board members
and selecting and making recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships; assessing the independence
of independent non-executive Directors; making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for the Directors in particular, the Chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer; and reviewing the Board Diversity Policy (as defined
below) and making disclosure of the policy or a summary of the policy in the
corporate governance report.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would take
into account various aspects set out in the board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) adopted by the Company from time to time.
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The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance. With a view to achieving a
sustainable and balanced development, the Company sees increasing diversity
at the Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment
of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development. Selection of
candidates for appointment as a Director will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skill, knowledge and length of
services. The ultimate decision will be based on merits and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The Nomination Committee
considers that an appropriate balance of diversity perspective of the Board is
maintained.

In selecting and evaluating candidates for directorship of the Company, the
Nomination Committee shall make reference to the directors’ nomination
procedures which also contains the directors’ nomination policy (the “Director
Nomination Policy and Procedures”) adopted by the Company on 31
December 2015 and updated on 30 December 2021 and by considering
various factors, including but not limited to (i) character and integrity; (i)
qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience that are relevant to the Group’s business and corporate strategy;
(iii) willingness to devote sufficient time to discharge duties as a Director; (iv)
requirement for the Board to have independent Directors in accordance with
the GEM Listing Rules and whether the candidates would be considered
independent with reference to the independence guidelines set out in the GEM
Listing Rules; (v) the Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Company for achieving diversity on the Board; and (vi) such
other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall, upon receipt of the
proposal on appointment of new Director and the biographical information
(or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the
criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate is qualified
for directorship. If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall rank them by order of
preference based on the needs of the Company and reference check of
each candidate (where applicable). The Nomination Committee shall make
recommendation to the Board in respect of the appointment of appropriate
candidate for directorship. For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder
for election as a Director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship and where appropriate, the Nomination Committee
and/or the Board shall make recommendation to shareholders in respect of
the proposed election of Director at the general meeting.
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During the Year, the Nomination Committee performed the following major
tasks:

° reviewed and made recommendation on the renewal of the term of
appointment of Mr. Wong Jing Shong as an executive Director of the
Company and the Chairman of the Board based on the nomination
process and criteria as set out above;

° reviewed and made recommendation on the renewal of the term of
appointment of Mr. Lau Siu Cheong as an executive Director of the
Company and the Chief Executive Officer based on the nomination
process and criteria as set out above;

° reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board under
diversified perspectives and the Board Diversity Policy to ensure the
appropriateness in determining the optimum composition of the Board;

° reviewed the Director Nomination Policy and Procedures to ensure
the appropriateness in selecting and recommending candidates for
directorship; and

o assessed the independence of all the independent non-executive
Directors.

Analysis of the Board’s composition as at 31 December 2024 is set out in the
following chart:
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Gender Diversity
Board Level

As at the date of this report, gender diversity has been achieved at board level
upon the appointment of Ms. Wong Chi Yan as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 19 April 2022.

In respect of succession plan for maintaining gender diversity at board level,
the Board will ensure, by providing equal opportunities for all candidates
regardless of gender in respect of recruitment and staff promotion and
selecting the right candidates for appointment to the Board based on a range
of diversity perspectives as well as merits and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board, that it has a diverse pipeline of candidates
ready to step into leadership positions when vacancies arise.

Workforce Level

The details of workforce composition were disclosed in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report of the Company for the Year.

The strategy of the Group is to select the right candidates based on their
qualifications, experience, skills, potential and performance, and in order
to enhance efficiency, the Company has not set a measurable objective for
achieving gender diversity at workforce level. In particular, gender diversity is a
challenge in the I.T. industry with its nature of work. Nonetheless, on a merit-
based policy, the Company commits to providing equal opportunities for all
people regardless of age, gender, ethnicity, marital status, family status or
disability during our recruitment and staff promotion process.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
set out in the CG Code. The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance of the GEM Listing Rules, and the Company’s compliance with the
CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
as the required standard of dealings (the “Required Standard of Dealings”)
in respect to any dealings in the Company’s securities by the Company’s
Directors and relevant employees. Specific enquiries have been made to all
Directors and they all confirmed they had complied with the Required Standard
of Dealings during the Year. No incident of non-compliance of the Required
Standard of Dealings by the relevant employees was noted by the Company
during the Year.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed for each substantially separate issue at the Shareholders’ meetings,
including the election of individual Directors. According to the GEM Listing
Rules, all resolutions put forward at the Shareholders’ meetings will be
voted on by poll and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company after each Shareholders’ meeting.

Set out below are the procedures for members to make proposals at a general
meeting other than a proposal of a person for election as the Directors.
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Procedures for members to make proposals at general meeting
other than a proposal of a person for election as Director

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws, the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and applicable legislation and regulations.

1. The Company holds an annual general meeting every year, and may
hold a general meeting known as a special general meeting whenever
necessary.

2. Member(s) of the Company holding (i) not less than one-twentieth of the

total voting rights of all members having the right to vote at the general
meeting; or (i) not less than 100 members, can submit a written request
stating the resolution intended to be moved at the annual general
meeting; or a statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to
the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be
dealt with at a particular general meeting.

3. The written request/statements must be signed by the member(s)
concerned and deposited at the Company’s registered office at
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its
head office and principal place of business in Hong Kong (from time
to time), for the attention of the Company Secretary, not less than six
weeks before the annual general meeting in the case of a requisition
requiring notice of a resolution and not less than one week before the
general meeting in the case of any other requisition.

4. If the written request is in order, the Company Secretary will ask the
Board (j) to include the resolution in the agenda for the annual general
meeting; or (i) to circulate the statement for the general meeting,
provided that the member(s) concerned have deposited a sum of
money reasonably determined by the Board sufficient to meet the
Company’s expenses in serving the notice of the resolution and/
or circulating the statement submitted by the member(s) concerned
in accordance with the statutory requirements to all the registered
members. On the contrary, if the requisition is invalid or the member(s)
concerned have failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the
Company’s expenses for the said purposes, the member(s) concerned
will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the proposed resolution
will not be included in the agenda for the annual general meeting; or the
statement will not be circulated for the general meeting.

The following are the procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director.
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Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as
a Director

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws, the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and applicable legislation and regulations.

If a member, who is duly qualified to attend and vote at the general meeting
convened to deal with appointment/election of Director(s), wishes to propose a
person (other than the member himself/herself) for election as a Director at that
meeting, he/she can deposit a written notice at the Company’s head office and
principal place of business in Hong Kong (from time to time), for the attention
of the Company Secretary.

In order for the Company to inform all members of that proposal, the written
notice must state the full name of the person to be proposed for election as
a Director, his/her biographical details as required by Rule 17.50(2) of the
GEM Listing Rules, and be signed by the member concerned and that person
indicating his/her willingness to be elected.

The period for lodgment of such a written notice will commence on the day
after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting and end no later
than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting. If the notice
is received less than fifteen (15) business days prior to that general meeting,
the Company will need to consider adjournment of the general meeting in
order to (i) assess the suitability of the proposed candidate; and (i) publish an
announcement or circulate a supplementary circular in relation to the proposal
to the members at least fourteen (14) clear days and not less than ten (10)
business days prior to the general meeting.

Detailed procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director are available on the Company’s website at www.famoustech.com.hk.
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EXERERS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a special general
meeting

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s Bye-laws, the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and applicable legislation and regulations.

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition sent to the Company’s registered office at Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its head office and principal
place of business in Hong Kong (from time to time), for the attention of the
Company Secretary, to require a special general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such
requisition. If the Board does not within twenty-one (21) days from the date
of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting, the
requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of the total
voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any
meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the said date.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, the Shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Board of Directors/Company Secretary at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong from time to time. For the
avoidance of doubt, the Shareholder(s) must deposit and send the original duly
signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be)
to the Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong and provide their
full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto. The
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings
of the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board has adopted a Shareholders’ Communication Policy reflecting
mostly the current practices of the Company for communication with its
Shareholders. Such policy aims at providing the Shareholders and potential
investors with ready and timely access to balanced and understandable
information of the Company. Such policy has been reviewed by the Company
during the Year. The Company considered that the implementation of such
policy was effective.

The Company has established a number of channels for maintaining an
ongoing dialogue with the Shareholders as follows:

U

(i)

(i)

()

corporate communications such as annual reports, interim reports,
quarterly reports (if any), notices of meetings, listing documents and
circulars are issued in printed form and are available on the Stock
Exchange’s website at www.hkex.com.hk and the Company’s website
at www.famoustech.com.hk in a timely and consistent manner as
required by the GEM Listing Rules;

corporate information and the memorandum of continuance and Bye-
laws of the Company are made available on the Company’s website;

periodic announcements are made through the Stock Exchange and
published on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company;

annual general meeting and special general meetings provide a forum
for the Shareholders to make comments and exchange views with the
Directors and senior management; and

the Company’s share registrar serves the Shareholders in respect
of share registration, dividend payment, change of Shareholders’
particulars and related matters.
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EXERERS

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Board proposed to amend the then existing bye-laws of the Company
(“Bye-laws”) in order to (i) bring the Bye-laws to be in line with the latest
regulatory requirements of the GEM Listing Rules in relation to the expanded
paperless listing regime and the mandatory electronic dissemination of
corporate communications by listed issuers and the relevant amendments
made to the GEM Listing Rules which took effect on 31 December 2023; (i)
modernise the Bye-laws to expressly allow the Company to convene and hold
electronic meetings and/or hybrid meetings in addition to physical meetings;
and (i) make other miscellaneous and housekeeping amendments, as well
as update certain provisions with reference to the latest applicable laws of
Bermuda and the GEM Listing Rules. In view of the proposed changes, the
Board proposed to adopt the second amended and restated bye-laws (“New
Bye-laws”) of the Company in substitution for, and to the exclusion of, the Bye-
laws.

The New Bye-laws was adopted by the Shareholders by passing a special
resolution at a special general meeting of the Company held on 25 June
2024. Details of the New Bye-laws are disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 30 May 2024 and the circular of the Company dated 31 May
2024.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Jing Shong (“Mr. Wong”), aged 34, has been appointed as an
executive Director and the Chairman of the Board since October 2018. He is
the controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Wong is a member of the 13th
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region Committee of The Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference. He obtained a Bachelor's Degree of Science
in Mathematics from the King’s College London in the United Kingdom in
August 2014. After graduation, Mr. Wong undertook training at Legend Capital
Co., Ltd. BEBEAREIER(HBPRAE], a company engaging in venture capital
business in the PRC, from October 2014 to October 2015. He has been the
director of Aerophant Capital Management Co., Ltd. REBAREEF R AT,
a company engaging in venture capital business, since June 2018.

Mr. Wong is a director of CONCORD-LINKED LIMITED (122 B RAE)
(“CONCORD”) and a number of its subsidiaries (collectively, the “CONCORD
Group”). As at 31 December 2024, he was interested in 100% interests in
CONCORD. In addition, as at 31 December 2024, Mr. Wong was also one
of the ultimate beneficial owners of a group of companies (‘EPRO Software
Group”). The CONCORD Group and the EPRO Software Group are principally
engaged in the provision of professional |.T. contract and maintenance
services.

Mr. Wong is the compliance officer and an authorised representative of the
Company for the purposes of the GEM Listing Rules. Mr. Wong serves as an
executive Director and his current term runs for three years commencing on
29 October 2024 and is subject to retirement from office and re-election in
accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.

EEREREREHE

WITES

HiFERE (HEE) 34 BZZ— \F+AEE
EERPTEEREFETIRE- 1&%$@E?§Hxﬁy$°

BREEEFTZEPRARBAHE EEE ALK
BARZEEEE - KN _T—NF N\ ARNSEBBH

EXFSERHRESTBM - BER JEEN "2 -0
FHRAE"E-HFTRANEBHELEERNARAS
(—ERPBERERKREB AR BREI-REZ
SE-N\FRAEBHERKREFAEEERAE (—RHKE
RIREFHZAT) 2EF-

BEERBRARAT (MBHE) RESKWBERE
BMpREE) 2EZ- KR _2-_NF+"F=+—
HEAHREEBEDZ I RS _HNE+-A
=t+—H BRETAERERR (ZERMAEE) W&
RETEEAZ — - BREBARSERTERTIZNS
REFENERRE G RMEERT

BERERPCEMETRAMENERB BRI ERE

AR -BAEHERTES REEFMEHE-F

TMEFTBTAHERB=F WAREARATZA
BHIRRERBEEE-

Famous Tech International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

42



43

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREREHE

Mr. Lau Siu Cheong (‘Mr. Lau”), aged 51, has been appointed as (i) an
executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer since 8 February 2021; and
(i) the company secretary of the Company and the authorised representative
for the purposes of the Companies Ordinance and the GEM Listing Rules
since August 2013. Mr. Lau obtained a Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting)
degree from the Curtin University of Technology in 1999. He obtained a Master
of Corporate Governance degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in 2021. He is a fellow member of the CPA Australia and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is a fellow of both the Chartered
Governance Institute and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
and holds Chartered Secretary and Chartered Governance Professional
dual designations. Mr. Lau has over 25 years of experience in finance and
accounting. Mr. Lau was the finance manager of the Company from January
2010 to July 2013. Mr. Lau was the financial controller of the Company from
August 2013 to August 2022. Mr. Lau is principally responsible for, among
others, the overall financial management, financial planning and budgetary
control of the Group and carrying out company secretarial functions of the
Group. He is also responsible for the Group’s business development and daily
management and operations generally. He is also the director of a number of
subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Lau is a director and sole shareholder of AJl Assets Management Limited
(“AJI"). AJl'is currently engaged in money lending business.

Mr. Lau serves as an executive Director and his current term runs for three

years commencing on 8 February 2024 and is subject to retirement from office
and re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Wong Chi Yan (“Ms. Wong”), aged 43, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee with effect from 19 April 2022. She was awarded a Bachelor of
Business Administration degree in Accounting from The Hong Kong Baptist
University in December 2003. She was further awarded a Master of Laws
degree in International Corporate and Financial Law from The University of
Wolverhampton in the United Kingdom in November 2016.

Ms. Wong is an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and an associate of each of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute. Ms. Wong has
extensive experiences in auditing, accounting and financing as well as merger
and acquisition.

Ms. Wong has been currently serving as an independent non-executive
director for the following public companies listed in Hong Kong, namely (i)
Success Dragon International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1182), the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”) and (i) China Hongbao Holdings Limited (stock
code: 8316), the shares of which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Ms. Wong served as an independent non-executive director for (i) Asia
Television Holdings Limited (stock code: 707), the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from January 2019 to December
2022 and (i) Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited (now known as Modern
Innovative Digital Technology Company Limited) (stock code: 2322), the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from September
2023 to December 2023. Ms. Wong was also the company secretary and
authorised representative of China Properties Investment Holdings Limited, the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 736), from February 2018 to September 2023.

Ms. Wong serves as an independent non-executive Director and her current
term runs for three years commencing on 19 April 2022 and is subject to
retirement from office and re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREREHE

Mr. Chan Yung sss, B8s, Jp (“Mr. Chan”), aged 55, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director since November 2017. He is also
the chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Board and a member of
the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Board. Mr.
Chan obtained a Bachelor’'s Degree from The City University of Hong Kong,
a Post-graduate Diploma of Politics and Public Administration from Tsinghua
University and a Master's Degree in Law and Public Affairs from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He was appointed as a Justice of Peace by the
HKSAR Government in 2011 and awarded Bronze Bauhinia Star and Silver
Bauhinia Star in 2014 and 2024 respectively.

Mr. Chan is currently an independent non-executive director of Wang On
Group Limited (stock code: 1222) and China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited (stock code: 836), whose shares are both listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chan is a registered social worker and the president of New Territories
Association of Societies. He has also been a director of New Territories
Association of Societies (Community Services) Foundation since 2002.
Mr. Chan has various public appointments including Hong Kong Deputy to the
14th National People’s Congress of the PRC and a member of the Legislative
Council. Mr. Chan is also a vice-chairman of Democratic Alliance for the
Betterment and Progress of Hong Kong. He has been appointed as a member
to the Advisory Committee on Corruption of the Independent Commission
Against Corruption with effect from 1 January 2023.

Mr. Chan serves as an independent non-executive Director and his current
term runs for three years commencing on 24 November 2023 and is subject
to retirement from office and re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cheng Hong Kei (‘Mr. Cheng”), aged 70, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director since November 2017. He is also
the chairman of the Audit Committee of the Board and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Board. He
studied accountancy in Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University) and is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. Mr.
Cheng is a co-founding director of Cheng & Cheng Limited and had worked as
an assessor for the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department for 12 years. He
has over 35 years of experience in accounting and taxation.

Mr. Cheng is currently an independent non-executive director of Great China
Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited (previously known as Great China Properties
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 21) and Gilston Group Limited (previously
known as China Apex Group Limited) (stock code: 2011), whose shares are
both listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He is an independent
non-executive director of South China Assets Holdings Limited (stock code:
8155) until 1 April 2022, the shares of which were no longer listed on GEM
with effect from 7 March 2022.

Mr. Cheng serves as an independent non-executive Director and his current
term runs for three years commencing on 24 November 2023 and is subject
to retirement from office and re-election in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tong Ho Fai (“Mr. Tong”), aged 39, has been appointed as the
financial controller of the Company since 1 September 2022. He obtained
a Bachelor degree with Honours in Finance, Accounting and Management
from University of Nottingham in 2008. He obtained a Master of Corporate
Governance degree from Hong Kong Metropolitan University in 2017. He is
a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
the member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales,
the member of both the Chartered Governance Institute and The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute and holds Chartered Secretary and
Chartered Governance Professional dual designations. He has over ten years
of experience in audit, finance, accounting and management.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEEHS

The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 30 July 2001 and
continued in Bermuda with limited liability on 9 January 2014 (Bermuda time).
Its shares have been listed on GEM since 31 December 2001. The head office
and principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong is at Room
1204-5, 12/F., Centre Point, 181-185 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company while the Group is
principally engaged in (1) research, development and distribution of PC
performance software, anti-virus software, mobile phone applications and
toolbar advertisements; (2) the operation of a business-to-customer online
sales platform, and the business-to-business product trading; (3) securities
investment; and (4) provision of corporate management solutions and I.T.
contract services during the Year. The principal activities of the subsidiaries of
the Company are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

Results of the Group for the Year and the state of affairs of the Group and the
Company as at 31 December 2024 are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 68 to 186 of this report.

FINAL DIVIDEND AND SPECIAL DIVIDEND AND
CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

Subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting, the Directors recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK$0.002 per share and a special dividend of HK$0.028 per share, totalling
HK$0.030 per share, for the Year in the form of cash to Shareholders in
recognition of the Shareholders’ continuous support and trust.

The Directors did not recommend any payment of a final dividend or a special
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023.

To ascertain a Shareholder’s entitlement to receive the final dividend and
special dividend, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 15 May 2025 to Friday, 16 May 2025 (both days inclusive), during
which no transfer of shares will be registered. The last share registration date
for determining the eligibility to receive the final dividend and special dividend
will be on Wednesday, 14 May 2025. In order to qualify for the entitlement to
receive the final dividend and special dividend, all transfer documents, together
with the relevant share certificates, must be lodged for registration with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Tengis Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on Wednesday, 14 May 2025.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group during the Year, particulars of
important events affecting the Group during the Year, an analysis of the
Group’s performance using financial key performance indicators, and an
indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business are provided
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and note 11 to the consolidated financial statements in this
report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the
Group can be found throughout this report, particularly in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis — Risk Factors” of this report. Also,
the financial risk management of the Company can be found in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements. These discussions form part of this report
of the Directors. In addition, discussions on the Group’s environmental policies
and performance, the Group’s compliance with relevant laws and regulations
and the Group’s relationships with its key stakeholders are also provided in the
following sub-sections of this report of the Directors.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the segment results and geographical locations of operations
of the Group for the Year is set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DONATIONS

Donations by the Group for charitable and other purposes amounted to
HK$100,000 for the Year (2023: HK$150,000).

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Share Options

Save for the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 15 June
2017 and terminated on 11 July 2024 and the share option scheme adopted
by the Company on 11 July 2024, details of which are set out in note 37 to
the consolidated financial statements and the section headed “Share Option
Schemes” of this report of the Directors, there was no equity-linked agreement
entered into by the Company during the Year or subsisting at the end of the
Year. The disclosure in the aforementioned sections of this report forms part of
this report of the Directors.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 are
set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

EFXEHRS

¥ 75 01EE

BT ERAFEEBNAELR ZEBAERLFE
EEEMNFE RAMBREMRBEREAERRR
DT R AERERRRAEERNIET #HNEARS
EFERE R EEEN R BHURGEH B
BT - ARAERESN 2R TEERSR
AT R A RS 2E  BREME BARSE EEE
sk T —RABERER —&B - AMARBMNMHER
BT AR E M BRERMEOHNE - ZFTmB A A
ERQREN -0t ARMEAEBRREERE
B rERBTHRERERNERRAERREE
ERMNENBARNNRTRNAESTERE TADH -

AEEH
FEARAEEZ DBEER MBS ZEHHH W

AR B IRRI 110

B

KEMPAFERRZES R EMEBBI/EHIEF1100,000

Bt (ZT =% 150,000/7T) °

Bz R 01758

g

BARABDNR _E—LtERATHEARMIN _Z2 "M

/\—ﬁ—@

N —=—

FLRE+—ARIENBRESE RERT
FEtA+—ARMNERESE EFBRNGEHE
WRMETRAER GRS BRI —) 4 &
REHERAFEITUINAEFEERBDABRZ
ERRER R AR E U LS ERNIREERER
FEEGREN—ED e

AT

FABR ZEMFE+ A=+ —HNEENBERF
FIE B O MR FE24

Famous Tech International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

48



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEEHS

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on pages 72 to 73 of this report and note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Pursuant to a special resolution passed on 25 June 2024, the amount of
approximately HK$517,181,000 standing to the credit of the share premium

account of the Group was cancelled and transferred to an account designated
as contributed surplus account.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES/DEFICIT

As at 31 December 2024, the surplus of the Company was approximately
HK$68,361,000 (2023: deficit of approximately HK$450,604,000).
PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-laws,

or the laws of the Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to the Shareholders.

AMOUNT DUE FROM/TO DIRECTOR(S)

Except for the director’s fee payable, there is no amount due to a Director nor
loans from a Director as at 31 December 2024.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of the Group’s total revenue for the Year attributable to the
Group’s major customers are as follows:

Revenue
= the largest customer: 7.93%

= five largest customers in aggregate: 21.02%
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The percentages of Group’s purchases for the Year attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers are as follows:

Purchases
- the largest supplier: 35.33%
- five largest suppliers in aggregate: 91.00%

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their close associates
or any Shareholder (which, to the knowledge of the Directors, owned more
than 5% of the Company’s issued shares) has any interest in any of the
Group'’s five largest customers or suppliers during the Year.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Save as disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements, as at 31
December 2024, the Group did not have any bank and other borrowings.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises the importance of maintaining environmental
sustainability in its daily operations and acts in all material respects in
compliance with the laws and regulations relating to environmental protection
and pollutant control, such as the Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
358 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter
354 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group is a service-oriented enterprise
mainly with office operations, therefore its daily business does not generate
material direct emission of greenhouse gases, industrial pollutants, sewage
and hazardous waste. Nevertheless, the Group pays high attention to
environmental protection in order to become a green corporation.

The Group is committed to environment protection and sustainable
development through promoting and adopting green practices in its
business activities. Initiatives within the Group include, but not limited to,
waste reduction by double-sided printing and separating recyclable paper,
green procurement by avoiding single-use disposable items and using
office equipment with Energy Label issued by the Electrical and Mechanical
Services Department, and energy reduction by switching off idle electronic
appliances. The Group will continuously review its green practices to integrate
environmental, health and safety management and compliance considerations
into its operational processes. By promoting green awareness amongst
and maintaining dialogue with employees and business partners, the Group
is determined to promote environmental protection in the daily business
operations and establish a sustainable working environment.
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An Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report of the Company
in compliance with the provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide
in Appendix C2 to the GEM Listing Rules is published on the same day
of this report at the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. A copy of the ESG Report can be viewed and downloaded from
the website of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) under the “Listed
Company Publications” section and from the website of the Company
(www.famoustech.com.hk) under the “Financial Reports” sub-section of the
“Investor Relations” section.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group understands that employees are valuable assets. The Group
provides competitive remuneration package to attract and motivate its
employees. The Group regularly reviews the remuneration package of
employees and makes necessary adjustments to conform with the market
standard.

The Group’s business is built on a customer-oriented culture. The Group also
understands that it is important to maintain good relationship with its suppliers
and customers to fulfil its short-term and long-term goals. To maintain its
market competitiveness within the industry, the Group aims at delivering
services of constantly high standards of quality to its customers. During the
Year, there was no material and significant dispute between the Group and its
suppliers and/or customers.

In extending and/or granting credit terms to customers, the Group will carefully
assess creditworthiness and financial standing of each individual customer.
Management will also closely monitor all outstanding debts and review their
collectability periodically.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

Data privacy has become a critical issue for online sales business in the
world. In relation to the Software Business and the B2C Online Sales Platform
and B2B Product Trading Business, the Group has paid close attention to
confidentiality of personal data and privacy of its customers. Under the daily
operation of the Software Business and the B2C Online Sales Platform and
B2B Product Trading Business, it is inevitable to deal with enormous amount
of customers’ and potential customers’ information during the process of
online transactions. It is of significant importance for the Group to handle their
data with care so as to comply with the laws and regulations relating to data
privacy. Employees are required to fully abide by the provisions stipulated
when handling customers’ data and they are prohibited from any unauthorised
copying, dissemination or disclosure of confidential information, including
customers’ identities and transaction records.

During the Year, the Company was not aware of any material non-compliance

with any relevant laws and regulations that posed a significant impact on the
Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As from 31 December 2024 to the date of this report, no significant event
affecting the Group has occurred.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
audited financial statements, is set out on page 187 of this report. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, related party transactions in relation to the transactions with
key management personnel who are Directors in note 44 to the consolidated
financial statements fell under the definition of “connected transactions” and
they were fully exempt under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

During the Year, the Company has not entered into any connected
transactions that are subject to the reporting and announcement requirements
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

COMPETING INTEREST

Mr. Wong Jing Shong (“Mr. Wong”), the Chairman of the Board and an
executive Director, is a director of CONCORD-LINKED LIMITED ({#E85H
FfR/AF)) (“CONCORD”) and a number of its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“CONCORD Group”). As at 31 December 2024, he was interested in 100%
interests in CONCORD.

In addition, as at 31 December 2024, Mr. Wong was also one of the ultimate
beneficial owners of a group of companies (“EPRO Software Group”).

The CONCORD Group and the EPRO Software Group are principally engaged
in the provision of professional I.T. contract and maintenance services,
and such business activities may compete with the Group’s Corporate
Management Solutions and I.T. Contract Services Business.

Mr. Lau Siu Cheong, an executive Director, is a director and sole shareholder
of Adl Assets Management Limited (‘AJI”).

AJl is currently engaged in money lending business, and such business
activities may compete with the money lending business of Citi Profit Finance
Limited (“Citi Profit”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Citi
Profit, which is a licensed money lender in Hong Kong, has been inactive and
currently does not have any loan portfolio.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors (including any person who
at any time during the Year was a Director), controlling Shareholder, nor their
respective close associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) had any
interest in a business, apart from the business of the Group, which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group during the Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and as at the date of this report
are:

BREXIREEIN REAFER SIBEE (BEREF
ERNEEOREAEEZEFAL - ERRRHRES
BENEEHMBA (EERGEMLEMRA) RERERE
BEZABEERATEBRRINED (FERES
FRON shiER T o

4

RAEFEARN RSB THESNT :

Appointed on

RUTHEREZE
Executive Directors RiTES
Mr. Wong Jing Shong (Chairman) RIFEZNRE (/E) 29 October 2018
2 N\F+AZ+ANH
Mr. Lau Siu Cheong (Chief Executive Officer) RIIKEE (TEHEE) 8 February 2021
“E2”_—%”"ANH
Independent Non-executive Directors BIIEHMITES
Mr. Chan Yung BRE 4 24 November 2017
—Z—tF+—BZ+MmA
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei ERERAR S 24 November 2017

Ms. Wong Chi Yan

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, any Director appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy on or as an addition to the existing Board shall
be subject to re-election by the Shareholders after appointment.

Pursuant to Bye-law 84 of the Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not
a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirernent at least once every three years. The retiring Directors shall be eligible
for re-election.

Pursuant to Bye-law 84 of the Company’s Bye-laws, the Directors to retire by
rotation shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors
to retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself
for re-election. Any further Directors so to retire shall be those of the other
Directors subject to retirement by rotation who have been longest in office
since their last re-election or appointment and so that as between persons
who became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire
shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 42 to 46 of this report.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals
of the Group are set out in notes 16 and 15 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

None of the independent non-executive Directors held any other offices in
the Company or any of its subsidiaries or is interested in any shares of the
Company.

In order to ensure that independent views and input of the independent
non-executive Directors are made available to the Board, the Nomination
Committee and the Board are committed to assessing the Directors’
independence annually with regards to all relevant factors related to the
independent non-executive Directors including the following:

o Every independent non-executive Director is required to inform the
Company as soon as practicable if there is any change in his/her own
personal particulars that may affect his/her independence.

o The independent non-executive Directors should make a positive
contribution to the development of the Company’s strategy and policies
through independent, constructive and informed comments.

o The independent non-executive Directors shall at least annually attend
meeting with the Chairman of the Board without the presence of other
Directors.

The Company confirmed that it has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the existing independent non-executive Directors
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and all existing independent
non-executive Directors are considered to be independent by the Company.

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 17.50A(1) OF THE
GEM LISTING RULES

Mr. Chan Yung SBS, BBS, JP, the independent non-executive Director of the
Company, was awarded Silver Bauhinia Star in 2024. He was also appointed
as an independent non-executive director of China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited (stock code: 836) on 19 March 2025, a company the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, there were no changes
to the Directors’ information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

All of the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Company’s
Bye-laws and the GEM Listing Rules.

The emoluments of the executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors are determined with reference to their respective background,
experience, duties and responsibilities with the Group and the prevailing
market conditions.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Company or
any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Group were entered into or existed
during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OR
ARRANGEMENTS

None of the Directors (including any person who at any time during the Year
was a Director) or an entity connected with a Director is or was materially
interested, whether directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party which was subsisting during or at the end of the Year, nor did
any Director have direct or indirect interests in any assets which have been
acquired or disposed of by or leased to, or are proposed to be acquired or
disposed of by or leased to, any member of the Group at the end of the Year
or at any time during the Year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

There was () no contract of significance entered into by and/or subsisted
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries with the controlling
shareholder or any of his/its subsidiaries during the Year; and (i) no contract
of significance in relation to the provision of services by the controlling
shareholder or any of his subsidiaries to the Group entered into and/or
subsisted during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS

OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by Directors as
referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares (“Shares”) of the Company
and underlying Shares

EFXEHRS

EEREEITHASRE AR EMENE
ERA (7 ~ 1R D R F R EKE

A B TNF+ZRB=+—H BEREREERSTH
ABREREHEEMBEEE (EEREHRPER
BIEEXVER) BB 7 ~ BRAR M I AP A RLEHEN
RIRE 5 G IR A E352(F R EFE 2 EsL fAEiiR
BGEM EHRAE. 46IEPIEFETEENRER
HERBTNE R AT R mE AT

RAERBEBER (TRRH)) REERGBGEE
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percentage of
the total issued

Number of share capital

Name of Director Capacity Shares interested of the Company
AR HERT

EEHSR 513 BEEENRHEE RABOBE DL

(Note 1) (Note 2)

(Mg5E1) (HizE2)

Wong Jing Shong Beneficial owner 333,336,177 (L) 75.0%

BmBEAA

=IEE
Notes:
1. “L” denotes a long position.

2. The total number of 444,448,237 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2024 has
been used for the calculation of the approximate percentage.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors nor
chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by Directors as referred to in
Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S RIGHTS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBT SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Schemes” in this
report of the Directors, at no time during the Year or at the end of the Year was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors and the chief executive, their respective spouses or children
under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company has adopted a new share option scheme (“2024 Share Option
Scheme”) on 11 July 2024 and on the same date terminated the share option
scheme (2017 Share Option Scheme”) adopted by the Company on 15 June
2017.

2017 Share Option Scheme

The 2017 Share Option Scheme was approved by the Shareholders at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 13 June 2017 and became
unconditional on 15 June 2017 with a life of 10 years commencing from such
date.

The 2017 Share Option Scheme was terminated on 11 July 2024.

The 2017 Share Option Scheme was to enable the Company to grant options
to the eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the
Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees
and attract human resources that were valuable to the Group and any entities
in which any member of the Group held equity interest.

Before the termination of the 2017 Share Option Scheme on 11 July 2024, the
Directors might, subject to the provisions of the 2017 Share Option Scheme
and the GEM Listing Rules, invite any person belonging to any of the following
classes of eligible participants, to take up share options to subscribe for
Shares: (a) any eligible employee (whether full time or part time, including any
executive Director but excluding any non-executive Director) of the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or any entity in which any member of the Group held
any equity interest (“invested entity”); (b) any non-executive Director (including
independent non-executive Directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries
or any invested entity; and (c) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or
consultant to any area of business or business development of any member of
the Group or any invested entity.
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The maximum number of Shares which might be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted at any time under the 2017 Share Option
Scheme before its termination on 11 July 2024 and any other share option
schemes of the Group should not in aggregate exceed 44,444,823 Shares,
being 10% of the issued Shares on the date of Shareholders’ approval of
the 2017 Share Option Scheme or the date of Shareholders’ approval of
a refreshment of such limit in a general meeting of the Company (“‘General
Scheme Limit"). Previously granted options which might be outstanding,
cancelled, lapsed or exercised would not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the General Scheme Limit.

Grant of options under the 2017 Share Option Scheme to any Director, chief
executive of the Company or substantial Shareholder (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) or any of their respective associates should be approved by
independent non-executive Directors (excluding independent non-executive
Director who or whose associate was the proposed grantee). Where any grant
of options to a substantial Shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or
an independent non-executive Director, or any of their respective associates,
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and including the
date of such grant: (a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in
issue; and (b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
Shares as at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5,000,000, such further
grant of options should be approved by the Shareholders in general meeting.

Upon acceptance of an option granted under the 2017 Share Option Scheme,
each eligible participant should pay HK$1.00 to the Company as consideration
for the grant. Such option would be offered for acceptance within such time
specified in the offer which should not be later than 21 days from the date on
which the offer was made.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted under the 2017 Share Option Scheme before its termination
on 11 July 2024 and any other share option schemes of the Group (including
exercised and outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month
period should not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue. The exercise price for the
options granted under the 2017 Share Option Scheme should be determined
at the discretion of the Board but in any event should be at least the highest of:
(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet of the
Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which should be a business day; (i) the
average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets of
the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Share.

The 2017 Share Option Scheme did not provide for any vesting period before
the exercise of an option granted thereunder.
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During the Year and as at the date of this report, no share option had been
granted. There was no outstanding share option under the 2017 Share Option
Scheme as at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 respectively.

The number of options available for grant under the General Scheme Limit of
the 2017 Share Option Scheme as at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024
was 44,444,823 Shares and nil respectively.

As at the date of this report, the total number of Shares available for issue
under the expired 2017 Share Option Scheme was nil.

2024 Share Option Scheme

The 2024 Share Option Scheme was approved by the Shareholders at the
special general meeting of the Company held on 25 June 2024 and became
unconditional on 11 July 2024. The 2024 Share Option Scheme shall remain in
force for a period of 10 years commencing from 11 July 2024.

The 2024 Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to grant options to
the eligible participants as incentives and rewards for their contribution to the
Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre personnel
and attract human resources that are valuable to the Group and whose
contributions are important to the long-term development and profitability of
the Group.

The Company may grant options to eligible participants, including (i) director(s)
and employee(s) (whether full-time or part-time) of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries (including persons who are granted options under the 2024 Share
Option Scheme as an inducement to enter into employment contracts with
such companies); and (i) director(s) and employee(s) (whether full-time or part-
time) of the holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated companies
of the Company, provided that the Board may have absolute discretion to
determine whether or not one falls within the above categories.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options
which may be granted under the 2024 Share Option Scheme and any other
share schemes of the Company shall not exceed 10% of the total number
of shares in issue on the adoption date on 11 July 2024 (“Scheme Mandate
Limit"), i.e. 44,444,823 shares, unless the Company seeks approval of the
Shareholders in general meeting to refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit under
the 2024 Share Option Scheme after 3 years from 11 July 2024 (or the date of
Shareholders’ approval for the last refreshment). Options lapsed in accordance
with the rules of the 2024 Share Option Scheme will not be regarded as
utilised for the purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit.
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Where any grant of options to an eligible participant would result in the shares
issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options and the
options and awards granted to such eligible participant under any other share
schemes of the Group (including both exercised or outstanding options, and
excluding any options and awards lapsed in accordance with the rules of the
relevant schemes) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
grant representing in aggregate over 1% of the shares in issue, such grant
must be separately approved by the Shareholders in general meeting with
such eligible participant and his close associates (or associates if the eligible
participant is a connected person) abstaining from voting. The Company must
send a circular to the shareholders containing the information required under
the GEM Listing Rules.

In relation to grant of options to a Director, chief executive or substantial
Shareholder of the Company or any of their associates, (i) making of an offer to
any connected person of the Company, or any of their respective associates
must be approved by the independent non-executive Directors (excluding any
independent non-executive Director who or whose associate is the proposed
grantee of an option); and (i) where any grant of options to an independent
non-executive Director or a substantial Shareholder or any of their respective
associates would result in the shares issued and to be issued in respect of
all options and awards granted (excluding any options and awards lapsed
in accordance with the rules of the relevant schemes) to such person in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the total issued shares, such further grant of
options must be approved by the Shareholders in a general meeting of the
Company. The Company must send a circular to the Shareholders containing
the information required under the GEM Listing Rules, and the grantee, his
associates and all core connected persons of the Company must abstain from
voting in favour of the proposed grant at such general meeting.

Subject to the provisions of the 2024 Share Option Scheme and the fulfillment
of all terms and conditions set out in the offer, an option shall be exercisable
in whole or in part at any time during the period to be determined and notified
by the Directors to the grantee thereof at the time of making an offer provided
that such period shall not exceed a period of 10 years from the offer date of
the particular option. Subject to specific circumstances as stipulated under the
2024 Share Option Scheme, an option must be held by the grantee for the
vesting period specified in the offer before the option can be exercised and
such period shall be at least 12 months from the offer date.

An offer shall be deemed to have been accepted by an eligible participant
concerned in respect of all shares under the option which are offered to such
eligible participant when the duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the offer
duly signed by the eligible participant with the number of shares in respect
of which the offer is accepted as stated therein, together with a remittance
in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant
thereof is received by the Company within such time as may be specified in
the offer (which shall not be later than 21 days from the offer date).
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The subscription price in respect of any option shall, subject to any
adjustments made in the event of any alteration in the capital structure of the
Company, be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, provided
that it shall be not less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as
shown in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the offer date,
which must be a business day; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the
shares as shown in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the
5 consecutive business days immediately preceding the offer date; and (i) the
nominal value of the share on the offer date.

As at 1 January 2024, the 2024 Share Option Scheme had yet been approved
and adopted. The number of options available for grant under the Scheme
Mandate Limit of the 2024 Share Option Scheme as at 31 December 2024
was 44,444,823 Shares.

During the Year and up to the date of this report, no share option has been
granted, and as at the date of this report, the total number of Shares available
for issue under the 2024 Share Option Scheme was 44,444,823 Shares,
representing approximately 10% of the number of issued shares of the
Company.

During the Year, no options or awards were granted under any share schemes
of the Company (i.e. the 2017 Share Option Scheme and the 2024 Share
Option Scheme), and divided by the weighted average number of shares of
the Company of 444,448,237 Shares for the Year, is nil.

INTERESTS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO AND
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER PERSONS
INTEREST IN SECURITIES

Substantial Shareholders

Save for the interest in Shares held by Mr. Wong Jing Shong, an executive
Director and the Chairman of the Board, as disclosed in the section
headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations” in this report of the Directors, the Directors were not aware of
any other person (other than Directors or the chief executive of the Company)
who, as at 31 December 2024, had, or was deemed or taken to have interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Subject to the applicable laws, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/
she may sustain or incur in the execution of his/her duties or otherwise in
relation thereto pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company. The Company has
maintained appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for
the Directors and officers of the Group. The relevant provisions in the Bye-laws
of the Company and the directors’ and officers’ liability insurance are currently
in force and were in force throughout the Year.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the Group’s retirement benefits schemes in operation for the Year are
set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the audit committee of the Board (“Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference in accordance with Rules 5.28
to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Audit Committee’s principal duties are
to review and supervise the financial reporting process, risk management
and internal control procedures of the Group. The Audit Committee currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Cheng
Hong Kei (the chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Chan Yung and
Ms. Wong Chi Yan. The Audit Committee holds a meeting at least quarterly
each year. The Company’s financial statements for the Year have been
reviewed and discussed by the Audit Committee before any disclosure and
release of information.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue
of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under
the GEM Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by RSM Hong Kong,
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Wong Jing Shong
Chairman and Executive Director

21 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT

B ZHEES

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF FAMOUS TECH
INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited
liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Famous Tech
International Holdings Limited (formerly known as GET Holdings Limited)
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 68 to
186, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfiled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. The key

audit matter we identified is:

Key Audit Matter
R EIZEIE

Im airment assessment of goodwill

&RET

Refer to notes 4(c), 4(t), 5(b) and 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.

2R E M IRERMEEAC) ~ 41)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had goodwill with carrying
value of approximately HK$42,525,000, arising from the acquisition
of Boom Max International Limited and its subsidiaries (‘Boom Max
Group”) and Wafer Systems (Hong Kong) Limited (“Wafer HK”).
Management has allocated goodwill to individual cash-generating
units (“CGUs"). Goodwill is required to be tested for impairment on
an annual basis.

RIZEZWME+"A=+
International Limited& &
BERR (BB) EI‘EQ\T (
42,525,000 7T BIEE B BEARE

FEHEBT) OFﬁ?ELE!E E TR E R,

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs were determined based
on either fair value less cost of disposal or value-in-use models
which require significant estimates concerning future cash flows,
and associated discount rates and growth rates assumptions,
which are based on management’s expectations of future business
performance and prospects.

5(b)k222°
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The inherent risk in relation to the impairment assessment of
goodwill is considered significant as the impairment assessment
involves significant estimates and assumptions which were
subjective. Therefore, we identified the impairment assessment of
goodwill is a key audit matter.

B ESHE S R E ARG R T RS WA E R ET LA
ﬁ’jg%ﬁﬁ?ﬁ%%%ﬁ oI FAPI B R E T A A AR5
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RIBHPINE XN R EZEESRMBERARE
NEGEEMBREAPTREENFTE RATERERES
BHERRI AL ER B RS EEIEE R MA SR
EERERURER WA ENFAREZFERIIW

Audit Matter

We understood and evaluated the key internal control over the
impairment assessment of goodwill, and assessed the inherent risk
of material misstatement by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainly and level of other inherent risk factors including
subjectivity.

APIT R KT E%ﬁﬁﬁ%)ﬁﬂéﬁﬁﬂ’]a‘:; il j‘%’ﬁ%@%ﬁﬁ?fﬁ
TRV RRETE 12 K Bt & A & kg A (@% B Bk 57
EHIREARBRRABIE A B

We evaluated the outcome of prior period impairment assessment
on goodwill to assess the effectiveness of management’s estimation
process.

etz HEP‘%?E/WE SHERE
BB

At

FHIEER  LEHEEERE ST EBE

We evaluated the independent valuer's competence, capabilities
and objectivity.

BB AEMNERE  SENRERE -

We used our valuation specialists to assess the integrity of the
models used and the appropriateness of the discount rates, long-
term growth rates, other information, assumptions and estimates for
the impairment assessment determined by management.

EIIF! ﬁﬁfﬁ@?—%%gﬁﬁﬁﬂ*ﬁmﬁﬁﬁ’]nﬁ|“$L/U§ZF§E§?i
%Eg@ﬁﬁ?z%%ﬁﬁfﬁi RO REHMB R RER R A
HEITH ©

We agreed inputs to the models to supporting evidence including
the latest approved 5-year budgets and considered the accuracy of
management’s previous budgets.

RPIBEBRA SR HBUR S LS REE
PR IEE ) 0 B B oA B TR S A B o

We assessed the reasonableness of the key assumptions made by
management in preparing the cash flow forecasts against business
development and operation data, including evaluation of future
revenues and operating results by comparing the forecasts with the
historical performance of the respective CGUs and the business
plan.

BERTEH

BPRBEEBERREEYR ME*E?‘%%L@%”_\L%% Al
BFMEFEEENE E'Ti’@%ﬁ%?ﬁ A= IS A B TR
R R EH 5 BT LR B MR ST R AR s R A R o

We challenged the management’s sensitivity analysis in
consideration of potential impact of reasonable possible downside
changes in key assumptions.

ZEFMRRENGETEIMNEHNETEE RMBEERE
B8R o3 FE b L o

We also considered the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in
respect of the impairment testing of goodwiill.

BMTrERE SEEARBERENRSKEZTRE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT

B ZHEES

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all of the information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibilities
for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

HHERZERBERAT 202458
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT

B ZHEES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

. Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Mr. Szeto Tai Shun.

RSM Hong Kong

Certified Public Accountant
29th Floor, Lee Garden Two,
28 Yun Ping Road,
Causeway Bay,

Hong Kong

21 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
SREHEER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_ T UG+ _HA=1+—HLFE
CLETTAI)

2024 2023
—TME =
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHET FHET
Revenue A 8 104,338 92,360
Cost of sales FHE LA (33,093) (24,368)
Gross profit EF 71,245 67,992
Other income EHMA 9 1,026 2,531
Other gains and (losses), net Hihas ke (6518) > %58 10 4,800 (26,341)
Reversal of impairment losses 85k EMERIERE
on trade and other receivables 5185 O] 270 1,124
Selling and administrative expenses HENMTEEE (67,133) (65,302)
Profit/(loss) from operations mEimF (B8 10,208 (19,996)
Finance costs FAE A AN 12 (45) (100)
Profit/(loss) before tax BRI ATEF, (B518) 13 10,163 (20,096)
Income tax expense FriStRBEsZ 14 (2,965) (1,239)
Profit/(loss) for the year NEEER (B518) 7,198 (21,335)
Attributable to: WTFALREM :
Owners of the Company AR A 2,151 (23,415)
Non-controlling interests JEVER = 5,047 2,080
7,198 (21,335)
Earnings/(loss) per share (HK cents) SREN 7 (E58) CBW) 18
Basic f=%IN 0.48 (5.27)
Diluted #E 0.48 (5.27)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GamkEtEEBER

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE_Z ST _RA=1+—HLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
2024 2023
—E_mE —E=F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
i FET FHET
Profit/(loss) for the year EEEREF (E518) 7,198 (21,335)
Other comprehensive income: HthZ2mEas - 19
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss: B E# P 4EE B AIES -
Exchange differences on translation ITEEINTB AT
of financial statements of overseas MR REENERETE
subsidiaries 28 27
ltems that will not be reclassified to T EEM P EERmIYER &
profit or loss:
Fair value changes of equity instruments at H@EMEEmE U A FEEEYER
fair value through other comprehensive (MEBEMEEWEUATFEE
income (“FVTOCI”) FER)) MR AT AN AT EBEE 54 @7
Other comprehensive income TEEHMEEmWE  NRRE
for the year, net of tax 82 =
Total comprehensive income for the year ZAFEE R EURHELREE 7,280 (21,335)
Attributable to: LR ALRE :
Owners of the Company KABEB A 2,233 (23,415)
Non-controlling interests PG R 5,047 2,080
7,280 (21,335)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
EMBRER

At 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

A —F_E+—H=+—H
CLETTAI)

2024 2023
“E-E =
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FAET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment YIZE R R 20 5 10
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 21 311 857
Goodwill ES 22 42,525 42,525
Intangible assets B EE 23 112,862 109,588
Financial assets at FVTOCI FEREMEEmBREURFEE
TR EREE 25 1,067 1,013
156,770 153,993
Current assets RENEE
Inventories =F& 26 53 13
Trade and other receivables B 5 KR EMERRIE 27 11,484 11,744
Financial assets at fair value through EBEmUATEEYER (TEREE
profit or loss (“FVTPL”") LUATEEYER) NEmEBE 28 27,449 23,125
Tax recoverable A URERIE - 95
Pledged bank deposits BIEFIRITER 29 641 634
Cash and cash equivalents REMIREEEY 29 81,708 83,342
121,335 118,953
Current liabilities Pk A=Ri=1
Trade and other payables B KREMELRIE 30 9,659 7,562
Contract liabilities = ”’] =L 31 845 786
Lease liabilities HEaE 32 296 592
Current tax liabilities %?EH?@IE%E 27,425 26,363
38,225 35,303
Net current assets mMENEERE 83,110 83,650
Total assets less current liabilities BEHERTESEE 239,880 237,643
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
maEMBR TR

At 31 December 2024 R—E_FE+_"_H=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
2024 2023
“E-E BT =F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
i FHET FHET
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 32 32 287
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEE 33(a) 18,622 18,082
18,654 18,369
NET ASSETS BEFE 221,226 219,274
Capital and reserves BRRE#E
Share capital ez 34 4,444 4,444
Reserves HE 36 178,654 176,421
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ZSATHEE AFE(GER 183,098 180,865
Non-controlling interests JEFE R R 2 38,128 38,409
TOTAL EQUITY ERES 221,226 219,274

Approved by the Board of Directors on 21 March 2025 and are signed onits &KEFEER _Z_AFE=F - +—HMETHUTE

behalf by: ERRRE !
Wong Jing Shong Lau Siu Cheong
HiEE EAPIg=
Director Director
BE BE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HEEmE

BE_ T UG+ _HA=1+—HLFE
CLETTAI)

Attributable to owners of the Company

B

KATER NEL
Investment Non-
Share Share Contriouted Exchenge  revaluaion  Accumulated controling Total
capital premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
REBf R
A Rivag ERES ERkE i ZitHi 5t B& 4l
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TEL ThEL TET TEL TET TEL Thn TEL Thn
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=%-A-A 4444 517,181 992,154 (51) (2337)  (1,807,111) 204,280 41585 245,865
Loss for the year rEERR = - - - - (23415) (2341) 2,080 (21,335
Other comprehensive income Efr2EkE - - S 2a 27) - - - -
Total comprehensive income rEERANRAE
for the year - - - 2 27 (23415) (23418) 2,080 (21,335)
Dividends paic to non-controling BIREERERNRE
interests (note 24) (F5to4) - - - - - - - (5,256 (5,256)
Changes in equty for the year rEERRED - - - - - - - (5,256) (5,256)
At 31 December 2023 RIZZ=E
+-B=+-H 4,444 517,181 992,154 (24) (2.364)  (1,330,526) 180,865 38409 219,074

Famous Tech International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

72



73

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
T

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HE S NFE+_A=1+—HILEFE

CLETAIm)

Attributable to owners of the Company

FARRENE
Investment Non-
Share Share  Contributed ~ Exchange  revaluation Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
REEf El320
ks RiEE  BHES B fE Rkl it i L]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR iR TR TER TR TR TiEm TR TEn
A1 January 2024 RoE-mE-A-B 44 S8 992154 (24 D364 (13056 180865 B400 210274
Proftfor the Year KEERR - - - - - 2,151 2,151 5,047 7,198
Other comprehensive income Efr2EkE - - - 8 54 - 82 - 82
Total comprehensive income rEERANRAE
for the Year - - - 28 54 2,151 2,233 5,047 7,280
Dividends paid to non-controling Bk ERERNRE
interests (note 24) (izk04) - - - - - - - (5,328) (5,328)
Cancellation of share premumand ~ SEERVRETERE
transfer o contributed surplus BHRE - (517,181) 517,181 - - - - - -
Changes i equity for the Year rEERRED - (517,181) 517,181 - - - - (5,328) (5,328)
At 31 December 2024 RIE-mE
+ZB=1-H 4,444 - 1,509,335 4 (23100 (1,328,375) 183,098 38,128 221,226
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HEHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE_E-NME+_BA=1+—HItEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
2024 2023
—TME =
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5E FHET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM KEEHRER=E
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax BRERATEF), (B518) 10,163 (20,096)
Adjustments for: R .
Bank interest income RITFIS WA (359) (1,666)
Amortisation iy 38,309 40,696
Depreciation on property, ME- -BERRZEITE
plant and equipment 5 69
Depreciation on right-of-use assets EREESERE 594 659
Dividend income BB WA (241) (231)
Finance costs BLE AL A 45 100
Impairment loss on goodwill EmEREEIE - 18,000
Impairment loss on intangible asset B EEZRERSIE - 6,638
Impairment loss on property, plant ME- -BERIZEZRESE
and equipment - 559
Reversal of impairment loss on trade and B 5 REMEWRIBERERE
other receivables #[o] (270) (1,124
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

SERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_Z ST _RA=1+—HLFE
CLETAIm)

2024 2023
—E_ME =
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
i FHET FHET
Operating profit before working EEECEHANEERT
capital changes 48,246 43,604
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FE8 gm Rl (40) 1,277
Decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 K A WGRIE R D 530 17,664
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets FEBEmUATFEEYRNER
at FVTPL BE (g Rl (4,324) 1,109
Increase/(decrease) in trade B R EMBENARIEIE M, (&
and other payables ) 2,097 (211)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities SH8aEEMm G 59 (998)
Cash generated from operations REXBEMBRRE 46,568 62,445
Income tax paid BIPTER (1,268) (1,740)
Interest on lease liabilities HEaENE (45) (48)
Net cash generated from RS EETSIRE P88
operating activities 45,255 60,657
CASH FLOWS FROM BRETHHRESRE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received BUERITHI R 359 1,666
Dividend income IS ON 39(c)(i) 241 34
Increase in pledged bank deposits EIRIRIRITIERIE N0 ] (4)
Expenditure on development projects BERIEBEENSH (41,583) (43,125)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment ~ EEEYX -BEREZE - (8)
Net cash used in investing activities S EEFTARIRE $3E (40,990) (41,437)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GRERERER

BETUE+"A=+—HIFE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
2024 2023
—E-NE TET=4F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FAET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM MEEERERE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest paid BAFE = (52)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests ENIEERERRE (5,328) (5,256)
Principal elements of lease payments HEARNAZI D (599) (607)
Borrowings repaid BEMBR - (600)
Net cash used in financing activities MEEEFTARS R (5,927) (6,515)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN RERRELEEY (RL) IEMPEE
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (1,662) 12,705
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ERAxEFH o8 28 45
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R—A—HBHNRERREEEY
1 JANUARY 83,342 70,592
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R+ZBA=+—HHNHRER
31 DECEMBER REEEM 81,708 83,342
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND HERREEBMAF
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents REMIREEEY 29 81,708 83,342
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Famous Tech International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) (formerly
known as GET Holdings Limited) was incorporated as an exempted
company with limited liability in the Cayman lIslands on 30 July 2001
and continued in Bermuda on 9 January 2014. The registered office of
the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM 11, Bermuda. The principal place of business in Hong Kong is
located at Room 1204-05, 12/F., Centre Point, 181-185 Gloucester
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company’s shares are listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The principal activity
of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of its
subsidiaries (together with the Company collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the Directors of the Company, Mr. Wong Jing Shong is
the ultimate controlling party of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of
units of Hong Kong dollars (HK$'000) unless otherwise stated. Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”) is the Company’s functional and the Group’s
presentation currency.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”).
HKFRS Accounting Standards comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards (‘HKAS”); and
Interpretations. These consolidated financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange and with the
disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of
these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for
the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(@

Application of new and revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards and interpretation issued by the HKICPA
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2024 for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 1

The application of the amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tn e M IS IR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

(b)

New and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards in
issue but not yet effective

Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of new standards
and amendments to standards and interpretation, which are
not effective for the year ended 31 December 2024 and which
have not been adopted in these financial statements. The Group
has not early applied the following which may be relevant to the
Group:

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning

on or after

Amendments to HKAS 21 and HKFRS 1
— Lack of Exchangeability

1 January 2025

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7
— Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments

1 January 2026

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards — Volume 11

HKFRS 18 — Presentation and
Disclosure in Financial Statements

HKFRS 19 — Subsidiaries without
Public Accountability: Disclosures

1 January 2026
1 January 2027

1 January 2027

Amendments to HK Int 5 —
Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 — Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

1 January 2027

To be determined
by the HKICPA

The directors of the Company are in the process of making
an assessment of what the impacts of these new standards,
amendments to standards and interpretation are expected to be
in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, unless mentioned otherwise in the
accounting policies below (e.g. certain financial instruments that are
measured at fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
Accounting Standards requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in note 5.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(@) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties.
A potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the
practical ability to exercise that right.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S A

17 O

SMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(a

Consolidation (continued)

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in
a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that subsidiary and (i) the Company’s
share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining
goodwill and any accumulated exchange reserve relating to that
subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between the
non-controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(b)

(c)

Separate financial statements

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss, unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale). Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investments. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received
or receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in
the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition
of a subsidiary in a business combination. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at the
acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued, liabilities incurred and any contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the
periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are
received. ldentifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in
the acquisition are, with limited exceptions, measured at their
acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the sum of the consideration transferred is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase which is attributed to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘7|'\

SR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(c)

Business combination and goodwill (continued)

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition-
date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is added to the sum
of the consideration transferred in a business combination to
calculate the goodwill.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets
and liabilities at the acquisition date.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated
to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) or groups of
CGUs that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is
allocated represents the lowest level within the Group at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.
Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing
the goodwill is compared to its recoverable amount, which is the
higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal.
Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is
not subsequently reversed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(d) Foreign currency translation

)

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
Statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the
company initially recognises such non-monetary assets
or liabilities. Non-monetary items that are measured at
fair value in foreign currencies are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are
determined.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=
T a

5 8 R B o

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(d)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(i)

(i)

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements (continued)

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all foreign operations
(none of which has the currency of hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
Company’s presentation currency are translated into the
Company’s presentation currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on the transaction
dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of monetary items that form part of the net
investment in foreign entities are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are reclassified to consolidated profit or loss as
part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values over
the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 5 years or over the lease term, if shorter

Office equipment 3-5 years
Furniture and fixtures 3-5 years
Computer hardware and software 3-5 years
Motor vehicle 3 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

SREMBHRRME

BE_ T UG+ _HA=1+—HLFE

CLETTAI)

4. EXGHEEREH (@)

(e)

Y ER S

ME-BERRBERECHBRRERR
ABE R R TE R ER ReTRERE
nAE) 5k -

E7E I BRI R ARG E R A P BER
AFE N AP st BIEEMRANER
o HEMAR B AEERMERER
RBUBE RBERABRME) A EAM
MEREERANEEL B EREE

=3
&t ©

Y2~ BB Ko 58 08 DA B AR R 1R 88 HL AR Ak
WEFREENEHLE RETAE
HStEINE T 2FXMT ¢

TAEmEEE SEFMEEH HRm)
WNEHRE 3FE5E
R EEE 3FE5E
B PRI R R 3FE5E
pat=:! 3F

FREE JRAFRRTERENSRE
HIRETRS RFR WEA) > MERG
SHEBRT BRTAREEAR.

REME -BERRENRBIEHERS
REFHASMEERMEMEBNE
BR o W IRERESD o

Famous Tech International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

86



87

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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7 =

5 8 R B o

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(f)

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right to
direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits from that use.

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease
component(s), the Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease component
for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-
of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value
assets which, for the Group are primarily office equipment and
office premises. When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated
with those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(f)

Leases (continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using a
relevant incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments to be made
under reasonably certain extension options are also included in
the measurement of the lease liability. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest expense
is calculated using the effective interest method.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate
are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and
hence are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party financing received
by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to
reflect changes in financing conditions since third party
financing was received,

o uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by,
which does not have recent third-party financing, and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the
individual lessee (through recent financing or market data) which
has a similar payment profile to the lease, then the group entities
use that rate as a starting point to determine the incremental
borrowing rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘7|'\

SR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(f)

Leases (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred. Where
applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes
an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which
it is located, discounted to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future
lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or
there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected
to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is a
change arising from the reassessment of whether the Group
will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change in
the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease modification”)
that is not accounted for as a separate lease. In this case the
lease liability is remeasured based on the revised lease payments
and lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(9)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in
the period in which it is incurred. Costs on development activities
are capitalised as intangible assets only if all of the following
conditions are met:

S The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset
so that it will be available for use or sale;

- Management intends to complete the intangible asset and
use or sell it;

- There is ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

= It can be demonstrated how the intangible asset will
generate probable future economic benefits;

= Adequate technical, financial and other resources to
complete the development and to use or sell the intangible
asset are available;

- The expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during
its development can be reliably measured.

Capitalised development costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Other
development expenditure is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated
useful lives. The following intangible assets with finite useful lives
are amortised from the date they are available for use and their
estimated useful lives are as follows:

— Development costs on personal computer 2-6 years
performance software, anti-virus software

and mobile applications (“Computer and

Mobile Phone Software”)

The residual values, useful lives and amortisation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S A

I\ )N

SMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(h)

Inventories

Inventories represent finished goods which are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using
the first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

Contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue
before being unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are
assessed for expected credit losses (“ECL”) in accordance with
the policy set out in note 4(v) and are reclassified to receivables
when the right to the consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue.
A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the effective
interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

0

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL)
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency
or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S A

I\ )N

SMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(k)

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised
financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at
either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification
of the financial assets.

Debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are classified under
amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of
contractual cash flows which represent solely payments of
principal and interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL unless
the equity investment is not held for trading purposes and
on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an
election to designate the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are made on
an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made if
the investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income remains in the
investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) until the investment
is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated
in the investment revaluation reserve (non-recycling) is transferred
to accumulated losses. It is not recycled through profit or loss.
Dividends from an investment in equity securities, irrespective
of whether classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised in
profit or loss as other income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

U]

(m)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade and other receivables
with the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash
flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECL.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument
under HKFRS Accounting Standards. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the
Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies
adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are
set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tn e M IS IR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(n)

(0)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
(0 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

(i) Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply
to the contract, control of services may be transferred over time
or at a point in time. Control of the services is transferred over
time if the Group’s performance:

- provides benefits that are received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

- creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or

= does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR & M ISR

BE_ T UG+ _HA=1+—HLFE
CLETTAI)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 4, EXRGHBERER (@)
(continued)
(0) Revenue and other income (continued) (0 WARKEMIKA @)
0 Service income 0 ARFEA

Services fee income from |.T. contract services
including I.T. maintenance services and system
integration services are recognised as a
performance obligation satisfied over time when
the related services are rendered. Services are
fixed-price contracts that customer pays the
fixed amount based on a payment schedule. If
the services rendered by the Group exceed the
payment, a contract asset is recognised. If the
payments exceed the services rendered, a contract
liability is recognised.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of computer and mobile
phone software is recognised when the customer
obtains control of the software when a contract is
agreed, the software is delivered and the customer
has the right to use it.

Revenue from the sales of hardware and software
products is recognised when control of the goods
has been transferred which generally coincides
with the time when the goods are delivered and
the title has passed to the customers. A receivable
is recognised by the Group when the goods are
delivered to the customer as this represents the
point in time at which the right to consideration
becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time
is required before payment is due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tn e M IS IR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(o) Revenue and other income (continued)

(i)

(i)

v)

Toolbar and advertisement incorme

Toolbar revenue is derived principally from online toolbar
private label arrangements with toolbar service providers.
The Group allows toolbar service providers to launch their
toolbar installation application when the Group’s software
is installed by users. Toolbar revenue is determined based
on the number of qualified installations and as a share of
search based income when users use the search engine
incorporated in the toolbar to search for goods and
services and purchase goods and services advertised in
the search result.

Income from advertisement is derived principally from
online advertising arrangements. The Group enters
into advertising arrangements with advertisers to allow
them to put advertisements on particular areas of the
Group’s electronic platforms, or embedded hyperlinks to
advertisements in the Group’s electronic platforms. For
the hyperlinks embedded in the Group’s websites, the
advertisers pay the Group based on number of clicks on
the hyperlinks.

The Group recognises revenue as a performance
obligation at a point in time when the revenue can be
measured reliably and the collectability is reasonably
assured.

Interest income

Interest income on loans are recognised as it accrues
using the effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost or financial assets at FVTOCI
(recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset.
For credit impaired financial assets, the effective interest
rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.

Bank interest income

Bank interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(0)

()

Revenue and other income (continued)

(v

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment are established.

Employee benefits

)

(i)

Employee leave entitlerents

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all employees.
Contributions to the schemes by the Group and
employees are calculated as a percentage of employees’
basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost charged
to profit or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

Subsidiaries incorporated in the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC”) participate in the retirement schemes
operated by the local authorities for the Group’s
employees in the PRC. Contributions to these schemes
are charged to profit or loss when incurred.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the employer
MPF contributions expected to be offsetted as a deemed
employee contribution towards the LSP obligation in
term of HKAS 19 paragraph 93(a) and it is measured
on a net basis. The estimated amount of future benefit
is determined after deducting the negative service cost
arising from the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s
MPF contributions that have been vested with employees,
which are deemed to be contributions from the relevant
employees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

uﬂ'\

SR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

()

(q)

Employee benefits (continued)
(i) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits, and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a
capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset. The
capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs
applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset. Any specific borrowing
that remains outstanding after the related asset is ready for its
intended use or sale is included in the general borrowing pool for
calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

U]

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary differences arise from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit and at the time of transaction does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S A

17 O

SMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

U]

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease
liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences can
be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary
differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority and the Group intends either to settle its
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(s)

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the reporting
entity.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to a reporting entity if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the reporting entity;

(i) has significant influence over the reporting entity; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the reporting entity or of a parent of the reporting
entity.

(B)  An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the
following condlitions applies:

(i) The entity and the reporting entity are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the reporting entity
or an entity related to the reporting entity. If the
reporting entity is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers are also related to the reporting entity.

BE"Z

SREMBHRRME

—ME+—BA=+—HILFE

CLETTAI)

4. EXGHEEREH (@)

(s)

Ik y]

RS AR EERARBAOALTHE
g%o

A HEFALFELFERES > B
R E BB R -

() HEARSEBITFENHLE

eI
iy HREBSBREBEARES;
59

(i) HBREBEIRTEESA
BINEFEBEBABZ—o

B HEEERT S FERFEA > R
AR BB R -

() ZEERERTIBEEBEFR—&%
B S EENEAE
BRrAIkERKEASTEME
A B o

(i) ZEESZ—BEMNBER
BHGERE B —EER
REARNERBETHRER
BINEEARRGERE

(i) WEEERHABE—F=HH
EAAE L

vy —HEERA-—BE=F58
VEERE - MZHE— E%%
ZE=PDEENBHEQT

) %ﬁ%%ﬁigwﬁﬁﬁ%
REEREMBERNEST
mﬁﬂ%ﬁ%@ﬁﬂ%%”ﬁ
BEBRASEAME R
HEPNEITHERESER
B

Famous Tech International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

102



103

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S A

17 O

SMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(s)

(t)

Related parties (continued)

(B)  An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the
following condiitions applies: (continued)

(v  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A).

(i) A person identified in (A)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(vii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which

it is a part, provide key management personnel

services to the reporting entity or to the parent of
the reporting entity.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at
each reporting date for indications of impairment and where
an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense through
the consolidated statement of profit or loss to its estimated
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets
or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the
cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash
flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present values are
computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit
whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated first
against the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata amongst the
other assets of the cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases
in the recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates
are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they reverse the
impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(u)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments
in debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost, trade
and other receivables, pledged bank deposit and bank and cash
balances. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the
respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets. The ECL on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money
where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will
result from all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tn e M IS IR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4,

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(u)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the
future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors
operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other
similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate
to the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

S significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

= existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(u)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

S significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

- an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if:

0] the financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(ii) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term, and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in
the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tn e M IS IR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(u)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in crediit risk (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk
when the asset has external credit rating of “investment grade”
in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an
external rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating
of “performing”. Performing means that the counterparty has a
strong financial position and there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk
before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

S information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(u)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

S significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

- the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

= it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, including when the debtor
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tn e M IS IR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(u)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets
(continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is
represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting
date, the Group’s understanding of the specific future financing
needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking
information.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

HHERZERBERAT 202458

BE_ENFE+_A=+—RALFE
BTN

EAXGHBEREN (8

()

EMEERSVEEZRE (@)

FRHIE BRT1RHI51 8 K 5

RGEEBENTERENEE  ENE
SR (AENRHNIRELRER) RENRER
BENR - THEBEOBRRENRLE
BRIE BB ME > Wik LA ER
ETHAE -NEMEENENRREES
EHAREEENRESHMANREAE &
EEHEFABERRBE T ROEHEU
R B At AERARTRE ML B o

TREENRREEBERRRESOEN
FEEMNAASNRERERAEME
WERRFFARERE (RRE BRI
) 2B EEGEE -

i E—RE R A EEIZEBEFER
R EERRSHANAAESHIAN
BREG MEMRSAHERESER
AEREFERAREEBENGRS & &
M ERRE BRRI2E R RMEERE
WiER BT BHIRRE  ERABER
EBEERRSIN

FEFERBEEPEIMAESHITAENRE
W EE BB R HREEER
BHR@E-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(v)

(w)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation. The
discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting
period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is
not appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting
period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements when material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S A

T\ AN

SMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.

The resulting accounting estimates will,

by definition, seldom equal

the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed

below.

(@)

(b)

Principal vs agent consideration

The Group engages in the provision of certain maintenance
services. At the acceptance of the services contract, the
Group liaises same service with service provider. Service
providers provide maintenance service to customer through
the maintenance period. The Group concluded that the Group
acts as the agent for such transactions as the Group is not
responsible for fulfiling the promise to provide the maintenance
service. The Group recognises trading revenue in the net amount
of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled after
setting off the cost of service providers.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
recognised revenue relating to these maintenance services
amounted to approximately HK$18,000 (2023: HK$154,000).

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the CGU to which goodwill has
been allocated, which is the higher of the value in use (“VIU”) or
fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCD”). The VIU calculation
requires the Directors to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the CGU and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate present value. Where the actual future cash flows are
less than the expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which results in downward revision of future cash flows or
upward revision of discount rate, a material impairment loss or
further impairment loss may arise. Calculation of fair value using a
market approach requires valuation technique which uses prices
and other relevant information generated by market transactions
involving identical and comparable groups of assets and liabilities
or business, a control premium and marketability discount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

(continued)

(b)

(c)

Impairment of goodwill (continued)

The carrying amount of goodwill at the end of the reporting period
was approximately HK$42,525,000 (2023: HK$42,525,000)
after an impairment loss of approximately HK$Nil (2023:
HK$18,000,000) was recognised during the year. Details of the
impairment test for CGU containing goodwill are set out in note
22.

Recoverability of intangible assets

The management has evaluated the impairment of intangible
assets by way of higher of VIU calculation by reference to the
discounted cash flows derived from financial budgets approved
by the management of the Group or FVLCD with reference to
the latest market transactions. If the higher of the VIU or FVLCD
is less than the corresponding carrying amounts, an impairment
loss may be required.

During the year, the Group reconsidered the recoverability of its
internally-generated intangible assets arising from the Group’s
Computer and Mobile Phone Software development. The
projects continue to progress in a very satisfactory manner,
and customer reaction has reconfirmed the Group’s previous
estimates of anticipated revenues from the projects. Detailed
sensitivity analysis has been carried out and the Group is
confident that the carrying amount of the assets will be recovered
in full, even if returns are reduced. This situation will be closely
monitored, and adjustments made in future periods, if future
market activity indicates that such adjustments are appropriate.

The carrying amount of development costs on Computer and
Mobile Phone Software at 31 December 2024 was approximately
HK$112,862,000 (2023: HK$109,588,000) after an impairment
loss of approximately HK$Nil (2023: HK$6,638,000) was
recognised during the year. Details of the impairment review refer
to note 23.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘7|'\

SR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(d)

(e)

Estimated useful lives of intangible assets

The estimated useful lives of intangible assets reflect
management’s estimation on the Group’s intention to
derive future economic benefits from the intangible assets.
The management performs annual reviews of whether the
assumptions made of useful lives continue to be valid. When
useful lives of intangible assets are different from those previously
estimated, the amortisation charges for future periods will be
adjusted accordingly.

The carrying amount of intangible assets as at 31 December 2024
was approximately HK$112,862,000 (2023: HK$109,588,000).

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are stated
at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any.
In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to
exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(i) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may
affect the asset value; (i) whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of
value in use, the net present value of future cash flows which
are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and
(iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating
the recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and an
appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset (including right-of-
use assets), the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the assets belongs. Changing the
assumptions and estimates, including the discount rates or the
growth rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect
the recoverable amounts.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets as at 31 December 2024 were approximately
HK$5,000 (2023: HK$10,000) and approximately HK$311,000
(2023: HK$857,000). An impairment loss of approximately
HKS$NIl (2023: HK$559,000) was recognised on property,
plant and equipment during the year. No impairment loss was
recognised on right-of-use assets during the year (2023: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(f)

(¢)]

Fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI and financial
assets at FVTPL

The fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets
at FVTPL that are not traded in an active market are determined
by using valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgement to
select and consider information from a variety of sources and
make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions
existing at the end of each reporting period. Changes in these
estimates and assumptions could have a material effect on the
fair value of the financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at
FVTPL.

The carrying amount of financial assets at FVTOCI and financial
assets at FVTPL that are not traded in an active market at the
end of the reporting period were approximately HK$1,067,000
(2023: HK$1,013,000) and approximately HK$4,477,000 (2023:
HK$3,971,000) respectively.

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group uses practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using a provision matrix. The provision rates are
based on aging of debtors as groupings of various debtors
taking into consideration the Group’s historical default rates and
forward-looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes
in the forward-looking information are considered.

The management of the Group estimates the amount of
impairment loss for ECL on trade receivables based on the credit
risk of trade receivables. The amount of the impairment loss
based on ECL model is measured as the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition. Where the future cash flows are less than
expected, or being revised downward due to changes in facts
and circumstances, a material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of trade
receivables is approximately HK$9,404,000 (net of allowance
for doubtful debts of approximately HK$42,000) (2023:
HK$9,983,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of
approximately HK$114,000)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S A

17 O

SMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

(h)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the worldwide
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognised
liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

During the year, approximately HK$2,965,000 (2023:
HK$1,239,000) of income tax was charged to profit or loss
based on the estimated profit.

Business model assessment

Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on
the results of the solely payments of principal and interest and
the business model test. The Group determines the business
model at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are
managed together to achieve a particular business objective.
This assessment includes judgement reflecting all relevant
evidence including how the performance of the assets is
evaluated and their performance measured, the risks that affect
the performance of the assets and how these are managed and
how the managers of the assets are compensated. The Group
monitors financial assets measured at amortised cost or financial
assets at FVTOCI that are derecognised prior to their maturity to
understand the reason for their disposal and whether the reasons
are consistent with the objective of the business for which the
asset was held. Monitoring is part of the Group’s continuous
assessment of whether the business model for which the
remaining financial assets are held continues to be appropriate
and if it is not appropriate whether there has been a change in
business model and so a prospective change to the classification
of those assets. No such changes were required during the
periods presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign

currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.

The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the

unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(@

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in the functional currencies of the Group entities
and United States dollars (“US$”). The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign
currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group monitors
its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The effect of the strengthened or weakened of Hong Kong dollars
against US$ on the loss after tax is not significant.

Price risk

The Group’s financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets
at FVTPL are measured at fair value. Therefore, the Group is
exposed to equity security price risk due to the fluctuation of
share prices of financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at
FVTPL. The Directors review the exposure to the equity security
price risk on the financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at
FVTPL regularly.

If the share prices of the financial assets at FVTOCI and financial
assets at FVTPL increase/decrease by 10% (2023: 10%), the
other comprehensive income and profit (2023: loss) after tax for
the year would have been approximately HK$107,000 higher/
lower (2023: HK$101,000 lower/higher) and approximately
HK$2,292,000 higher/lower (2023: HK$1,931,000 lower/higher)
respectively, arising as a result of the fair value gain/loss of
the financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at FVTPL
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S A

17 O

SMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

(c)

Price risk (continued)

At 31 December 2024, the Group had concentration of equity
security price risk on one (2023: one) of its equity securities
investments which is classified as financial assets at FVTOCI
accounted for 100% (2023: 100%) of its financial assets at
FVTOCI and three (2023: three) of its listed investments which are
classified as financial assets at FVTPL accounted for 73% (2023:
78%) of its financial assets at FVTPL as at 31 December 2024.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its
obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract,
leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk
from its operating activities (primarily trade and other receivables)
and from its financing activities, including deposits with banks
and financial institutions and other financial instruments, foreign
exchange transactions and other financial instruments. The
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents and derivative financial assets is limited because
the counterparties are banks and financial institutions with high
credit-rating assigned by international credit-rating agencies, for
which the Group considers to have low credit risk.

Trade receivables

Credit risk is managed by each business unit subject to the
Group’s established policy, procedures and control relating to
customer credit risk management. Individual credit evaluations
are performed on all customers and service providers, requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customers’ and service providers’ past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer and service provider
as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer and service provider operate. Trade receivables are due
within 90 days from date of bilings negotiated on a case-by-case
basis. The directors are of the opinion that no further provision for
uncollectible receivables is required in the consolidated financial
statements. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral or
guarantee from customers and service providers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

At 31 December 2024, the Group had certain concentration of
credit risk as 87% (2023: 82%) of the trade receivables was due
from the Group’s largest debtor.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at
an amount equal to lifetime ECL which is calculated using a
provision matrix on individual segment. As the Group’s historical
credit loss experience does not indicate significantly different
loss patterns for different customer and services provider
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is not
further distinguished between the Group’s different customer
and service provider bases. The ECL on trade receivables are
estimated using a simplified method. The Group has assessed
that the ECL for trade receivables based on individually significant
customer and service provider or ageing of customers and
service providers collectively that are not individually significant.
According to different segments of the Group which include the
following:

= Research, development and distribution of computer
and mobile phone software and toolbar advertisement
(“Software Business”)

= Provision of corporate management solutions and I.T.
contract services (“Corporate Management Solutions and
|.T. Contract Services Business”)

- E-commerce which involves the operation of a business-
to-customer online sales platform, and business-to-
business product trading (“B2C Online Sales Platform and
B2B Product Trading Business”)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tn e M IS IR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE_Z_NFE+_A=1+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. MHBEEREIE @)
(c) Credit risk (continued) 0 EERK @
Trade receivables (continued) ESEKIE (B)
The following table provides information about the Group’s TREGRTAERAR S -_MNE+"A
exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade receivables as at 31 =+—BNEERBULE ZEKHREN
December 2024: TRHEERENER
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHARS I8 HREREE EEi8#EE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
Trade receivables 5 EKRRIE B FHET FAET
At 31 December 2024 R_E_mME+_B=+—H
Software Business BT
Not past due FREHA 0 8,664 -
Less than 1 month past due BT EE—EA 0 62 -
1 to 3 months past due B —Z==EH 0 64 -
More than 3 months but less AERABE=ESERBB
than 12 months past due +=@EA 0 5 -
Over 12 months past due AHPEE+ @A 0 15 -

Corporate Management Solutions and HT¥EERRAERENR

I.T. Contract Services Business FEHNRSER
Not past due FRiEHA 6.6 267 18
Less than 1 month past due BEArBB—EA 6.6 307 20
1 to 3 months past due mi—Z2=1EH 6.6 3 -
More than 3 months but less AHPBE = E A EFEE

than 12 months past due +E@A 6.6 59 4

9,446 42
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

BE"Z

SREMBHRRME

—ME+—BA=+—HILFE
CLETTAI)

6. MBEREE (B

Credit risk (continued) © EERKE @
Trade receivables (continued) ESEKIE (B)
The following table provides information about the Group’s TRERTAEBAN _ZE-_=F+=A4
exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade receivables as at 31 =+—BNEERBURE ZEKHREN
December 2023: TEREERENER
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FERARS I8 MRERmEE BB HE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
Trade receivables B 5 eI Bt FET FET
At 31 December 2023 RIZZ=F+ZHA=+—H
Software Business BT
Not past due AR 0 8,798 =
Less than 1 month past due AHAR BB —E A 0 79 =
1 to 3 months past due B —Z==EH 0 63 =
More than 3 months but less AERABE=ESERBB
than 12 months past due +=@EA 0 9 -
Over 12 months past due AHPEE+ @A 0 6 =
Corporate Management Solutions and HT¥EERRAERENR
L.T. Contract Services Business FEHNRSER
Not past due FRiEHA 8.7 223 19
Less than 1 month past due BEArBB—EA 8.8 191 17
1 to 3 months past due mi—Z2=1EH 10.0 572 57
More than 3 months but less AHPBE = E A EFEE
than 12 months past due +E@A 13.3 156 21
10,097 114
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over BEHEEBEDER_ZE-_NFE+"A
a period of 24 months before 31 December 2024 or 1 January =+—Hz JZ_:, “ME—B—HAI =+

2024 respectively. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences
between economic conditions during the period over which the
historical data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables.

ERMBMENEREELR EHNZEHX
R HL BB LU BRI L &2 FEE S B HA R O BY
RO R ~ B AR e B A [ R UGRROR
TR AFARNEERANEEZ BN E
o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S A

17 O

SMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)
Other financial assets at amortised cost

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, other financial assets at
amortised cost mainly include loan receivables from Jun Yang
Energy Holdings Limited (“Jun Yang Energy”), amounts due from
non-controlling interests of a subsidiary and other miscellaneous
receivables.

For loan receivables and other receivables, the management
performed assessment on the recoverability of the outstanding
balance periodically.

The Group had assessed lifetime ECL on the loan receivable
from Jun Yang Energy following the significant deterioration in the
operating results of Jun Yang Energy during the year ended 31
December 2018 which lead to a significant increase in credit risk.
Lifetime expected credit loss allowance for the loan receivables
from Jun Yang Energy of HK$27,230,000 was recognised in full
during the year ended 31 December 2018 as the management
assessed the ECL rate to be 100%. The management has
reassessed the lifetime ECL of loan from Jun Yang Energy, no
reversal on the allowance for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

For other receivables from Mr. Chan Sze Long at 31 December
2024, the Group assessed lifetime ECL throughout each
reporting period by past experience. The lifetime ECL of amount
due from Mr. Chan Sze Long is approximately HK$380,000
(2023: HK$578,000).

For amounts due from non-controlling interests of a subsidiary,
the management makes periodic collective assessments as well
as individual assessment on the recoverability of the receivables.
The Group has assessed that the ECL for these receivables are
not material under the 12-month expected credit losses method.
Thus no loss allowance provision was recognised during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

BE"Z

SREMBHRRME

—ME+—BA=+—HILFE
CLETTAI)

6. MBEREE (B

Credit risk (continued) © [EERKE @)
Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued) A ST BB EE ()
For other miscellaneous receivables, the management makes HREMBEEERKRZRIE EEBETHEZ
periodic collective assessments as well as an individual LRYGRIEMN A I E M ETTE % aTr EEZ
assessment on the recoverability of these receivables. No lifetime BAFE - BE_E_NER_T_=
expected credit loss allowance was recognised during the years +A=t+—HIEFEITE#EBEEFE
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. N TEREERREE-
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade and B 5 R AU IER B R H RN E M
other receivables is as follows: T
Other
receivables
from
Mr. Chan
Loan from Sze Long Other
Trade Jun Yang and Ms. Lim  miscellaneous
receivables Energy Wah Elsa receivables Total
®E
REBMATER
W ER WL TH Hithi1E
BRERTIE AERER  HtEkRE FEWRIE Eeh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAET TET TET TET
At 1 January 2023 R-B-=£—F—H 5,027 27,230 2,009 2,393 36,659
Written off ey (4,124) = = = (4,124)
Reversal | (789) - (335) - (1,124)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R-Z-Z=F£+-A=+—HK
—E-mE—-F-AH 114 27,230 1,674 2,303 31,411
Written off 6] - - (1,096) - (1,096)
Reversal b4 (72) - (198) - (270)
At 31 December 2024 RIZE-_NE+-A=+—H 42 27,230 380 2,393 30,045

The reversal of expected credit loss in B2C Online Sale Platform
and B2B Product Trading Business of approximately HKS$Nil
(2023: HK$732,000) and Corporate Management Solutions and
I.T. Contract Services Business of approximately HK$72,000
(2023: HK$57,000) were due to the settlement of long
outstanding receivables during the year.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group wrote
off other receivables from Ms. Lim Wah Elsa of approximately
HK$1,096,000 since a bankruptcy order was granted against
Ms. Lim Wah Elsa on 19 March 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tn e M IS IR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

BE_ENFE+_A=+—RALFE
BTN

I EARERE (8)

(c) Credit risk (continued) 0 EERK @
Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued) A ST BB MEE ()
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group wrote off BE_Z_=H+_"_A=+—HLEE>
trade receivables in B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product HRB2CHE LIH&E F & RB2BERE H %
Trading Business of approximately HK$4,124,000 since the BRI W E > AEEMEZSE
recoverability of these debts was remote. B 5 EURBR 494,124,000 7T
(d) Liquidity risk ) RBEERERE
Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible AEEANENCSEREEEAGNIR
for their own cash management, including the participation in TER GE2HAMERRETHNMESR
supplier finance arrangements with banks and the raising of loans FRBEERUECERNREERER &
to cover expected cash demands, subject to approval by the BB HE T AT IR K BIZEE
Directors of the Company when the borrowing exceed certain BARRBIEEH/E-
predetermined level of authority.
The Group’s objective and policy is to regularly monitor current AEMPBEKRBERATEREERRRTE
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains ARBREERE  URREREMIREH
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the BEREEPRERRSETRE-
short and longer term.
The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted cash AERZITEEHMEBERESOFRITIA
flows of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities is as follows: REeEREZ A HAOT :
Less than Between Between Over
1and2years 2and5 years 5 years Total
1526 256 HBiBsE axt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TERT
At 31 December 2024 RZE_ME+-BA=+-H
Trade and other payables B REMENTIE 9,659 - - - 9,659
Lease liabilities REAE 301 11 24 = 336
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=#+"A=+-H
Trade and other payables B REMENTIE 7,562 - - - 7,562
Lease liabilities HEAaR 635 292 - - 927
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(e)

(9)

Interest rate risk
At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s significant interest-

bearing assets and liabilities are bank deposits.

The Group’s interest income from bank deposits is dependent
on changes in market interest rates and will not have significant
adverse impact on the Group’s financial position.

The Group’s pledged bank deposits are at fixed interest rates and
therefore are subject to fair values interest rate risk.

Categories of financial instruments at 31 December

& A =
e MBI RMEE
HE-ZNE+"H=1+—HIEE
WETTEIN
6. HMBEAMKREIE @
) F=EER
RIEMFER_E_=F+"A=+—
H AEENEASEEERSBAIRTT
Fe
FEBBIRTERMNEBERABRE TS
EKEBHMME > W A E B B FE AR I
BBAARFFE
AEBNBERFIRITERIZEER =5t
B WAS AT EENEXRR

® A_E_ME+_B=+—HMER/

2024 TELER
2024 2023
—E-OE TET=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Financial assets: ERMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL: FEBBmUATFEBEYEDN
ERBEE
Mandatorily measured at FVTPL BEIEBBRUATEEFE
— Held for trading —FEEE 27,449 23,125
Financial assets as FVTOCI: FBHEMEEWENU A FEE
TR SRS E -

Equity instruments BATHR 1,067 1,013
Financial assets measured at amortised cost S At EM SR B E 92,280 94,951
Financial liabilities: THBaE:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost BRI ENEMERE 9,659 7,562
Lease Liabilities HE&aE 328 879

Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of financial
position approximate their respective fair values.

@ =»¥EE

FERGREHVBERNEATEMEERE
REENRAEERAZENAFEER
%O
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tn e M IS IR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value
measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three

levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs:

Level 2 inputs:

Level 3 inputs:

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can
access at the measurement date.

inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly.

unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out
of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in
circumstances that caused the transfer.

(@) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31

HE S NFE+_A=1+—HILEFE
BTN

7. ATEEHE

ATBERTHE2REZBANRFAERBHEAFR
ZHPHEBEERWRNEERRRSIHNER-
TXREERAATEBESRFENLTEE B
FEtBRATEENGER ZBARBRILS A=
(EELEIN
E—HRBARE: FTEBRURFEHHEUH
HREENERNIEED
HRE RIEHEE) -
BTRBARE . HEAHEENEESI&R
FIRERARE MEFE—
RETEIERRE -
BZMBARE: BEIAEENTARER
N ST

AEBNBRSEDHEEREENSEHRET
BERVER = ER BB A KRB LB

@ MR+ZA=+—HBNATEESFRIK

December: 23
Fair value measurement using: Total
ATEEFEFRRABAR : st
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2024
F—R BT F=H FTI@EE
Description HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
H#15 FHET FET FET FHET
Recurring fair value measurements: EEMAFEEHE :
Financial assets THMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL EREmUATEE
TR EREE
Listed equity securities EHRAES 22,972 - 4,476 27,448
Unlisted equity securities JE LR AE S = = 1 1
Financial assets at FVTOCI FEBEMEE W E
MAFEETRN
TREE
Unlisted equity securities JEEmRAES - - 1,067 1,067
Total st 22,972 - 5,544 28,516
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR & M ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

BE_ T UG+ _HA=1+—HLFE

CLETTAI)

7. ATEESE @

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 @ MRI+ZBA=1+t—HHNATEEEFRIE
December: (continued) BE.®
Fair value measurement using: Total
N EESEFMARER st
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2023
F—1 S8 F=k T-=F
Description HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
3 FHET FET FET FET
Recurring fair value measurements: EEMAEEEHE :
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BE@iBm AT EE
FERI SR B
Listed equity securities A 19,154 = 3,970 23,124
Unlisted equity securities JE LM RRARE = = 1 1
Financial assets at FVTOCI FEBHEHMEE W E
AT EETIRN
THMEE
Unlisted equity securities JE LT RRARE - - 1,013 1,013
Total st 19,154 - 4,984 24,138

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

REEZZE_NFR_ZEZ=F+2"A
=+—HEFE E—HR - FIBRE=

Rz R meE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 7.
(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based (b)
on Level 3:

HE S NFE+_A=1+—HILEFE

CLETAIm)

Financial assets at

ATEESE @

2024
—E_NE

RIFB=RBEATEEFENEES
iR

FVTOCI Financial assets at FVTPL
BREMZEEN
ATEEFIERA EaEEU
EHEE ATFEEFIRNERHEE
Unlisted Listed Unlisted
equity equity equity
securities securities securities
LT i JEETH
A zE % WA E S R &S
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FTET FTET
At 1 January 2024 RIEZME—F—H 1,013 3,970 1
Total gains recognised RTFEERINNREE
~ in profit or loss ® —H8&" - 506 -
— in other comprehensive income —-Eth2EkE 54 - -
At 31 December 2024 RIZ-WE+-B=+—H 1,067 4,476 1
® Included in other gains and (losses) ® SFAE MG K (B518)

RHERZERBRAT 202458



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR & M ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based

on Level 3: (continued)

BE_ T UG+ _HA=1+—HLFE
CLETTAI)

7. ATEESE @

b) REF=HRBATEEFENEEH

iR (8

2023
TBT=E

Financial assets at

FVTOCI Financial assets at FVTPL
FRHEM2EE M
NFEETRN EdEE
TREE NTEEYRNEREE
Unlisted Listed Unlisted
equity equity equity
securities securities securities
JFLEm s LM
R FE 5 A FE 5 B AFE 5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TER
At 1 January 2023 RZE-_=F—-F—H 1,040 3,885 1
Total gains/(losses) recognised RRFEERINKE /(518
1aE
—in profit or loss —1BHE" - 85 -
~ in other comprehensive income —HEtzEKE @27) = =
At 31 December 2023 RIBZ=F
+ZA=+—H 1,013 3,970 1
® Included in other gains and (losses) @ sFAE MR K (B518)

The total gains/(losses) recognised in other comprehensive
income are presented in fair value changes of equity instruments
at FVTOCI in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

The total gains/(losses) recognised in profit or loss including those
for assets held at end of reporting period are presented in other
gains and losses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

REMEERGERNE (518 858
RixGiEm AEMEERERPEBHEMM

EEREURFEEIRNRETARF
BEEH2S)-

REEERH R (5518 MESERR
SHIRFFEE  RiFGaRmRPHEMUE
mRESIEZ2S
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A
7 =

5 8 R B o

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(c)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2024:

The Group’s management is responsible for the fair value
measurements of assets and liabilities required for financial
reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value measurements.
The management reviews the fair value measurements at least
once a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally
engage external valuation experts with the recognised
professional qualifications and recent experience to perform the

valuations.

Key unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value measurements
are mainly:

- risk free rate (estimated based on zero coupon rate)

= yield spread (estimated based on certain comparable
bonds)

- expected volatility (estimated based on historical volatility)

= dividend vyield (estimated based on no dividends will be
paid in the near future)

= present value of expected future share price (estimated
based on dividend yield is zero)

S probability-weighted profit

= discount factor

HHERZERBERAT 202458

BE_ENFE+_A=+—RALFE

CLETAIm)

7.

ATEESE @

()

WEARERWR S _ME+_8
=+—HFrR&HERER  HEST &
AT EEFT=FREAZIE .

FEBMEEES ANV BREETHARTE
ERBENATEEFTE (BBEF=ZRA

TRENE) - EREEEED—RBHA
TRENE

MEBE=ZMATEEFEMS  AEE KR
EEAERIRTEXERBATRGHERSRE
BIIMNBEEZSK

BZMATEBEAEMAIETIRER
ABBI2EE:
— ERREANEX REZERXRME)

— WS REE TR RESE
)

—  TEEIKOIE (RIRESERIBMEET)

- REX REFABRTERNRE
féstt)

—  FEHRRRENRE REZREX
{5t

—  FIREMMAET

-  BMERER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR & M ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE_ZNFE+"/A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) CLETTAI)
7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 7. ATEEHE @
(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group (0 HEEAEER-ZZHWOFE+ZAH
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value =+—HFR®ERR  HERITX
measurements at 31 December 2024: (continued) ANFEBEFTEFMREARE | (@
Level 3 fair value measurements B=RAFIBEE
Effect on fair
value for increase Carrying amount Fair value
Description Valuation technique Inputs Range  of inputs 2024 2024
BABEEN REME ATEE
it e HABE HE HATEEMNFE —EomE —EomE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FHT

Financial assets at FVTPL
FRBEUATERYR

NEmEE
- Listed equity securities  Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.057  Increase 4,476 4,476
Return on relevant 8%  Increase
market index
Liuidity discount 15%  Decrease
— FRAHES Bk KB 00578 &M
BT BEHER 8% 1M
MEMTRE 8% "D
- Unlisted equity Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.167  Increase 1 1
securities Return on relevant (65.42%)  Increase
market index
Liquidity discount 35%  Decrease
—JELmRAES Bk RE 01678 1B
TR SEEER (65.42%) 1810
MEMTRE 3% HD
Financial assets at FVTOCI
BEREMZANGENAT
BEIENEREE
- Unlisted equity Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.167  Increase 1,067 1,067
securities Return on relevant (65.42%)  Increase
market index
Liquidity discount 35%  Decrease
—JEEmkAES H(EE KB 01678 &M
BB mBEHER (55.42%) 1210
MENMATIRE 3% AL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

BE_ENFE+_A=+—RALFE

(UETEAIT)
7. AFEESE G

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group (0 HEEAEEWR-ZZWOFE+ZAH
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value =+—HFR*ERER EHER A
measurements at 31 December 2024: (continued) ANFEEFEFMREARE . (@
Level 3 fair value measurements (continued) BoRAFEEE (B
Effect on fair
value for increase Carrying amount Fair value
Description Valuation technique  Inputs Range  of inputs 2023 2023
BAHEEM REE ATEE
Hik hERds BARE #E HATEENYE it -t
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FER
Financial assets at FVTPL
BBRBHEUATEEIR
NEmEE
- Listed equity securities  Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.057  Increase 3970 3970
Return on relevant (1.83%)  Increase
market index
Liuidity discount 15%  Decrease
— FRAHES Bk KB 00578 &M
BT BEHER (1.83%)  1&m
MEMTRE 8% "D
- Unlisted equity Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.167  Increase 1 1
securities Return on relevant (62.78%)  Increase
market index
Liquidity discount 35%  Decrease
—JELmRAES Bk RE 01678 1B
TR SEEER (62.78%) &1
MEMTRE 3% HD
Financial assets at FVTOCI
BEREMZANGENAT
BEIENEREE
- Unlisted equity Index return method ~ Share price HK$0.167  Increase 1,013 1,013
securities Return on relevant (62.78%)  Increase
market index
Liquidity discount 35%  Decrease
—JEEmkAES H(EE KB 01678 &M
BB mBEHER (62.78%) 1210
MENMATIRE 3% AL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR & M ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

8.

REVENUE

(a)

Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by

service line for the year is as follows:

BE_ T UG+ _HA=1+—HLFE
CLETTAI)

8. WA
@ WAES

FRRRBEIDNZRENRANT :

2024 2023
ZETE —EI=HF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Revenue from contracts with customers A& B FEIRE D) F159F
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HBEANETRSHKA
Sales of computer and mobile phone SHE B R REN B LUK
software and toolbar advertisement TERES 83,019 81,847
Provision of corporate management REPEEERMAFTER
solutions and I.T. contract services BRI S0RBER
business 21,319 10,391
E-commerce which involves the operation TEHEEERLHEFAR
of a business-to-customer online sales TrEHTPEERESEEN
platform, and the business-to-business BTFEH
product trading - 122
104,338 92,360
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

u‘7|'\

SMBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

8. REVENUE (continued)

(a

Disaggregation of revenue (continued)

HE-T

—ME+"A=+—HIEFE

BTN

8. WA (®

@

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and
services over time and at a point in time in the following major

product lines and geographical regions:

Corporate Management Solutions and

WARISD (B)

FEBMUUTEEERGIMIER I —
BEBREERSERERERRRBES
WA

B2C Online Sales Platform and

Software Business 1T. Contract Services Business B2B Product Trading Business Total
HE
For the year ended +ZRA=+-H TEEBRARER BXHLHETAR
31 December LLEE RiEER AR AHREER BBEREREHK szt
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
13 . “EomE I . ZECmE it e - 1 TBCF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000
TiEr TEn TiEn TER TR TEn TER TEn
Primary geographical markets ~ +EHE 17
- United States -2 37,607 36,090 - = - 1 37,607 36,091
- Hong Kong 5% 298 450 21,319 10,391 - 9 21,617 10,850
- United Kingdom ~5f 5,968 5,626 - o - = 5,968 5,626
- Brazl -EA 4140 4 - - - - 4140 4
- Germany -8 4,038 5,131 - - - - 4,038 5,131
- Canada -mgx 3,058 2832 - - - - 3,058 2832
- Australia B 2730 2,659 - = - = 2,730 2,659
- Japan -Bx 23871 2823 - - - - 2,387 2823
- Netherlands ~fi# 1,728 1,782 - S - > 1,128 1,782
- Mainland China ~HERH 579 576 - - - - 579 576
- Others - 20,486 19,157 - - - 112 20,486 19,269
Segment revenue fom extemel - SAREEAHMA
customers 83,019 81,847 21,319 10,391 - 122 104,338 92,360
Timing of revenue recognition I AR5
Products and senvices ransferred  ERRFHIE—HE
atapoitintine L ER 8,019 81,847 15,784 6461 - 12 98,603 88430
Products and senvces transfered  ERRRER—HEH
over time RS R - - 5,535 3930 - - 5,535 3930
Total &t 83,019 81,847 21,319 10,391 - 122 104,338 92,360
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024

SREMBHRRME

BE_ T UG+ _HA=1+—HLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
8. REVENUE (continued) 8. KA (@&
(b) Transaction price allocated to the remaining b) PEEFFENFGRENETENRS

performance obligation for contracts with customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December
2024 and the expected timing of recognising revenue as follows:

B

RIE_NE+_A=+—HBoEEF &
BHEME RETHARDRET NRXZE
R FBEAM A RSB REIUNE

Sale of goods

I.T. contract services

HEGR EREE ]
2024 2023 2024 2023
“TTWE ZZI=HF ZETOE —TT=fF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FHET
Within one year R—ER 225 225 593 432
More than one year but not more  HBB—EBFBBME

than two years - 15 129
More than two years BB M - 12 =

225 225 620 561

9. OTHER INCOME 9. HfthlgA

2024 2023

—E_mE —EI=F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET FET

Bank interest income IRITHBUA 359 1,666
Dividend income SN ON 241 231
Rebate from a supplier KE—SHEH LN - 419
Sundry income B A 426 215
1,026 2,531
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

10. OTHER GAINS AND (LOSSES), NET

BE_ENFE+_A=+—RALFE

CLETAIm)

10. EHfthkzm K (§518) > B5E

2024 2023
—EIME kS
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Foreign exchange loss, net FEREIE FEE (245) (35)
Realised and unrealised gain/(loss) on financial BEEBmIUAFEEY RN SR
assets at FVTPL BECERERRER
e (B518) 5,045 (1,109)
Impairment loss on goodwill (note 22) EEREEE (fPE22) - (18,000)
Impairment loss on intangible asset (note 23) ‘BT EE ZREEE (15E23) - (6,638)
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment ¥ % B E R 52 2 BEEE
(note 20) (Fft££20) - (559)
4,800 (26,341)
11. SEGMENT REPORTING 11. PDEPERSE

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised
by a mixture of both business lines and geographical locations. In
a manner consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment, the
Group has four (2023: four) reportable segments.

- Software Business
- Securities Investment (“Securities Investment Business”)

- Corporate Management Solutions and |.T. Contract Services
Business

- B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B Product Trading Business

HHERZERBERAT 202458

FEBZRMPIEEAES HEFERMER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(a)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as those described in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

— Segment profit/(loss) represented profit earned by/
(loss from) each segment without allocation of central
administration costs, finance costs and income tax
expense.

- Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets
and current assets with the exception of other corporate
assets.

- Segment liabilities include all current and non-
current liabilities with the exception of accrued central
administration costs and liabilities.

Inter-segment revenue is priced with reference to prices charged
to external customers for similar orders.

SREMBHRRME

BE_ T UG+ _HA=1+—HLFE

CLETTAI)

1. DEERS (@)

@

DEFEE-BERER

EEH B2 B HBED R A M BEREN
AR E AR o

REEDBRRRAEDBZENER :

-  FRIoEEF, (B8 HELE
DI RITEA A BRE AL A K PR
BMFA T 25885 8 FF BEUE
A/ (HIRESIE) -

- DHEEQEMBALEE BT
BEERMRDEE EABEAME

- DNEEEEEmMAERSAIERSE
B ERBIEEE R RITEAER
affe

DEEWRATISERBALETERSIRZ R
WERRIERREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

m?l'\

SMBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11.

(a

SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 1. DEHRS @)
Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) (@ PHEE - BEREE B
An analysis of the Group's reportable segment results, assets and BREDPHHAEEANREDTEE - E
liabilities by reportable segment is as follows: ERBEIHOT
Corporate
Management B2C Online
Solutionsand  Sales Platform
Securities L.T. Contract and B2B
Software Investment Services  Product Trading
Business Business Business Business Total
TRER B2CHL
BARER HETAR
BARRAES B2BER
REEE  ESREER e Ba%% @t
2024 2024 2024 2024 2024
ZZImE ZZImE ZEImE ZEImE ZEImE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TR TER
Revenue KA
Revenue from external customers SRERBA 83,019 - 21,319 - 104,338
Results 25
Segment results NHEE 19,785 5,193 353 (988) 24,343
Reconciliation: HER .
Interest income FIBBA 359
Unallocated amounts FAEEE
- Foreign exchange gain -ERNE 107
- Reversal of impairment loss on other receivables —~EfENEIE R ESBEE 198
- Corporate expenses —(E¥EY (14,799)
Proft from operations =gl 10,208
Finance costs HERA (45)
Profit before tax PR AT AR 10,163
Income tax expense FrigiiS (2,965)
Profit for the Year KEERR 7,198

HE-T

“E+ T A=+—HIEFE
(L/(/%TE@J/ \)

RHERZERBRAT 202458




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR & M ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_ZE ME+_RA=+—HILEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 1. DEHRS @)
(@) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) @@ DHEE BEREEGE
An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment results, assets and BRREDHHBAEEANRSDHEE &
liabilities by reportable segment is as follows: (continued) ERBEATNT | (@
Corporate
Management B2C Online
Solutionsand  Sales Platform
Securities L.T. Contract and B2B
Software Investment Services  Product Trading
Business Business Business Business Total
LEER B2CH L
BARER HETER
EfHEEH BBER
REEE  ESREER PR Ba%% st
2024 2024 2024 2024 2024
ZZImE ZZImE ZEImE ZEImE ZEImE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TET TR TR
Assets BE
Segment assets NHEE 172,361 20,426 18,374 17,074 237,235
Reconciliation: HiE:
Unallocated assets FOEEE
— Property, plant and equipment W& BERRE 5
- Right-of-use assets —~FEREE 311
~ Tradle and other receivables -BRREMENE 740
- Cash and cash equivalents -RERREEEN 39,814
Total assets BERE 278,105
Liabilities af
Segment liabities ABaE 50,491 60 3,309 375 54,235
Reconciliation: HiR:
Unallocated liabilties FAEGR
- Trade and other payables -BSREMELTE 2,316
- Lease liabiities -HE&E 328
Total liabilities BEEE 56,879
Other segment information: HitH &k
Amortisation of intangible assets BN EESE (38,309) - - - (38,309)
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment N BERRBERE - - @ = @
Realised and unrealised gain on FRERUATERIIEN
financial assets at FVTPL HEECERRRERNG - 5,045 - - 5,045
Legal and professional fees EEREEER (268) @ (14) (@ (290)
Reversal of impalrment loss on trade receivables BRRWERS 2 AESEEED - - 72 - 72
Staff costs ETHA (3,560) - (2,208) (890) (6,658)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘7|'\

SR RME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11.

(a

BHE_Z

e+ A=+—HIEFE
BTN

SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 1. DEHRS @)
Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) (@ PHEE - BEREE B
An analysis of the Group's reportable segment results, assets and BREDPHHAEEANREDTEE - E
liabilities by reportable segment is as follows: (continued) ERBEATNT | (@
Corporate
Management B2C Online
Solutions and Sales Platform
Securities |.T. Contract and B2B
Software Investment Senvices  Product Trading
Business Business Business Business Total
TEEE B2CA L
BARER HETAR
EGEEr) B2BER
hER  ESREER RHER BREH st
2023 2023 2023 2023 2023
ZEC=F ZEC=F 3°=f k-t k-t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TER
Revenue KA
Revenue from external customers SREEUMA 81,847 - 10,391 122 92,360
Results 25
Segment results e 6382) (044) 483 079 ©821)
Reconciliation: HER .
Interest income FIS KA 1,666
Unallocated amounts FAEEE
- Reversal of impairment loss on other receivables - EtEKEIE R EREED 335
- Corporate expenses —(h¥ME% (12,176)
Loss from operations REFE (19,99)
Finance costs MERE (100
Loss before tax BRAEERE (20,09)
Income tax expense s (1,239
Loss for the year KEEFE (21,335)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR & M ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 11.

BE_ T UG+ _HA=1+—HLFE
CLETTAI)

(@ Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment results, assets and
liabilities by reportable segment is as follows: (continued)

DEbERE (8
@ SWEE -BERER @

BREDMEAERNBREDMEE E

ERBEIFUT (@

Corporate
Management B2C Online
Solutions and Sales Platform
Securities |.T. Contract and B2B
Software Investment Services  Product Trading
Business Business Business Business Total
DEER BoCHE
BARER HETAR
BHREEY B2BE®R
nEER  ESREER RHBER EDES it
2023 2023 2023 2028 2023
B g B cf EI=f FCE “ECE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TER
Assets BE
Segment assets NHEE 171,274 24,649 12,025 11,275 219,223
Reconciliation: Bk
Unallocated assets FAREE
- Property, plant and equipment S EN T 8
- Right-of-use assets -PREEE 857
~Tracle and other receivables -BRREMENE 579
- Cash and cash equivalents -RERFLEEN 52279
Total assets BERE 272,946
Liabilities aff
Segment liabilities AHEE 48,018 60 3,325 386 51,789
Reconciliation: B
Unallocated liabilties FAEER
- Trade and other payables -BARAMENTE 1,004
- Lease liabiities -HEGRE 879
Total liabilities IR 53,672
Other segment information: HitH gk
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESH (40,696) - - - (40,69)
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment NE BEREZENE S S () = ()
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL FRBEm AT EESRN
LHEENATEEFE - (1,109) - - (1,109)
Legal and professional fees FRNEEER (116) - 1) 43) (200)
Reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables BoENERR 2 AESERR - - 57 732 789
Impairment loss on goodwil BEZAAERR (18,000) - - - (18,000)
Impairment loss on intangible asset B EEZRESR (6,638) - - - (6,638)
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment ¥ -BERREZABSE - - - (559) (559)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tn e M IS IR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

11.

SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

BE_Z ST _RA=1+—HLFE

BTN

1. DEEwS (8

(b) Geographical information b) HEER
The following table sets out information about the geographical THRHEFBREANAEBRBINAZTH W
location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external customers and (i) AR()VEEENYE -BERRLRE FH
the Group’s property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, BEE - BEEERBE ((FEFERBE
intangible assets and goodwill (‘specified non-current assets”). El) NHEER - WANMEBUEDUR
The geographical location of revenue is based on the location of PRUEBERIEEBRBNUERBREHTE
customers and location of service rendered. The geographical ERBEENMIBEUERRIEEESKEMN
location of the specified non-current assets is based on the BUE WBYE BMERRERERAES
physical location of the asset, in the case of property, plant B RESHREBNUE WEETEEK
and equipment and right-of-use assets and the location of the HE) EE-
operation to which they are allocated, in the case of intangible
assets and goodwill.
Revenues from Specified
external customers non-current assets
SRERUA BEERBEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
“EomE "o -fF 0 ZEZRE _"Z-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET FEx FHET
United States ESE| 37,607 36,091 - -
Hong Kong oy 21,617 10,850 155,703 152,980
United Kingdom [ 5,968 5,626 - =
Braz aaFi 4,140 4,771 - -
Germany =R 4,038 5,131 - =
Canada JIEDN 3,058 2,832 - -
Australia Pl 2,730 2,659 - =
Japan SN 2,387 2,823 - =
Netherlands i 1,728 1,732 - =
Mainland China FRED Ayt 579 576 - -
Others Hth 20,486 19,269 - -
104,338 92,360 155,703 152,980
(c) Information about major customers 0 EBERAFXFERFNER

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no individual
customer contributes over 10% of the total revenue of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR & M ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE_ T UG+ _HA=1+—HLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
12. FINANCE COSTS 12. BERE
2024 2023
—EE “ET=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Interest expenses on lease liabilities (note 21) HEaBZFERE (sEe1) 45 48
Interest on other borrowings HhEHF 8 = 52
45 100

13.

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax has been arrived at after charging/

13. BRMALEF (B518)

AEBERRAAET, (B8 210K GTA) W0

(crediting) the following: T
2024 2023
ZEME 2 =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
(a)  Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration): (@) BT
(BEEEWS) !
Salaries, wages and other benefits e ITEREMET 14,334 11,588
Retirement scheme contributions BRRETEIMHERR 394 468
14,728 12,056
(b)  Others items: () HMIER:
Amortisation of intangible assets* B E 38,309 40,696
Auditor’s remuneration TZ B BTN =
— Audit services - BIZRFE 1,100 1,000
— Non-audit services - IEBIZIRTS 160 498
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment ME--BERZEITE 5 69
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FEREEERTE 594 659
Impairment loss on goodwill¥ &R E g E - 18,000
Impairment loss on intangible asset* mILEEZ BERE - 6,638
Impairment loss on property, ME-BERKREZ
plant and equipment* BB B - 559
Reversal of impairment loss on trade and B 5 KR EAMERRIB
other receivables BB E D (270) (1,124)

Included in other gains and (losses)

Included in administrative expenses

STAEMRE K (518

STAITER X
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_Z ST _RA=1+—HLFE

CLETAIm)

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 14. FREMAX
(@  Income tax recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or @ HEBEERANCEDBHNATERE:
loss represents:
2024 2023
ZTIMNEFE —B=H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Current tax EHRNIE
- Hong Kong Profits Tax —EEBFER
Provision for the year (note (i) REEEE (HEE) 2,249 1,618
Under-provision in respect of prior years BEFERERE 19 166
— Withholding tax (note (ii)) —Faing GEEk) 157 150
2,425 1,934
Deferred tax (note 33(a)) IRIERIE (MI5E33(a)) 540 (695)
2,965 1,239
note ():  Under the two-tiered profits tax regime, the first HK$2 million of MIEEG):  REMAFFERENE  REBRIL
profits of the qualifying group entity established in Hong Kong NEEREBRERINE2,000,000#
will be subject to a tax rate of 8.25%, and profits above that TCim A i IA8.25% M IR R AR » M8
amount will be subject to the tax rate of 16.5%. The profits of BZEEEZ R AR LL16.5% MR =
the Group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profit tax rate oA amBREFERHIEZER
regime will continue to be taxed at a rate of 16.5%. BRNENREEZ16.5%NMER
o
Under the law of the PRC Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT REBEPEAREMNBECEMBERZE
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the (T EFEBRE) REEMBERE
relevant tax rate for the subsidiary in the PRC is 25%. However, BHEG > PEMNE AT NERRE
no provision was made for the financial years ended 31 #25% © AT > AN A FEM B AR E
December 2024 and 2023 as the subsidiary incurred tax loss EREFE - WEEREE_ZS N
for the years. FERZZEZ=F+ZA=+—HLWLH
BEEEHEE-
Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the appropriate BN B ABIMNRIEN IR AERE
current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant countries in which BAEARBBERNIRE A6 2B
the Group operates based on existing legislation, interpretation 1BEZBIRITERNRESE -
and practices in respect thereof.
note (i):  Withholding tax, regarding the external sales for which MIEE(): MEAUREBRINE L ETINAHEE
customers are located outside Hong Kong, is charged at the Ff R FBIIM bR R B RBERIRITE
appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in relevant countries. AREAE-
LHBERIERBRAT 20245%F5R



For the year ended 31 December 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE"Z

SREMBHRRME

—ME+—BA=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

CLETTAI)

14.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

()

14. FRISMAXZ (@)

The reconciliation between income tax expense and the product b) FrIEREXZARRANERN, (B18) FTIUE
of profit/(loss) before tax multiplied by the applicable tax rates is FAME[|HEZHIRWT :
as follows:
2024 2023
—E-E ZEI=HF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Profit/(loss) before tax BRIETEA], (B518) 10,163 (20,096)
Notional tax charge/(credit) on loss before IR EA16.5% 5T HHI BRI AT
tax, calculated at the rate of 16.5% EBERERIERY (E%R) 1,677 (3,316)
Income tax on concessionary rate REBEMEFENMENR (165) (165)
Tax effect of income that is not taxable BERRUBANREZE (221) (1,255)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible < 5] #1388 2 FIFR 75 52 £ 462 3,306
Tax effect of temporary differences RERYREENREE
not recognised (1,454) 170
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised R FER K AR B A B IR 75 5o £ 2,542 2,239
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not B IBE KRR RIEGIENRTE
previously recognised - (52) (54)
Under-provision in respect of prior years BEFERERR 19 166
Withholding tax TEINiR 157 150
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries WEABREMENFTE -* )
Income tax expense PRSI 2,965 1,239
* Represents amount less than HK$1,000. * $5/0 71,0008 TTHI 258
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tn e M IS IR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE_ZNFE+"A=+—HIEFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
15. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 15. mEFEAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2023: two) of FRaReFMATER Efhme (CTE2Z=
them are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 16. The FWB) B )\i%%% M‘:EEE’\WDEW
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the remaining three (2023: I EE o T %H‘Af% (CEBEZ=F =) BB
three) highest paid individuals are as follows: N LHVEN AR EE -
2024 2023
o111 - —B=H%
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
Salaries and other emoluments e REMBE 2,962 2,757
Retirement scheme contributions BIRETEIERR 54 54
3,016 2,811
The emoluments of the three (2023: three) individuals with the highest =% (CEI=F:=%) R A TSN
emoluments are within the following bands: TRTHEHE :
2024 2023
—E_[mF =
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A AN
HKS$NIl to HK$ 1,000,000 Z B 721,000,000 70 1 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 77t % 1,500,00078 7T 2 1
3 3
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no emoluments BHEZNERZZEZI=HF+"A=+—HIk
were paid by the Group to any of the highest paid individuals as an FE > AEBFATEAEMARS A LA
inducement to join the Group, or as compensation for loss of office HENEAIIA R EE N RZENS(EA BB /HE -

during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a)

Directors’ remuneration

The remuneration of each director was as follows:

SREMBHRRME

BETUE+"A=+—HIFE
CLETTAI)

16. EFEF Mg
(@ EFHEN

BREEHMOT

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
HEAREEE (FRATADHERBARTER) BEEHRRKNHE

Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors’ benefits Discretionary  Share based scheme 2024
fees in kind bonuses payments contributions Total
HrE 2R BARg 1R —EmE
EENE BYF = HEBTEAL AERMZM RAGEIHER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET THET THET
Executive directors RTES
Mr. Wong Jing Shong BEERE - 1,368 208 - 18 1,594
Mr. Lau Siu Cheong 2kERE - 1,188 188 - 18 1,394
Independent non-executive directors BUEHITES
Mr. Chan Yung BRERE 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei HEELE 120 - - - - 120
Ms. Wong Chi Yan BEERut 120 - - - - 120
360 2,556 396 - 36 3,348
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(continued)

(@) Directors’ remuneration (continued)

BHE_Z

—ME+"A=+—HIEFE

BTN

16. EFENRED (@)

EEHM (@

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

FEAREEE FRAFAFHENBATEY BHEEARRENHE

Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors’ benefits  Discretionary  Share based scheme 2023
fees in kind bonuses payments  contributions Total
A 1) Lt “ZC=F
ik BNFG MEETEA AERNZA  RAGEIER &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TER TR TR TR
Executive directors HiTESR
Mr. Wong Jing Shong BiE2EE - 1,248 - - 18 1,266
Mr. Lau Siu Cheong kEERE - 1,128 180 - 18 1,326
Independent non-executive directors B FHITES
Mr. Chan Yung RELE 120 - - - = 120
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei MERIESEE 120 - - - - 120
Ms. Wong Chi Yan BEEBLt 120 - - - - 120
360 2,376 180 - 36 2,952

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any director
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

No director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

HHERZERBERAT 202458
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

16. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company and the director’s
connected party had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors of the Company received any termination
benefits during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

The Company did not pay consideration to any third parties for
making available directors’ services during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, bodies corporate
controlled by entities connected with such directors

As at 31 December 2024, there are no loans, quasi-loans or
other dealings in favour of the directors, their controlled bodies
corporate and the directors’ connected entities (2023: None).

SREMBHRRME

BE_ T UG+ _HA=1+—HLFE

CLETTAI)

16. EFENRED (@)

(b)

()

(d)

(e)

EENX S ZHREGHUNEAEDR

QB EEET I B R S A AE R B
BMEN BAEREFAEMMALADESR
REZEZHEANTERIEREESEAR
TENEARRZ ZHHEH -

EEREEN

BE_Z_MER_ZFE_=ZF+2-A8
=+—HLEFE BIBEXRBEFWRE
I BEERER]

MESEFRBMAS=SRERE

BE_Z_MER_ZFE_=ZF+2-A8
St —HLEFEE ARBUERESES
RBMEERE =R RE-

ERREERAZSTESTEMENE
BRFTIERI R AR M AR EEMEK
ETHMZZHER

ACE_NE+_BA=+—H HERE
B HESMN AR R EESNREERIRM
B EBERRETEMRZ (ZTT=

Fifmo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

17. DIVIDENDS

The Directors have recommended the cash payment of a final dividend
of HK$0.002 per share and a special dividend of HK$0.028 per share,
totalling HK$0.030 per share, in an aggregate amount of approximately
HK$13,333,000 (2023: HK$NIil), for the year ended 31 December 2024,
subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

BE_ENFE+_A=+—RALFE

OUBTEEIT)
17. K2

EEESEUBRSRNHEE_Z-_NE+A
—+—BUEFEZFREKREESRC.002EBTES
B EERR0.02878 70 & HEMR0.03078 7T 4B %8
#9713,333,0008 7 (CE =5 T8 5) - A
HRENRERRREFEAS HHE-

18. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 18. SREF) (518
(a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share @ ESRELEF (1B
The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share is based on ERELAEBN, (BB DREAFEARD
the profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company and the BEAANEGEN, (B8 REETEB
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the RERY N I BB GT &
year.
2024 2023
—EIEE . S
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
Profit/(loss) wRL (E518)
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the KABHEB ANEHRTL (B518)
Company and profit/(loss) for the purpose of RBESTEESRELRRT]
calculating basic earnings/(loss) per share (&18) FER] (8518) 2,151 (23,415)
’000 ‘000
TR A&
Number of shares KHER
Weighted average number of ordinary shares RIEstEESREARRA], (518)
for the purpose of calculating basic earnings/ REBRINETERE
(loss) per share 444,448 444,448
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (HK cents) BREART (BB B 0.48 (5.27)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (continued)
(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share
No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings/(loss) per
share for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, as the

Company did not have any outstanding dilutive potential ordinary
shares during the years.

19. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Tax effects relating to each item of other comprehensive income for the

SREMBHRRME

BE_ T UG+ _HA=1+—HLFE
CLETTAI)

18.

19.

SREY (B @

(b) ERBEERY (B
HRSE_ S _NER_S_=F+_A4
=+—BHLEEEXARTABETMASETE
EHEZEKR M ERABRZEEENS
REARF] (Ei8) o

Hith2mas

FEEHAMEERDSEEAMINBLE

year:
2024 2023
—ZomE —E-zE
Before tax Tax Net of tax Before tax Tax Net of tax
amount expenses amount amount expenses amount
G TR RERZ G35k ] IS B IiaeE
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TERT TERT TiET TiET THET
Financial assets at FVTOCI FBEM2 ARG
AT BEETIRMN
EHMEE
Fair value changes ATEEES
~ Equity instruments -BATA 54 - 54 @7 - @n
Exchange differences on translation of T &SN B AR B H R E
financial statements of overseas EEMNERES
subsidiaries 28 - 28 27 - 27
82 - 82 - - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BE_ENFE+_A=+—RALFE
BTN

20. ME - -BEKRSZE

Computer
Leasehold Office hardware and Motor
improvements equipment software vehicle Total
HEmE WAE B
% RfE REH RE EH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TER TAnr TER TAR
Cost %
At 1 January 2023 RZE-_=&—HF—H 316 282 2,162 - 2,750
Additions RE - 8 - - 8
Exchange adjustment ERBER - 5 (19) = (19
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RIEZ=F+"F=1+—H
RZZE-mE-F— 316 290 2,133 - 2,739
Exchange adjustment ERBAE - - (22) - 22)
At 31 December 2024 RZB_ME+-A=+-H 316 290 2,111 - 2,717
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ~ BiHTERH{E
At 1 January 2023 RZE_=&—F—H 316 282 1,504 - 2,102
Charge for the year rEETH - - 69 - 69
Impairment losses AESHE - - 559 - 559
Exchange adjustment ERBEE - 5 (1) = (1)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZEZ=F+"B=1+-H
RZZE-mE-A—H 316 282 2,131 - 2,729
Charge for the Year FEETH - 3 2 - 5
Exchange adjustment ERHE - - (22) - 22)
At 31 December 2024 RZE_m&E+-A=+-A 316 285 2,111 - 2,712
Carrying amount IREE
At 31 December 2024 RZEB_mE+-A=+-A - 5 - - 5
At 31 December 2023 RIBZ=F+ZA=1+—H - 8 2 - 10

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the management assessed
the recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment of the
Group and recognised impairment loss of approximately HK$559,000
in respect of computer system of B2C Online Sales Platform and B2B
Product Trading Business.

HHERZERBERAT 202458
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SREMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE_ZNFE+"/A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
21. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 21. FRAEEE
Office Office
equipment premises Total
WMAERE i YNELY/ES Hast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FATT FAT FATT
At 1 January 2023 R_E-=F—HF—H 17 330 347
Addition RE - 1,169 1,169
Depreciation e (14) (645) (659)
At 31 December 2023 and W_E_=%#+"B=+—H
1 January 2024 kR_E-_mE—-HF—H 3 854 857
Addition RE 48 - 48
Depreciation e (11) (583) (594)
At 31 December 2024 RIZ_mE+"ZA=+—H 40 27 311

Lease liabilities of approximately HK$328,000 (2023: HK$879,000)
are recognised with related right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$311,000 (2023: HK$857,000) as at 31 December 2024. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants and leased assets are not
used as security for borrowing purposes.

RIEZNFE+ZHB=+—H > BXEEEEHN
328,000/ 70 (ZZ Z =4 : 879,000 t) * &
Fr49311,00078 7T (ZE =4 : 857,000/ 7T) &
@ﬂﬂ%é}xﬁﬁﬁ AERE I EMNE AR m
EEETBEGBRERBR

2024 2023

—EE =

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Depreciation expenses on right-of-use assets FREESENERS 594 659

Interest expense on lease liabilities (included in B EHE GTARERA)

finance costs) 45 48
Expenses relating to short-term lease (included in f8HATE EABRARISX GTABREEYAIZE

cost of goods sold and administrative expenses) &17E B ) 102 252

Details of total cash outflow for leases is set out in note 39(b).

For both years, the Group leases various office premises and office
equipment for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for
fixed term of one year to five years. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length
of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of
a contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group
assessed the recoverable amount of CGU of all components, no
impairment loss in respect of right-of-use assets was recognised.

EERE MBS IBHIIIFEI9(0)

RmEFE  AEBRBESERAEYERRA
ERBREERR -BEGNENT—EELF
ZEEQHETﬁ°%H ﬂ%#ﬂ)’ﬁ&@%ljﬁb’%iﬁi
& B R E R BR AR B R M o 1O E AR A K 5T
ERAHESENRER  AERERSANTE
FIWEE A RFINITEAIBERR

RBEE_T_NFR_FT_=F+_A=+—
HIEFE AEBEEFEMAAEME D IREEN
EITHRIU 18R - W SR e R B E R E
o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tn e M IS IR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BHEENME+"A=1+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
22, GOODWILL 2. BHE
Corporate
Management
Solutions and
I.T. Contract
Software Business Services Business
(note a) (note b) Total
EEEERAR
HRREMRE
B ES AHRBES
(Msta) (Fit3Eb) s
Boom Max
International Limited
(“Boom Max”)
and its subsidiaries
(collectively
referred to as
“Boom Max Group”) Wafer HK
Boom Max

International Limited
(TBoom Max )

REHRBAR
(478 Boom Max
£M) BEEHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET FET AT
Cost B
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, R E_=F-RB—-H ZB_=&
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 +-B=+—-B - ZE-lmE-A
—BRZENE+ZA=1+—H 757,662 20,913 778,575
Accumulated impairment losses ZitRERR
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=F—HF—H 706,496 11,654 718,050
Impairment loss recognised BEZRESE 18,000 = 18,000
At 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 and ~ RZB-_=#+-RA=+—H"
31 December 2024 “ENE-B-HR-ZZ-ME
+ZA=+—H 724,496 11,554 736,050
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2024 RZE_ME+-A=+—H 33,166 9,359 42,525
At 31 December 2023 RIEZ=&+"A=+—H 33,166 9,359 42,525
Goodwill acquired in business combination is allocated, at acquisition, EREBEHBRENEBENKERSREAEH
to the Group’s CGUs that are expected to benefit from that business TR ERZEBSHNIREERS To
combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

22,

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill

In accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36 Impairment
of Assets, a CGU to which goodwill has been allocated shall be tested
for impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that the
CGU may be impaired, by comparing the carrying amount of the CGU,
including goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the CGU.

In addition to goodwill, property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets that generate cash flows together with the
related goodwill are also included in the respective CGU for the purpose
of impairment assessment.

The recoverable amounts of the CGU are the higher of the VIU and the
FVLCD.

The Group engaged Ascent Partners Valuation Service Limited
(“Ascent Partners”), an independent professional valuer, to determine
the recoverable amount of the CGUs of the Software Business and
Corporate Management Solutions and |.T. Contract Services Business
as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

(a) CGU of Boom Max Group

The Group determined the recoverable amounts of the Boom
Max Group’s CGU on the basis of their VIU (2023: VIU) using
discounted cash flow method. The key assumptions for the
discounted cash flow method are consistent with last year
which are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and
budgeted gross margin and revenue during the year. The Group
estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the CGU. The growth rates are based on long-term
average economic growth rate of the geographical area in which
the businesses of the CGU operate. Budgeted gross margin and
revenue are based on past performance and expectations on
market development.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the Group prepared cash
flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets
approved by the directors for the next five years with the residual
period using the growth rates as stated below. These rates do
not exceed the average long-term growth rates for the relevant
markets.

BE"Z

SREMBHRRME

—ME+—BA=+—HILFE

CLETTAI)

22,

e (8
AEmENREERBETRERS

RIEEBGHEREREERE BEDLZ
ﬁ%éﬁ%ﬁ”@EL TRENR  REETR
FERER  BIBBHILRS
éﬁ%ﬁZ%ﬁﬁ(?ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%éﬁ%ﬁz

FIUR Ol &R

@ﬁ@%~%¥ R EREEEREN
éﬁEGMRéééﬂ@%ﬁ@ﬁﬁkﬁ%ﬁ
A HE T LUETRIERT 4 o

REEHBTNAWLSEREREERATE
BERHEREZRSE

FEMEEBBI R R GEMIATELATR
NE (MF)) BERAEB UK B EEERR
HEREARKRGURBEZNRSEL BTN
TECME+A=+—BARZEB=F+"A8
=+—HHEREEEE

@  Boom MaxZE[EFH 3z EHE T

AEERBRRRERELIZAFHER
(Z2Z=%F . £ AEE) #EEBoom Max
SERSEHE TN KNEIESEE AHIRIA
iqu,iE’JEE;z EX E—ﬁffﬁ_iﬁz 7—55135
ARBEIRE R REEMURTBEEFNE R
AF R o A& B R A BRAR AT EL 34 5T A5 IR
oz RAI b ERMIBSEHETMNE
BEREREFERBNRETST G- ERE
ENLRBRESEHBE EBKEMTE
NEATFHCELEREXRGSE - BEEMNZE
RWATERIEERBRDIZEEER
o

RAEARME AEEEROREHE
BT R RAT EI E F LR ST A
78 BLLUR 85 T HA RS 4R A B R o 1 R 3
RS ENRBAEMHTHNTYE
L
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S A

I\ )N

SMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

22. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

@

CGU of Boom Max Group (continued)

Key assumptions used for VIU calculations for CGU of Boom
Max Group are as follows:

HE_S
BTN

22, HE

BEHENREELETRER

@

—ME+"A=+—HIEFE

(&)
uit (:{ﬁﬁ)

Boom Max%= [B 59332 Z 1 #E T (#)

Boom Max(E@EREEHEBTHNFEREE
STEFERANEEEROT

Boom Max Group
Boom Maxt£E

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

—EomE “BCIER

t=A=+—H +=A=+—H~H

Gross margin ESTIES 82.16% 80.52%-80.53%
Terminal growth rate KA RE 1.99% 2.31%
Discount rate (Pre-tax) BRIRE (FRARAT) 16.09% 19.09%
Compound annual growth rate BAEFRER 4.52% 6.76%

As at 31 December 2024, with reference to the assessment by
Ascent Partners, the recoverable amount of the CGU of Boom
Max Group is valued at approximately HK$169,944,000. As the
recoverable amount of the CGU of Boom Max Group exceeded
its carrying value as at 31 December 2024, no impairment was
required for the Year.

With all the other variables held constant, if the gross margin
used in the value-in-use calculation were decreased to 81.18%,
then the management estimates the headroom would drop to
zero as at 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2023, with reference to the assessment by
Ascent Partners, the recoverable amount of the CGU of Boom
Max Group was valued at approximately HK$169,168,000 which
was lower than the carrying amount of this CGU, due to various
factors including the increase in development expenditure, the
volatility of the global economy and the keen market competition
in the I.T. market. The CGU of Boom Max Group had been
reduced to its recoverable amount and the Group recognised an
impairment loss on goodwill of approximately HK$18,000,000
during the year ended 31 December 2023. The impairment loss
was included in other gains and losses.

HHERZERBERAT 202458

AZEWE+ZA=+—H &82EY
FHEERIEHE » Boom MaxtEEIRE E 1
B8 oY R] Uk [B] & RERYfH B4V 45169,944,000
BT o At Boom MaxteEIREEHE TR
TETNE+—A=+—HBWo kO£
BEHEEE WAFEDBEHRE

EFFEEMEBRFTFTENBERLT M
EEREESETERANENTERE
81.18% HIEEE M N 2 _HF+=
A=+—HNBEREES-

AR =F+ZA=+—H &82EY
FHEERIEHE » Boom MaxtEEIRE E 1
BTy A UL Bl & RERYfH 4V #%3169,168,000
B BEREELENREER D
BRESERER (BEREZ HIGM  2IRE
5@5&%}3&%?%%4&%%%%%%@) FrEe e
#HE Z=E+ZA=+—HIEFE>
Boom Max%@fﬁﬁéﬂjﬁﬁmiﬁiﬁw
& EURAEBRIEEREREY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

22. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

®)

CGU of Wafer HK

As at 31 December 2024, the Group determined the recoverable
amount of the CGU of Wafer HK based on VIU (2023: VIU) using
discounted cash flow method. The key assumptions for the
discounted cash flow method are those regarding the discount
rates, growth rates and budgeted gross margin and turnover
during the year. The Group estimates discount rates using pre-
tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the CGU. The growth
rates are based on long-term average economic growth rate
of the geographical area in which the businesses of the CGU
operate. Budgeted gross margin and turnover are based on past
practices and expectations on market development.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group engaged
Ascent Partners in assisting to assess the recoverable amount
of the CGU of Wafer HK. Pursuant to the valuation report from
Ascent Partners, the recoverable amount of Wafer HK as at
31 December 2024 was approximately HK$10,200,000 (2023:
HK$10,100,000) which was higher than its carrying value, no
impairment was required for the year.

Key assumptions used for VIU calculations for CGU of Wafer HK
are as follows:

BE"Z

SREMBHRRME

—ME+—BA=+—HILFE

CLETTAI)

22, HE

(&)

LB ENReERENRENR (@

®)

BB BRI E L ET

RIZE_ME+_B=+—H > &~&EER
BEREE  CEI=F ' £REH KA
MRRERELEEMEETBREELE
TR AW 2E - BIRIR S R B AR R
BRREAFRE BERRAFEMNE UK
FREXBAMH AEREEARRATER
EERIRE ZRMA LR RIS ED
BrmEERERSEREBIRE ST
o BREDNRBIREE LB TEREE
FREtENRATFHEEERIAE A
BENXREXBEDENBERRERTS
LEMAE R

A B CNER_BE_=F+_B=+—
B AEEBZEYAGBIEHRETEN
Iﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬂ&@%’xlﬁoffE%SZ%B@
FERE HEESER _Z_ME+_4
= F EE@TH&@%%E% 910,200,000 75
(Z=B =4 :10,100,00087T) ' B E
ERMRMEE FILAFEBAEHRE

BEERRSEHETNERABESER

ANFERENOT :
Wafer HK
BEER
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
ZETME TETZF
+=-B=+—H +ZB=+—H

Gross margin FEF|=

Terminal growth rate KA R
Discount rate (Pre-tax) BLIR=E (BRARAD)
Compound annual growth rate BEFIEREE

With all other variables held constant, if the gross margin used
in the value-in use calculation were decreased to 18.7% (2023:
26.11%), then the management estimates the headroom would
drop to zero as at 31 December 2024.

17.8%-19.56% 26.4%-27.24%

1.99% 2.31%
16.72% 20.31%
4.98% 6.93%

EFBEEMBERFAENER T HE
FERBEEPERNEFETHREIST%
(2= :26.11%) > MEEE M1
TECNE+-_A=+—HMNBREERE

o

=<
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

23. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

HE S NFE+_A=1+—HILEFE
BTN

23. EREE

Development
costs on
computer and
mobile phone

software
(note (a))
B R RED
B
S Ja#:N
(F¥zE(@))
HK$’'000
FET
Cost 2723
At 1 January 2023 RW_E_=F—H—H 355,108
Additions through internal development EBNEEZARE 43,125
At 31 December 2023 and RIEZ=%+Z"H=+—H
1 January 2024 RZZEZMNFE—F—H 398,233
Additions through internal development ERNEFEERE 41,583
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_mE+=-A=+—H 439,816
Accumulated amortisation and HeHB RO ERE
impairment losses
At 1 January 2023 RE—_=F—HF—H 241,311
Amortisation iy 40,696
Impairment losses BIERE 6,638
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RS- =F+"HA=+—HKk
—ETMFE—A—H 288,645
Amortisation iy 38,309
At 31 December 2024 RZZ_WOE+"B=+—H 326,954
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_mE+—-A=+—H 112,862

At 31 December 2023

HHERZERBERAT 202458
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

23.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

The capitalised development costs for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023 represented the expenditure incurred for developing
computer and mobile phone software.

The average remaining amortisation period of the computer and mobile
phone software is four years (2023: four years).

The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount of its
development costs on computer and mobile phone software as at 31
December 2024 and 2023, having regard to the market conditions
of the Group’s products. These assets were used in the Group’s
Software Business segment. During the year ended 31 December
2028, the management reviewed total cash inflows generated to the
Group from certain products of computer and mobile phone software
and noted limited cash inflow was contributed to the Group by these
products. As these products were no longer expected to generate any
future economic benefits for the Group, the carrying amount of these
intangible assets of approximately HK$6,638,000 was impaired during
the year ended 31 December 2023 and was recognised in other gains
and losses.

As at 31 December 2024, the management is of the view that the
carrying amount of intangible assets could be supported by the future
economic benefits. No impairment loss was provided for the year ended
31 December 2024.

SREMBHRRME

BE_ZNFE+"/A=+—HIFE

BT

23. BEEE (B
BE_ZNFERZZEI=H+"A=+—HIt
FE RERCHEERAIEHEER R RBIER
RHFEENHAZ -
B R B B R ORI ER S AR A U

—EBEZFME) e

RERAEEERNTRE AEER -2
FRIZEZ=F+"“HA=+—HBTESKK
BB R AN N EEE - ZEEE
ARAEENREHEBIB-BE_S_=F
+_BA=+—HLEE - EEBECHBI AR
BEIGETERALEBTRNRERA
MR AR ZEERARERERNRERR
ABR - HARZEERBESTBALRERE KT
AIRFLEN > ALZERFEENRAEY
6,638,000 B THREBEE " E_=F+_/A=+—
B IEFEHIRREN B E e R a8 o

RIZEZMOF+ZRA=+—8 > BEERA =X
RICEMN GO REEFEENRAE -§E_Z
THHE+ A=+ —HLEEELEFIRRESD

B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=
ﬁv\ﬁ'

5 8 R B o

For the year ended 31 December 2024

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

24,

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

BE_ENFE+_A=+—RALFE
BTN

24,

Particulars of the subsidiaries which principally affected the results,
assets or liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2024 are as follows:

RHBABNKRE

RIBE-NF+-A=+—H TEXE4FEH
R BEHEBZWBABMNFBOT

Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued and Percentage of ownership
registration and operation/  fully paid up share interest/voting power/
Name of subsidiary [;rm ﬁgf Ie/gal entity capital/registered capital profit share Principal activities
HRAR L
BRREEME/ BRTRAERE/ FrEgRE/ Rrg/
WEAR A ET BRI A& RS HMERFEALE TEEH
Direct Indirect
B Gl
Lucky Famous Limited British Virgin Islands (‘BVI")/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
(“Lucky Famous”) limited liability company
Lucky Famous Limited RERZHEE IREBERIET REZK
(MLucky Famous ) (EBEREE) /
AREALH
Jade Fore Group Limited BWI/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
limited liability company
Jade Fore Group Limited EBRYHE/ 1REERIET REER
BREFAH
Citi Profit Holdings Limited BW/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
limited liability company
Citi Profit Holdings Limited HERUEHE/ 1REERIET REER
AREALH
Citi Profit Finance Limited Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share of HK$1 = 100%  Inactive
limited liability company
BEMBERAR &8/ BEREMAF REBRIET BEEEX
Perfect Growth Limited Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share of HK$1 = 100%  Securities investment
(“Perfect Growth”) limited liability company
EF5RAE (1£8)) &8/ BEREMAF REBRIET HHRE
Supreme Right Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share of HK$1 = 100%  Provision of management
Development Limited limited liability company service
ERERERAR &8/ BEREMAF REBRIET REBERE
Apperience Corporation Cayman Islands/ 20,666,667 ordinary shares of - 50.5%  Inactive
(“Apperience”) limited liability company US$20,667
Apperience Corporation BERE /EREFAT 20,606,667 A% & 18 %20,667% 7T BREE
(T Apperience 1)
Imidea Limited Hong Kong/ 10 ordinary shares of HK$10 = 65.177%  Development and sales of
limited liability company software and provision of
toolbar advertisement
Imidea Limited &8/ BEREMAT 10 EER10E T BERBEREUR
RETERES
[Obit Limited BW/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 = 65.177%  Inactive
limited liability company
I0bit Limited HBEYEHE/ REERIET LEgg
AREALH
Both Talent International Limited ~ Hong Kong/ 10 ordinary shares of HK$10 = 65.177%  Development and sales of
limited liability company software and provision of
toolbar advertisement
ERBERBRAR 55/ BREFAT 10K EBRI0ET BERHERHT R
RETERES

HHERZERBERAT 202458



For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

24,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR & M ISR

BE_ T UG+ _HA=1+—HLFE
CLETTAI)

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 24. PHBATIRIRE (&)

Particulars of the subsidiaries which principally affected the results, RIZEIWE+Z/B=1+—H FEXEALER

assets or liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2024 are as follows: *XBE BEHAEBEZNBABINGEBEAT : (@
(continued)
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued and Percentage of ownership
registration and operation/  fully paid up share interest/voting power/
Name of subsidiary form of legal entity capital/registered capital profit share Principal activities
AR,
ERASHE BETRERRE/ PRk ®AE
WEARRE EEERTR A& RS HMERFEALE TEEH
Direct Indirect
B Gl
Wafer Systems (Hong Kong) Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary shares of HK$10,000 - 100%  Provision of corporate
Limited limited liability company management solutions and
|.T. contract services
HERR (BR) ARAF 574 10,000 & 10,0007 RECEERRADRR
AREALH BARRANRS
GET Financial Group (International)  BVI/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
Limited limited liability company
BREHEE @R BRAT  RBEUHE/ RERRIZT RERR
BREFAH
Profit Support Limited BWI/ 10,000 ordinary shares of US$10,000 100% - Investment holding
limited liability company
ARBERAT HBEYEHE/ 10,0008 & #&AR10,000% T REER
AREALH
GET Development Limited Hong Kong/ 100 ordinary shares of HK$100 = 100%  B2C Online Sales Platform
limited liability company and B2B Product Trading
Business
BREEERAT &8/ 1008 BB MR100 7T BoCHE LHETFAR
AREALH BBEREBZEH
Zhiyi Trade Development The People’s Republic of Registered capital of US$10,000 = 100%  Provision of management
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd China (‘The PRC")/ (Paid up USSNIl) (note i) service
wholly foreign owned
enterprise )
BRERER (R ARAE  PEARANE (HE)/ FMEXI0000%T RUEERE
(B Z&I) SEEERE [BHZTET) (W)
City Dragon Global Limited BWI/ 10,000 ordinary shares of US$10,000 100% - Investment holding
. limited liability company
AR A RAF HBEYEHE/ 10,0008 & #&AR10,000% T REER
AREALH
City Dragon (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary shares of HK$10,000 - 100%  Inactive
limited liability company
i (&8 BRAF & 10,0008 & ##210,000E 7T i
BREFAH
Sure Team Limited BW/ 10,000 ordinary shares of US$10,000 100% - Investment holding
limited liability company
ERERAT HBEYEHE/ 10,0008 & #&AR10,000% T REER
AREALH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tn e M IS IR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BHEENME+"A=1+—HIFE
BTN

24. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 24. PHBATIRIRE (&)

RIZB-WHF+ZA=+—H T EXEFER
XE BEHEBZWBABMNFBOT @ (8

Particulars of the subsidiaries which principally affected the results,
assets or liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2024 are as follows:

(continued)
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued and Percentage of ownership
registration and operation/  fully paid up share interest/voting power/
Name of subsidiary form of legal entity capital/registered capital profit share Principal activities
il s
ERASHE BETRERRE/ PRk ®AE
WEAR A ET BRI SREREE HMERFBALE TEEH
Direct Indirect
B Gl
Sure Team (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong/ 10,000 ordinary shares of HK$10,000 - 100%  Inactive
limited liability company
TR (BB BRAT & 10,0008 & #10,000E 7T BEEEX
BREFAH
Boom Max International Limited BW/ 100,000 ordinary shares of = 65.177%  Investment holding
limited liability company US$100,000
Boom Max International Limited ~ RBRZEE/ 100,0008% B4 1% 100,000% ¢ RERR
AREALH
Profit Winner International BWI/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
Corporation limited liability company
Profit Winner International RBERELES/ REBRIET REER
Corporation BREAAH
Service Winner Limited Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share of HK$1 - 100%  Inactive
limited liability company
Service Winner Limited 58/ REERIET BEEE
AREALH
Dragon Oriental Investment Limited  BVI/ 100 ordinary shares of US$100 = 100%  Inactive
limited liability company
Dragon Oriental Investment Limited EBRZEE,/ 1008 B BR100% T gRex
BREFAH
Million Worldwide Investment BW/ 100 ordinary shares of US$100 = 100%  Investment holding
Limited limited liability company
Milion Worldwide Investment HBEYEHE/ 1008 BB 100% 7T REER
Limited BEREFAH
Talent Vision Limited Hong Kong/ 1 ordinary share of HK$1 = 100%  Inactive
limited liability company
Talent Vision Limited & REBRIET BEEE
BREFAH
Note (j: B ()
On 19 August 2019, the Group established a wholly owned subsidiary, &8 5 &3, nw= —ﬂfﬁl\ﬂ +hB AEERFEMII-BEE

W‘JE 5 R s E A %A1,000,000E 7T © R 3%
t\\)‘%_-\,_miﬁﬁ-%—tﬂuj’],\%#’*“
,*t \lE’JuiﬂﬁéZ’SEm ,000,000% 7t (B & 7*497,760,0007%

7T) B E10,0003% 7t (10 EF24976,000787T) ©

in the PRC with registered capital of US$1,000,000. Pursuant to a resolution of %3
553l passed on 17 May 2024, the registered capital of %5 5 &3l was reduced
from US$1,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$7,760,000) to US$10,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$76,000).

At 31 December 2024, the Group has not yet injected capital into &5 5 %Il RIZEZWFE+ZA=1+—8 ZxEBUEREE 5 F
(2023: HK$NIl). Pursuant to the revised articles of association of %5 5 #1/ll, the AE (CZI=F T8 - RESSFINZLETA

BERMA - BEARN B2 AFEtA—RAZE (C2
TZF 8RNI BBEH=ZTEN) TAES

e

capital shall be injected to %3 57 %1l before 1 July 2029 (2023: within thirty years
from the date of its establishment).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

24,

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have non-
controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group. The summarised
financial information represents amounts before inter-company

eliminations.

SREMBHRRME

BE_ T UG+ _HA=1+—HLFE
CLETTAI)

24. RIBARNIKRE (&)

TRETHEAHAERMNSBEANIFERED
(TR NINB AR ER - BB RE
SN ESp Rl

Boom Max Group
Boom Max% B

2024 2023
ZEIMNE TET=F
Principal place of business/country of FEE M Hong Kong/ Hong Kong/
incorporation AR IR BVI BVI
&8/ B/
EBELES HEBELEHE
% of ownership interests/voting rights IEER RIS ERE 34.82% 34.82%
held by NCI i,/ RARE DL
Financial information is MEBERHEEWT -
disclosed as follows:
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHET
At 31 December: n+_A=+—Q1:
Non-current assets ERBEE 112,882 109,608
Current assets MENEE 28,496 30,630
Current liabilities mEIAaE (17,178) (15,246)
Non-current liabilities IEREBEE (18,625) (18,085)
Net assets BEFE 105,575 106,907
Accumulated NCI IR R 36,761 37,225
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tn e M IS IR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE_ZE_NFE+_A=1+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
24. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 24, PHBATIRIRE (&)

Boom Max Group
Boom Max£E

2024 2023
ZEIMNE TET=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FAET
Year ended 31 December: HEt+ZB=1+—HILFE":
Revenue A 83,019 81,847
Profit for the year FRiEF] 13,996 5,474
Total comprehensive income 2HEW R AERE 13,996 5,474
Profit allocated to NCI BN FIEEREmRET] 4,873 1,906
Dividends paid to NCI BRI FIEERERNREE (5,328) (5,256)
Net cash generated from operating activities RS EEFTIS IR EIRRE 54,923 70,265
Net cash used in investing activities KRETEFTARESERE (41,540) (43,086)
Net cash used in financing activities MERHFTAIREFE (15,328) (15,256)
Net (decrease)/increase BEMREEEY
in cash and cash equivalents GBI /1858 (1,945) 11,923
25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI 25 FEBHMEEWEUATEBETIRNE
AL E
2024 2023
—E_WE —ET=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
Unlisted investment, at fair value ELHEE  BATFEE 1,067 1,013
Analysed as: PAUTIES
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,067 1,013
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

26.

27.

SREMBHRRME

BE_ T UG+ _HA=1+—HLFE
CLETTAI)

25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI (continued) 25 FERHMEEAREUATFEETIERNE
B E (&)
The fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI was estimated by using RG> ZREMEEREUAFEEYER
index return method by an independent professional valuer at the end of NEeERBEEATEBEH LB UIEEGHEMER
reporting period. Financial assets at FVTOCI are denominated in Hong AR EAEE - BBEMEAWEUATEE
Kong dollars. TR EREEUBTYE.
For the year ended 31 December 2024, fair value gain of approximately BE_ZNF+_A=+—HLFE REM
HK$54,000 (2023: loss of HK$27,000) have been recognised in other 2EWEPHER R FEEWRGRA54,0008 7T (Z
comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment revaluation LT = 1 §54827,00087T) 0 MR E B EREE
reserve (non-recycling). WK (RrTElE) o
INVENTORIES 2. 8
2024 2023
—EI@E —B=H%
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
Finished goods SR 53 13
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 27. BHRHEMEWRIA
2024 2023
—EWE TET=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
Trade receivables B 5 RN 9,446 10,097
Less: loss allowance (note 27(b)) A BEEE (H5E27(0) (42) (114)
9,404 9,983
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FE I e R EMEN RIS
(note 27(d)) (MtzE27(d)) 1,630 1,507
Amounts due from brokers PR AR 42 7R IE 362 166
Amounts due from non-controlling interests of e — R K @ A B FE R AR R am YRR IE
a subsidiary (note 27(e)) (Mt=x27(e)) 88 88
Other loan receivable (note 27(f) HanEgwER (sk27() - =
11,484 11,744
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

uﬂ'\

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(@

(b)

SR RME

HE_S
BTN

Ageing analysis of trade receivables (@
According to the credit rating of different customers and service

providers, the Group allows credit periods ranged from O to 90

days (2023: 0 to 90 days) to its trade customers and service

providers. Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out

in note 6(c).

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the
directors.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of allowance for
impairment loss) based on due date is as follows:

—ME+"A=+—HIEFE

27. BHREMEWRRIE (&)

B 5 BUCRTRBVIRES DA

RIBETEEL RIRFFHERNESTHR
SERATHESRL KRB HEENE
BHNTFOER (ZE =4 :0F90AH) °
BRAEBEERRNE— P BN
£16(c)°

N2 B R A R O FE W AR TR M R AR BR
B EBERNEEREZARERR-

B 5 BURR (ORI E IR H) RIRE
HARPVBREG DATIN T ¢

2024 2023

ZEME ZE=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Not due RAIHA 8,913 9,004

Less than 1 month past due B F1E R 349 255

1 to 3 months past due HHR1E3EH 67 581
More than 3 months but less than 12 months #1#AB@3(E 3 B/ L i 12E 8

past due 60 137

Over 12 months past due BHIBBE12(E AR 15 6

491 979

9,404 9,983

Impairment of trade receivables (b)
Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are recorded
using an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied that
recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the impairment
loss is written off against trade receivables directly (see note 4(u)).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews trade
receivables for evidence of impairment on both individual and
collective basis.

HHERZERBERAT 202458
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(c)

(d)

SREMBHRRME

BE_ T UG+ _HA=1+—HLFE
CLETTAI)

27. BHREMEWRIE (&)

Currency denomination of trade receivables () BEEWIRENEN
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are AEEEZRIGRANREEU TG
denominated in the following currencies: HE :
2024 2023
—EE =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHAT
HKS T 9,081 254
us$ X7 119 9,506
Japanese yen (“‘JPY?) HE (THEL) 204 223
9,404 9,983
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables (d) FEAHIE RS KREMEWRIE
) Other receivables from Mr. Chan Sze Long and Ms. Lim 0  KEEZLERMERLLZBME
Wah Elsa Wl g

References are made to the announcements of the
Company dated 13 June 2016, 23 June 2016 and 1 July
2016 in relation to, among other matters, the acquisition
of 51% equity interest in AP Group Investment Holdings
Limited (“Acquisition”) and the announcements of the
Company dated 12 June 2018, 26 June 2018 and 16 July
2018 in relation to the adjustment to consideration for the
Acquisition.

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement dated
13 June 2016 in relation to the acquisition of AP Group
Investment Holdings Limited (‘AP Group Investment”)
together with its subsidiaries, referred to as the (‘AP
Group”) , in the event that the audited consolidated profit
after tax of AP Group for the period from 1 January 2016
to 31 December 2017 is less than HK$16,000,000, the
vendor shall, and Universe International Holdings Limited
(now known as Universe Entertainment and Culture Group
Company Limited) (“Universe”) (stock code: 1046) shall
procure the vendor to, pay to the Group the adjustment
amount according with the formula set out in the sale
and purchase agreement (“Profit Guarantee”). The vendor
is Fragrant River which is a wholly owned subsidiary of
Universe.

BRMARBIHBRAZZT —REN
B+=H-ZF—REXRAZ+=
BrRZZE—XRELtBE—HBHNQLEL
NEEM EHPaE WEEHER
ZERBERATING1%EE (NKES
H))  UAREREHBEAZZ—N
EXNB+B-ZZE—-NEXA
T+ AREEZZE-NFEtA+H
NAE AREMBRKESEEN
RiEo

REREEEHERERERAR
(TEERER > EREKBA
SR IENERE)) STYHBRAZ
E-NEANBTZBZEEWRZ:
MEHEEE T —XE—HF—H
EBE_F—t+tF+ZHA=+—HIE
PRz REZRRBES RN DR
16,000,000 70> BIE A K2 FEH K
ZERERAR RBEFREE
E@MARAE) (EF BHARE:
1046) FEREE H R B E W ETH
AREEREBMEGRAEREE (HEF
REY)  BHEIABFZE2EM
BAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
oM RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

S A

17 O

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(d)

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
(continued)

)

Other receivables from Mr. Chan Sze Long and Ms. Lim
Wah Elsa (continued)

As of 31 December 2020, included in the Group’s
prepayments, deposits and other receivables was
receivable from Fragrant River of HK$20,400,000 arising
from the Profit Guarantee in relation to the adjustments to
the consideration for the acquisition of AP Group during
the year ended 31 December 2016.

The Group had been taking litigation process against
Fragrant River, Universe and all relevant parties including
but not limited to Mr. Chan Sze Long and Ms. Lim Wah
Elsa, the former directors of AP Group Investment (the “AP
Group Litigation”).

As at 31 December 2020, an accumulated allowance of
approximately HK$17,400,000 was provided for estimated
irrecoverable receivables.

On 1 February 2021, the Group entered into an agreement
of settlement (the “Settlement Agreement”) with all
relevant parties of AP Group Litigation. Pursuant to the
Settlement Agreement, the parties have agreed to repay
HK$6,000,000 in aggregate (the “Settlement Amount”)
by installments in order to settle the AP Group Litigation.
Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 1 February 2021 for details. As at 31 December
2024, the balance of the Settlement Amount due by Mr.
Chan Sze Long was approximately HK$380,000 (2023:
HK$578,000). A reversal of allowance of approximately
HK$198,000 (2023: HK$335,000) was made due to
repayment of amount due by Mr. Chan Sze Long during
the year. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group wrote off other receivables from Ms. Lim Wah Elsa
approximately of HK$1,096,000 since a bankruptcy order
was granted against Ms. Lim Wah Elsa on 19 March 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, an accumulated allowance of
approximately HK$380,000 (2023: HK$1,674,000) was
provided for estimated irrecoverable receivables.

The Group applies general approach to provide for ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9. The calculation of the loss
allowance is set out in note 6(c) to the consolidated
financial statements.

HHERZERBERAT 202458

BHEENME+"A=1+—HIFE
BTN

27. BHREMEWRRIE (&)

(d) FENRE -BRERAMEWRIE (@

) FKEREHEERMELLZAME
AR R ()

BHE_Z-_TF+"HA=+—8">
AEENECRE - BHESREME
WHBEREEEE _S—RE+_
B=+—HILEERAKREEHER
MR EBEEMNENREMESE
B9 ST FE U =X IE20,400,00038 7T ©

ZiKié%l BEHB I - EFRMAEMH
57 (&?%THTBEEAF%,_\EH?EE&M

&ﬁ:’: EHERRENAEES)

AR (TEHHEERR) ©

R_EB-EFE+"H=+—H’5
5T eI WK B FE WG IR B R et 40
17,400,000 7T ©

RZE-_—F"F—H A5EHH
AP A RREE 5T —

: (MM EL) < RIBEAN

DRR 3
BipE TNESERERDSEA
B8 546,000,000 70 (RS
) O UMMBEPEEFR B
E2RARBEESBPAS - —FC
B—HHAGE - R_EBE_WME+_
B=+—H BELEEMHIMN
RS B 4L R 49 /4380,00058 7T (&
=4 : 578,000 7T) c AR ERERA
HERERBEEBERRARIE 3L
B £9198,0008 T (ZE =4 .
335,000/870) cHE_ZS_ME+_
B=+—HILEE  ARMELL
AT _NE=A+NBHESEE
2o WMAEBEMBEERMELZLN
HAhFE IR R IE491,096,00078 7T ©

RZZ-_ME+"B=+—H"'B
?t/TED‘I-Z_TLI&@FELI& IED‘I'?E%D‘"
B #29380,0008 7T (ZE =& :
1,674,000 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(d)

(e)

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
(continued)

(i) Other miscellaneous receivables

As of 31 December 2024, included in the Group’s
prepayments, deposits and other receivables were
miscellaneous receivables of approximately HK$2,393,000
(2023: HK$2,393,000) which have been identified as
having a significantly elevated credit risk and have
been provided for on a specific basis. No provision for
impairment loss was made during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

Amounts due from non-controlling interests of a
subsidiary

The amounts due are unsecured, interest free and with no fixed
repayment terms.

Other loan receivable

The other loan receivable from Jun Yang Energy of approximately
HK$27,230,000 is unsecured, interest free and is repayable
upon demand subject to the consent of all shareholders of Jun
Yang Energy. The shareholding of the Group in Jun Yang Energy
has been diluted from approximately 35% to approximately
1.67% since 6 September 2019. Jun Yang Energy ceased to
be recognised as an associate in the consolidated financial
statements. Since then the Group reclassified the loan receivable
from an associate in respect of the loan due from Jun Yang
Energy to other receivables.

The Group applies general approach to provide for ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9. The calculation of the loss allowance is
set out in note 6(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

BE"Z

SREMBHRRME

—ME+—BA=+—HILFE
CLETTAI)

27. BHREMEWRIE (&)

(d)

(e)

()

FARIR RS R H MR ()

i) BMiEEERSE

ME-S-MEF-A=+—
B A%ENETRE BeR
Lt 1 T 0 45 4 R B R

#92,393,0008 T (ZE - =
23%0%%EHEWﬁ%%E

1%) 0 E@é&zi_g_ﬂi&_ 2=
F+ZRA=+—HBLEETEFY
B RS IR o

e — FEI P /8 A B U FFHE AR M 2 7R

BRARERERZT - REEEETEENHR
MR o

HthFEUWER

FE W E [ BETR£927,230,00078 TR EH Mt &
RAEERP REARRERER FE
EREREEBRBERAERASIEE-BEZ
E—AFHAAHRE ZEERERBER
BB B RAVB5 % B E 491.67% - B AE
BRI RS BRAERAHELT
Bit> AEBTERA ,J?Fﬁh‘*TAE%ﬁ
RN —BEEATNERE L MERR
Ho

FEBMRB—RA A REBYBREE
BB IRE R TAHA(S €
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BT E RN RS BREMEE6()°
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_ENFE+_A=+—RALFE
BTN

28. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

EREmUATEEIIRNEREE

2024 2023
ZTIMNEFE —B=H
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET

Equity securities held for trading, at fair value AT EEFENFIEEBERAEARE
Listed in Hong Kong R&EEL™T 27,448 23,124
Unlisted equity securities JE LT RR A RS 1 1
27,449 23,125

Analysed as: PMABUTIER

Current assets RENEE 27,449 23,125

The carrying amounts of the above financial assets are mandatorily
measured at FVTPL in accordance with HKFRS 9.

The investments represent listed equity securities investments that offer
the Group the opportunity for return through dividend income and fair
value gains. They have no fixed maturity or coupon rate.

The fair values of listed equity securities traded in an active market
are based on market prices at the end of reporting period. The fair
values of listed equity securities which are suspended of trading in an
active market are estimated by using the index return method by an
independent professional valuer.

Financial assets at FVTPL are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

There is no concentration of credit risk in respect of the financial assets

at FVTPL because these financial assets are kept in well-established
securities broker firms in Hong Kong.

HHERZERBERAT 202458

REBEEBYHFREENFON LEMEERN
REEREFEBRTUALATEEFTE-

ZERERBBREVNARAFEBEREZASTE
HERRHLREEN ETRAZSFRE HUEE
TR HRE R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

29.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

BECE
CLETTAI)

SREMBHRRME

—ME+—BA=+—HILFE

29. BIEMRITERURRERIREEFEY

2024 2023

ZTTMNE TEC=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET

Cash and bank balances R& MIRTTAGER 81,708 83,342
Pledged bank deposits BIRPIRITER 641 634
82,349 83,976

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates.

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s pledged bank deposits represented
deposits of approximately HK$641,000 (2023: HK$634,000) which
were pledged to banks to secure banking facilities to the extent of
HK$500,000 (2023: HK$500,000) granted to the Group. The deposits
are denominated in US$. The pledged bank deposits are interest
bearing at fixed rate of 1.05% (2023: 1.05%) per annum.

At 31 December 2024, the Group had available undrawn secured
banking facilities of approximately HK$307,000 (2023: HK$385,000).

FRIBFTHRERBLUIRTEATRA KL ER
B BRI KB AR B o

RIZE-ME+_-_B=+—H > ZEENDIER
IRITEFUE IR T IRITHNERAA641,0008 7T
(CTZT =4 : 634,000 7T) » (EAAREBERE
B=#£500,00078 7t (ZZ Z =4 : 500,000/ 7T) iR
TREER TERUETIE BIRBRITER
HBEEFFZFI10E (CEI=F 1 1.05F) 5t 8¢
AT _NE+ A=+ AEBNTHA
RIEEA KIFIRITHME LN A307,00087T (ZF
— =4 : 385,000/ 7T) ©

The pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents of the AEENBIERRTERUARRERIREEEY
Group are denominated in the following currencies: UG HESIME !

2024 2023
1125 B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
uss$ E7T 57,763 67,387
Renminbi (‘RMB”) AR TAR) 1,945 2,243
HK$ BT 22,510 13,570
Euro Bl 131 776
82,349 83,976

As at 31 December 2024, bank balances and pledged bank deposits
of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$1,752,000 (2023: HK$2,051,000) were kept in banks in the
PRC. Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the
PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

R ZE_ME+ZA=+—H" ZK%@U\}\
REBIIENRTERKERIFRTERGS
1,752,000 70 (Z2 =4 2,051 OOO/%E)E',T
WIS REIBYERTT - B AR B RIAMINE AR EF
BISNEERIROIRASE EER M EEIEREE
17
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

CLETAIm)

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

BE_ENFE+_A=+—RALFE

30. B REMEMNRIA

2024 2023
ZEIME —E=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Trade payables B EMIRR 821 862
Accrued expenses and other payables FESTE A R HEMEIRIE 8,838 6,700
9,659 7,562
(a) Ageing analysis of trade payables (@ EZEMERRIIRED

The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the date of

g5 BARTIRBEWERE & R#% B 8K

receipt of goods/services, is as follows: BRECOMTUNT !
2024 2023
—EIWE B E
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHT FHET
Less than 3 months DRSEA 430 222
More than 3 months but less than 12 months Ba3mEAaELR12EA 391 640
821 862
(b) Currency denomination of trade payables b) EBZEMERRHNEKEN
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are AERESGEMNRRNEmAERUTEE
denominated in the following currencies: HIfE :
2024 2023
—ElE B E
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTHET FHET
Us$ ET 762 769
HK$ BT 59 93
821 862

HHERZERBERAT 202458




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FIN

ANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR & M ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE_ZNFE+"/A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 31. S8R
2024 2023
—E@mE —EBC=HF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FAET
Billings in advance of performance obligation BROEEANR
- |.T. contract services —ERREEORY 620 561
— Sale of goods —tHEEMm 225 225
845 786

Contract liabilities relating to I.T. contract services are balances due
to customers under |.T. contract services. These arise if advance
payment was made by customers before the Company recognises
the I.T. contract services. Contract liabilities relating to contract for
sale of goods are mainly progress payment made by customers under
contracts for B2B Product Trading business.

The increase in contract liabilities as at 31 December 2024 was mainly
due to more advance payment from customers in relation to renewal of

fixed price contracts.

Movements in contract liabilities:

BB S ORFEMN SO ERREBEER
B AaNRGENERNER - HEAREAE
ERENR RS ORBA I FECRE A g
RAdE R - HHEERENBERNENEaEE
ERERREBBERBSEFSNIFLNEE
(R

BNaER 2 __NE+_"_A=+—Qa18m5x
zlftiﬁalmf*‘%mﬁuﬁ IE=9=l: SSEENE- =Yl
FrEte

GHREEE :

2024 2023
T mE —ET=HF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Balance at 1 January ®—RB—B#&E 786 1,784
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of HEANESDREATStASH
recognising revenue during the year was included BRIBA
in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the EPENaEAD
period (432) (1,209)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of biling in  FAE R S AR TR
advance of I.T. contract services BHEHNEEEM 491 211
Balance at 31 December R+ZB=+—H#&& 845 786

The amount of bilings in advance of performance received that is
expected to be recognised as income after more than one year is
approximately HK$27,000 (2023: HK$129,000).

WEIMNBATEN RS GEst N BA—F%R
AN 89727,0008 7T (T = =4 : 129,000
BIT) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tn e M IS IR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE_ZNFE+"A=+—HIEFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
32. LEASE LIABILITIES 32. HEGRA
Present value of minimum
Minimum lease payments lease payments
RIEREMAR RIEAEARORE
2024 2023 2024 2023
—ZomE “B°=F ZEZmE TECZE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET TET FTET TET
Within one year —FR 301 635 296 592
More than one year, but not exceeding two years —E L EBRBBME 1 292 10 287
More than two years, MENLERBBAE
but not exceeding five years 24 - 22 -
336 927 328 879
Less: Future finance charges B RIS ©) (48) - -
Present value of lease obligations HEBBKZRE 328 879 328 879
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 B 12BN EIHBEERE
months (shown under current liabilties) (RREEEE T (296) (592)
Amount due for settlement after 12 BB REERE
12 months 32 287
All lease payables are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. Fre R EREARIBLUB T E
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to lease AEEHNEEEERAMMNETHIEEEHF =X
liabilities of the Group range from 3.64% to 7.80% (2023: from 3.64% N F3.64EE7.80E (T =4 : 3.64EZXE7.80
to 7.80%). E) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
kR & M ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE_E-NME+_BA=1+—HItEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
33. DEFERRED TAX 33. RIEMIA
(@) Deferred tax liabilities (@ EEREEE
The following are the deferred tax liabilities recognised by the UTAAEEBEIRNEEREARE :
Group:
Intangible
assets
BEEE
HK$’000
FHET
At 1 January 2023 A TE T =F—H—H 18,777
Credit to profit or loss (note 14(a)) T AEEm (EE14() (695)
At 31 December 2023 and A B =F+"A=+—8k
1 January 2024 —EMFE—/A—H 18,082
Charge to profit or loss (note 14(a)) #eigsineg (HE14() 540
At 31 December 2024 A—E_WME+_"_BA=+—H 18,622

(b) Deferred tax assets (b) IEERIEZE

At the end of the reporting period the Group has unused RBEREHEFR AEBBEXRTARES
tax losses of approximately HK$339,310,000 (2023: $#849339,310,000B T (ZE - =F
HK$324,218,000) available for offset against future profits. No 324,218,000/ 70) > AJ K88 R A EF] o
deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses carried forward has HRAEEREETBRNREFRIE K
been recognised due to the unpredictability of the future profit I 4 R A 5 A0 TE AT 18 T SR A Al IR FEAR 1B
streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of BE - KEIBRNEEECERINRBELST
approximately RMB773,000 (equivalent to HK$916,000) (2023: ErAFAREHRA AR 773,000t (18
RMB771,000 (equivalent to HK$914,000)) that will expire within E7916,00087m) (ZEZ=F: AR
5 years from the year of originating. Other tax losses may be 771,0007% (F8E#2914,0008 7T)) FUES1E
carried forward indefinitely. HiRIER B ] MR HRAA & -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tn e M IS IR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_RA=+—HILEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BTN
34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. BB#&
Nominal value Number of
per share shares Amount
SKREE RiHrEE =5
HK$ ‘000 HK$'000
BT T FAET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares TR
At 1 January 2023, R_E_=F—HF—H-
31 December 2023, TET=F+_"H
1 January 2024 and =+—B-Z2TmF
31 December 2024 —B—HRZZEZNF
+-B=+—H 0.01 80,000,000 800,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITRER :
Ordinary shares ZiEhe
At 1 January 2023, RZEZ=F—8F—H~
31 December 2023, —E=F+"41
1 January 2024 and =+—B-ZZ2ITmF
31 December 2024 —B—HBRZEZNF
+ZB=+—H 0.01 444,448 4,444

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at
meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard

to the Company’s residual assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

34.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

The Group’s primarily objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that
it can continue to provide returns for the shareholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of risk and by
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between higher shareholder returns that
might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages
and security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes judgement
as to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group and the Company monitor its capital structure on the basis
of a debt-to-equity ratio. For this purpose, adjusted net debts is defined
as total debts (which includes borrowings, trade and other payables
and amount due to a subsidiary, which is applicable). Equity comprises
share capital and reserves.

During 2024, the Group’s strategy was to maintain a debt-to-equity
ratio at not more than 45% (2023: 45%). In order to maintain or adjust
the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise
new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debts.

SREMBHRRME

BE_ T UG+ _HA=1+—HLFE
CLETTAI)

34.

ez (48)

FERBEEEAT RS EMREREBNFERE
fES BB EEARKTHENER KRB EBEU
RAZREEMARISRE MA@ ESRRS
B

REMBR I ER R R EEEBE AR LU
RS AR Rl A5 75 2R B S 1 2 AR BR[O $R F2 Y
BRAE TR IAHRAE @ K RE 2 BT
> WA H IR IR B SR Y B A ZRAR (R L I i o

FEBRFIABDZREEHREEIERAEERRH
BAAEE Bt ERBEHF AR EREHRE
(BB TR~ B 5 oo EL M FE 3 RRIE K FE 15 — R Bt
BRBMIE WMER)) - B EERAE R

RIZNE AERERRNNKRBAEREE
HEREERNBIBIS% (CTZ=ZF 1 45%) 8
KF o BRFRF[EZLE  AEMABEHRK
HRAHRESBE - BITHMRMD AREZES
I EENETREREEEELURE

The Group The Company
mEEH P /NS

2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEINE T -fF 0 ZEIWE T -F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FERT
Debts &% 38,257 35,590 20,076 24,353
Equity HEm 183,098 180,865 72,805 71,021
Debt-to-equity ratio aEHERLEE 21% 20% 28% 34%

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally
imposed capital requirements.

The only externally imposed capital requirement is that for the Group to
maintain its listing on the GEM of the Stock Exchange it has to have a
public float of at least 25% of the shares. The Group receives a report
from the share registrars weekly on substantial share interests showing
the non-public float and it demonstrates continuing compliance with the
25% limit throughout the year. As at 31 December 2024, approximately
25% (2023: 25%) of the shares were in public hands.

KRB REEAWBERRLEZ INTEMBE L
REFRARIR

W BECREALAERBREBBED25%A
BIF R E AR E R B A2 FTGEMAY L (i o 2K
EHSEBERCEBFELERTIERGER
FrEHERIEFARERENRE  RIENFR—
BHETERBWREARE - R_EZNFE+ZA
=+—H 425% (T =4 :25%) RMHHEAA
FATER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A
7 =

R E5 R R Mt

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a)

Statement of financial position of the Company

HE S NFE+_A=1+—HILEFE
BTN

35.

TRBMBIR AR R EHEES

@ HREMHBRRE

2024 2023
—E_NE TET=F
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
[SEE FAET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M BEKREE 5 8
Investments in subsidiaries RHBABNKE 234 234
239 242
Current assets MBEE
Prepayments and deposits BEINEREN S s 396 932
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUS I B A B 7 52,786 52,376
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 39,460 41,824
92,642 95,132
Current liabilities Bt B=RE
Accrued expenses and other payables FE(S & R e
EOrE| 2,315 3,750
Amounts due to subsidiaries B ABRFIE 17,761 20,603
20,076 24,353
Net current assets REBEFE 72,566 70,779
Total assets less current liabilities BEEHERTEBEE 72,805 71,021
NET ASSETS BEZFE 72,805 71,021
Capital and reserves B K HE
Share capital 4 4,444 4,444
Reserves i 35(b) 68,361 66,577
TOTAL EQUITY BN 72,805 71,021

Approved by the Board of Directors on 21 March 2025 and are

signed on its behalf by:

Wong Jing Shong

==y
HIFF
Director

EE
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KEZEGN _E_RE=RB_+—HilbE

WHUTEEAREE

Lau Siu Cheong
EAPIg=
Director
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(continued)

(b)

Reserve movements of the Company

SREMBHRRME

BE_ T UG+ _HA=1+—HLFE
CLETTAI)

35. KARMBRRKKREHEFHEEE (B)

b) FREREEH

36. RESERVES

(@)

(b)

Share Contributed ~ Accumulated
premium surplus losses Total
R 1n i 1E BRREG RitE ‘s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TET TER TET
At 1 January 2023 8 “=f—H—H 517,181 988,713 (1,475,307) 30,587
Profit and total comprehensive income FEERNREERERE
for the year - - 35,990 35,990
At 31 December 2023 and RIEZ=F+ZA=+—
1 January 2024 R=—Z-mE-B—H 517,181 988,713 (1,439,317) 66,577
Cancellation of share premium and HEROEBIEREEHE
transfer to contributed surplus iR (6517,181) 517,181 - -
Profit and total comprehensive income FEERNREERGERE
for the year - - 1,784 1,784
At 31 December 2024 RIEZME+ZA=1+—H - 1,505,894 (1,437,533) 68,361
36. f#fE
Group @@ ZA%H
The amounts of the Group's reserves and movements therein AEMEBRESHSEN GG EERE

are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

Nature and purpose of reserves

)

(@)

Share premium

Pursuant to a special resolution passed on 25 June 2024,
the shareholders resolved to cancel the entire standing to
the credit of the share premium account to HK$Nil with
the credit arising therefrom transferred to the contributed
surplus account.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents (i) the difference
between the nominal value of share capital of the
subsidiaries acquired over the nominal value of the shares
of the Company issued in exchange thereof pursuant to a
reorganisation scheme in 2002; and (i) the credit arising
from capital reorganisations of the Company in previous
years.

MeEERmREGSREEFHRET -

b) RFEOEEREN
0 RmE

RER-ZZNFEAB-+HHE
BHN—ERAIRAZR  REREZE
RO ERERNEZEERSEEIHEE
TR HILES ZERRIEHR &
ANEBRRIR

i) B

ERAEFRIN T FREEM
STRIFTURI B AR R AR A< E E B
RAB R IMEITHRG EE
EH RFABNBEFEELRE
MEEERVERR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S A

I\ )N

SMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

36. RESERVES (continued)

37.

Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(i)

(i)

(i)

Contributed surplus (continued)

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda,
contributed surplus account is available for distribution to
shareholders. However, the Company cannot declare or
pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed
surplus if:

- the Company is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

— the realisable value of the Company’s assets would
thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities
and its issued share capital and share premium
account.

Investment revaluation reserve

The investment revaluation reserve comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of financial assets
at FVTOCI held at the end of the reporting period and is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy in note
4(Kk).

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve of the Group comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note 4(d).

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company adopted a share option scheme (‘2024 Share Option
Scheme”) on 11 July 2024 and on the same date terminated the
share option scheme (2017 Share Option Scheme”) adopted by the
Company on 15 June 2017.

The purpose of the 2017 Share Option Scheme was to enable the
Company to grant options to either directors or employees of the
Group in order to recognise and motivate their contribution, to provide
incentives and to help the Group in retaining its existing employees
and recruiting additional employees by providing them with a direct
economic interest in attaining the long term business objectives of the

HHERZERBERAT 202458
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

37.

38.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

The purpose of the 2024 Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group
to grant options to the eligible participants as incentives and rewards
for their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit
and retain high-calibre personnel and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group and whose contributions are important to the
long-term development and profitability of the Group.

The Company by ordinary resolution in general meeting may at any
time terminate the operation of the 2024 Share Option Scheme and in
such event no further options will be offered but in all other respects the
provisions of the 2024 Share Option Scheme shall remain in force to the
extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options granted
prior to such termination.

No option was granted under any share option scheme up to date of
approval of this report.

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for employees employed
under the jurisdiction of the Employment Ordinance. The MPF
Scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to the
scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the scheme
vest immediately. As at 31 December 2024, there were no forfeited
contributions available to reduce future obligation.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary established in the PRC are
members of a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. This subsidiary is required to contribute certain percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and wages to the central pension
scheme to fund the retirement benefits. The local municipal government
undertakes to assume the retirement benefits obligations of all existing
and future retired employees of this subsidiary. The only obligation of
this subsidiary with respect to the central pension scheme is to meet
the required contributions under the scheme.

BE"Z

SREMBHRRME

—ME+—BA=+—HILFE

CLETTAI)

37.

38.

LR A ERNZ N (B)

“ETMERRESE SEERERTIRAGER
SEERLBRE (FRAREHEEBEIM
BB B R AL R K S EAE BB RIGBES
AT RS NAERABERAESMEAER
REZEREAENERMEZNANER

FRBPIRER I IRRAG LB BREREILEF
TETMEERESE RZBERT BT EE
EHMERE XA EMASE — 2 " F
BREABFREESY EENBRKLLAR
FREABRENITERER AL

BEEARGIHEZ B MERBERESIEY
R RE AR o
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K%ffﬁ#*%imﬁu%ﬁéﬁ% HAESE
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VY ZFEABENRERIBRATE RIERES
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fEo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

(@ Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in

BE_ENFE+_A=+—RALFE
BTN

39. HRAREREBRME

@ MEEBFIEEEEZHER

TRALAEERETHELEBRY

(BEREAIFREEY) -MEZHELE
ZBEARERBENRAREREFN
FERGEREREBR D BEAREZTIHR

the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows BREREZEBE
from financing activities.
1 January Interest 31 December
2024 Addition Termination  Cash flows expenses 2024
ZEImE
ZEIME +ZA
—B—H RE 1 RERE FSRXZ =+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET TERT TET FET FET
Lease liabilties (note 32) HESE ([532) 879 48 - (644) 45 328
879 48 - (644) 45 328
1 January Interest 31 December
2023 Addition  Termination Cash flows expenses 2023
“EC=E
-y - +ZR
—R—H RE &b Rene FEHRY =+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T TER TER TET TET
Borrowings B 600 - - (600) - -
Lease liabilties (note 32) HESME ([3532) 317 1,169 - (655) 48 879
917 1,169 - (1,255) 48 879
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b)

(c)

Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash flow for

SREMBHRRME

BE_ T UG+ _HA=1+—HLFE
CLETTAI)

39. HRAHETRMERMNE (B

b) MHEEZRTMLARER

SAAGRERENEXRAWMEESHEE

leases comprise the following: THIRIE
2024 2023
—E_mE —BT=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHT T
Within operating cash flows REREREN 147 300
Within financing cash flows MERETREN 599 607
Lease rental paid BffE 746 907

Major non-cash transactions

U

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
entered into a lease agreement for the use of office
equipment (2023: office premises) for 5 years (2023: 2
years). On the lease commencement, the Group recognised
approximately HK$48,000 (2023: HK$1,169,000) of right-
of-use assets and approximately HK$48,000 (2023:
HK$1,169,000) of lease liabilities.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
received dividends from listed securities which were settled
by 1,400 ordinary shares of this listed company at market
value of approximately HK$197,000 and was included in
financial assets at FVTPL.

Famous Tech International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tn e M IS IR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

40.

41.

42,

COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

BE_Z ST _RA=1+—HLFE
CLETAIm)

40.

i

RREIRNOBEREENT :

2024 2023
—E-OE TET=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Contracted but not provided for: BRI AEREME
— development costs for intangible assets —EBEREENRERA - 41,583
OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 4. REHETHE
The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office premises. AEBTCHIIIHAEYXLPRE R
As at 31 December 2024, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to “MFE+ZR=+—H iR EAS R 21
the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense Frif B A SR IS E S S Do
disclosed in note 21.
As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding lease commitments RIEZMNFE+_RA=+—H >  BZFEHE
relating to these short-term leases is approximately HK$42,000 (2023: ERRNABITHEERENA42,0008 T (TF
HK$17,000). T = 17,0005 7T) °
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 2. HARa’

Other than the outcome of litigations as disclosed in note 43, as at 31
December 2024, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities (2023: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

43.

LITIGATION
Perfect Growth Litigation

On 3 July 2018, Perfect Growth, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, received an amended writ of summons (‘“Amended Writ”)
with an amended statement of claim (“Amended Statement of Claim”)
issued in the Court of First Instance of the High Court of Hong Kong
by Convoy Global Holdings Limited (“1st Plaintiff’), Convoy Collateral
Limited (“2nd Plaintiff’) and CSL Securities Limited (“3rd Plaintiff”) (1st
Plaintiff, 2nd Plaintiff and 3rd Plaintiff collectively referred to as the
“Plaintiffs”) against, among other defendants, Perfect Growth as the
34th defendant (“Perfect Growth Litigation”). Perfect Growth was joined
as one of the defendants by way of the Amended Writ.

Pursuant to the Amended Statement of Claim attached to the Amended
Writ, Perfect Growth was named as one of the Alleged Independent
Placees (being placees of the placing of shares of the 1st Plaintiff
carried out in around October 2015 (“October 2015 Placing”)) and was
allotted with some shares of the 1st Plaintiff pursuant to the October
2015 Placing.

In the Perfect Growth Litigation, the reliefs claimed by the Plaintiffs
against Perfect Growth are as follows:

(i) the 1st Plaintiff seeks a declaration and an order as against,
among others, Perfect Growth, that the allotment of the 1st
Plaintiff's shares to, among others, Perfect Growth pursuant to
the October 2015 Placing is null and void, or has been rescinded
and be set aside;

(i) the 1st Plaintiff seeks an account of profits and an order for
payment of any sums found to be due, equitable compensation
to be assessed and/or damages to be assessed for dishonest
assistance, unlawful means conspiracy and/or lawful means
conspiracy as against, among others, Perfect Growth, in relation
to, among other matters, the October 2015 Placing and the
allotment of the 1st Plaintiff's shares pursuant to the same; and

(i) the Plaintiffs seek as against, among others, Perfect Growth (a)
general or special damages; (b) interests; (c) costs; (d) further
and/or other reliefs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I\ )N

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

43.

44,

LITIGATION (continued)
Perfect Growth Litigation (continued)

On 22 November 2018, Perfect Growth filed its defence to the
Amended Statement of Claim.

On 3 December 2019, the Plaintiffs filed its reply to Perfect Growth’s
defence. The Plaintiffs have not, however, filed its reply to each of the
other defendants’ defence and as such the pleadings of the Perfect
Growth Litigation have not been closed yet.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying values of the shares of the 1st
Plaintiff held by the Group were approximately HK$1,067,000 (2023:
HK$1,013,000) and HK$790 (2023: HK$750) included in financial
assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at FVTPL respectively.

Pursuant to a consent order dated 6 November 2024, the Plaintiffs’
claims against Perfect Growth in the Perfect Growth Litigation had been
wholly discontinued with no order as to costs of the action between the
Plaintiffs and Perfect Growth.

Details of the Perfect Growth Litigation are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 5 July 2018.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those related party transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the
following transactions with its related parties during the year.

Transactions with key management personnel

All key management personnel are directors of the Company and their
remuneration are disclosed in note 16.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

45.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

Hong Kong employees that have been employed continuously for at
least five years are entitled to long service payments in accordance
with the Employment Ordinance under certain circumstances. These
circumstances include where an employee is dismissed for reasons
other than serious misconduct or redundancy, that employee resigns at
the age of 65 or above, or the employment contract is of fixed term and
expires without renewal. Subject to the provisions of the Employment
Ordinance, the amount of LSP payable is determined with reference
to the employee’s final salary (capped at HK$22,500) and the years of
service, reduced by the amount of any accrued benefits derived from
the Group’s contributions to the MPF scheme with an overall cap of
HK$390,000 per employee. Currently, the Group does not have any
separate funding arrangement in place to meet its LSP obligation.

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the Amendment Ordinance,
which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived from
employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to offset the LSP. The
Abolition will officially take effect on the Transition Date (i.e., 1 May
2025). Separately, the Government of the HKSAR is also expected
to introduce a subsidy scheme to assist employers for a period of 25
years after the Transition Date on the LSP payable by employers up to a
certain amount per employee per year.

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group’s mandatory MPF
contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative returns, after the
Transition Date can continue to be applied to offset the pre-Transition
Date LSP obligation but are not eligible to offset the post-Transition Date
LSP obligation. Furthermore, the LSP obligation before the Transition
Date will be grandfathered and calculated based on the last monthly
wages immediately preceding the Transition Date and the years of
service up to that date.

The Group has determined that the Amendment Ordinance primarily
has no material impacts on the Group’s LSP liability with respect to
Hong Kong employees that participate in the MPF Scheme.
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL INFORMATION
AFEMBEE

The following is a summary of the published results and of the assets and MU TAXEEHE_Z_TF T —F - "T "

—_—

liabilities of the Group for the five years ended 31 December 2020, 2021, HF B =FK T UF+_B=+—HIEREF

2022, 2023 and 2024. ERNCTEEELUEREEREERE
RESULTS E4

Year ended 31 December

HE+-A=+—HLEEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—EmE “ET=F “ECEF & ZE2IZR
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ERT TET TEx FTAET FEx
Revenue WA 104,338 92,360 106,028 114,535 231,404
Profit/(loss) from operations BEER, (518 10,208 (19,996) 2,612 6,517) (28,442)
Finance costs B A (45) (100) (144) (235) (98)
Profit/(loss) before tax BrERAEA (8518) 10,163 (20,096) 2,468 (6,752) (28,540)
Income tax expenses Pt (2,965) (1,239) (3,856) @,177) (3,870)
Profit/(loss) for the year FEEHRF (§518) 7,198 (21,335) (1,388) (10,929) (32,410)
Attributable to MFALRERS
— Owners of the Company S YNCIEZ 7PN 2,151 (23,415) (8,059) (18,197) (39,286)
— Non-controling interests —JEE R s 5,047 2,080 6,671 7,268 6,876
7,198 (21,335) (1,388) (10,029) (32,410)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERGE
As at 31 December
®+ZB=+—H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E_mE iy S BT T “ECTF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TET FET FET FEx
Total assets BEEMEE 278,105 272,946 301,537 309,511 326,665
Total liabilties & EEE (56,879) (53,672) (55,672) (57,033) (57,821)
Non-controlling interests 24 (38,128) (38,409) (41,585) (40,172) (38,257)
Equity attributable to KAREE AR
owners of the Company S 183,098 180,865 204,280 212,306 230,587
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